
CITY OF LAWNDALE
AGENDA OF THE LAWNDALE

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING

Monday, April 21, 2025, 6:30 PM
Council Chambers
14717 Burin Ave
Lawndale, CA 90260

Any person who wishes to address the City Council regarding any item listed on this agenda or any
other matter that is within its subject matter jurisdiction is invited, but not required, to fill out a
Public Meeting Speaker Card and submit it to the City Clerk prior to the oral communications
portion of the meeting. The purpose of the card is to ensure that the speaker’s name is correctly
recorded in the meeting minutes and, where appropriate, to provide contact information for staff
follow-up.

How to observe the Meeting:
To maximize public safety while still maintaining transparency and public access, members of the public can
now observe the meeting in person. Members of the public are still be able to view the meeting on YouTube
“Lawndale CityTV”, the City Website, and Lawndale Community Cable Television on Spectrum and
Frontier Channel 3.

Copies of this Agenda may be obtained prior to the meeting inside the Lawndale City Hall foyer or on the
City Website. Interested parties may contact the City Clerk Department at (310) 973-3213 for clarification
regarding individual agenda items.

 
This Agenda is subject to revision up to 72 hours before the meeting.

A. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL

B. CEREMONIALS (Flag Salute and Inspiration)

C. PUBLIC SAFETY REPORT

1. Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Department Update

D. PRESENTATIONS

2. Presentation by South Bay Cities Council of Governments on Housing Focused Case Management Program and
Los Angeles County Measure A

— Presentation by Ronson Chu, Senior Project Manager, South Bay Cities Council of Governments and Jonathan Said,
Homeless Services Manager, St. Margaret's Center (Catholic Charities).

E. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS - ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA (Public Comments)

F. COMMENTS FROM COUNCIL

G. CONSENT CALENDAR

Items 3 through 7 will be considered and acted upon under one motion unless a City Councilmember removes individual items
for further City Council consideration or explanation.

https://www.lawndalecity.org/UserFiles/Servers/Server_16676053/File/Government/City%20Council/All%20Speaker%20Card%20(Rev.%2002-20).pdf
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCfzabQru02YprD2xs5FC2Ow
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCfzabQru02YprD2xs5FC2Ow
http://192.168.10.14/CablecastPublicSite/watch/1?channel=3
https://www.lawndalecity.org/cms/one.aspx?pageId=17106541


3. Motion to read by title only and waive further reading of all ordinances listed on the Agenda
— Recommendation: that the City Council read by title only and waive further reading of all ordinances listed on the
agenda.

4. Accounts Payable Register
— Recommendation: that City Council adopts Resolution No. CC-2504-019 authorizing the payment of certain claims
and demands in the amount of $282,734.95.

5. Minutes of the Lawndale City Council Regular Meeting - April 7, 2025
— Recommendation: that the City Council approve the minutes.

6. Consideration of Claim for Damage
— Recommendation: that City Council reject the claim filed by Law Offices of McCune & Harber, LLP, on behalf of
the City of Redondo Beach and instruct staff to process the appropriate correspondence to the claimant.

7. Adopt Resolution to Approve Fiscal Year 2024-25 Annual Review and Records Retention Schedule Update to City
Council Policy No. 77-04 Records and Information Management

— Recommendation: that the City Council adopt Resolution No. CC-2505-023 updating City Council Policy No. 77-04
with Exhibit A Records Retention Schedule for Fiscal Year 2024-25.

H. ADMINISTRATION

8. Consider Cancelation of July 7, 2025, City Council Meeting
— Recommendation: that the City Council 1.) Cancel the scheduled City Council meeting on July 7, 2025, due to the
Fourth of July Holiday; or 2.) Make no changes to the City Council meeting scheduled for July 7, 2025; or 3.) Provide
the City Manager and staff with alternative direction.

9. Presentation by Andrew Njumba, Assistant Deputy Director, Sewer Maintenance Division, Los Angeles County
Public Works; Regarding Notification of Proposed Rate Increase - Consolidated Sewer Maintenance District

— Recommendation: that the City Council acknowledge the notification received from the Los Angeles County Public
Works Department regarding the proposed rate increase for the Consolidated Sewer Maintenance District. This is only
an informational report about the LA County’s Consolidated Sewer Maintenance District Proposed Rate Increase.  No
City Council action is required.

10. Traffic Calming Efforts for 147th Street
— Recommendation: that City Council 1.) Direct staff on the installation of temporary lighted traffic barrels at all street
intersections on 147th Street; or 2.) Direct staff to continue gathering proposals from traffic engineering firms for the
Traffic Calming Devices policy and Traffic Calming efforts on 147th Street, and present them to City Council for
approval and funding.

11. Consideration to Terminate Metro Right-of-Way Maintenance License
— Recommendation: that City Council to discuss the possible termination of the License agreement and provide
direction to staff for next steps.

12. Quarterly Investment Report for the Quarter Ended March 31, 2025
— Recommendation: that the City Council receive and file the Quarterly Investment Report for the quarter ended
March 31, 2025.

13. Approve an Agreement for the Purchase and Installation of Shade Covers at Charles B. Hopper Park
— Recommendation: that the City Council approve an agreement with USA Shade for an amount not-to-exceed
$24,985.13 for the purchase and installation of three (3) shade covers at Charles B. Hopper Park.



I. CITY MANAGER REPORT

J. ITEMS FROM CITY COUNCILMEMBERS

14. Reduction in Site Plan Review Deposits
Requested by Mayor Pullen-Miles.

— Recommendation: that the City Council 1.) Direct staff to lower the Site Plan Review fee/deposit to $1,600; or 2.)
Provide further direction to staff.

15. Report of Attendance at Meetings

K. CLOSED SESSION

16. Conference with Labor Negotiator
— The City Council will conduct a closed session, pursuant to Government Code section 54957.6, with the City
Manager, the City Attorney, and the City's negotiators, regarding labor negotiations with Local 1895, Council 36,
American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO, representing the City's mid-management
and classified employees.

17. Conference with Legal Counsel – Existing Litigation
— The City Council will conduct a closed session, pursuant to Government Code section 54956.9(d)(1), to discuss
existing litigation: Name of Case: City of Lawndale v. LA Investment, LLC (LA Superior Court Case No.
20TRCV00065).

L. ADJOURNMENT

The next regularly scheduled meeting of the City Council will be held at 6:30 p.m. on Monday, May 5, 2025,
in the Lawndale City Hall Council Chamber, 14717 Burin Avenue, Lawndale, California.
It is the intention of the City of Lawndale to comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) in all
respects. If, as an attendee or a participant at this meeting, you need special assistance beyond what is
normally provided, we will attempt to accommodate you in every reasonable manner. Please contact the City
Clerk Department (310) 973-3213 prior to the meeting to inform us of your particular needs and to determine
if accommodation is feasible. Please advise us at that time if you will need accommodation to attend or
participate in meetings on a regular basis.
I hereby certify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the agenda for the
regular meeting of the City Council to be held on April 21, 2025, was posted not less than 72 hours prior to
the meeting.

           /s/ Yvette Palomo                 

Yvette Palomo, Assistant City Clerk

Date Posted: April 17, 2025



CITY OF LAWNDALE
14717 BURIN AVENUE, LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA 90260

PHONE (310) 973-3200 ♦ www.lawndalecity.org

 

DATE:    April 21, 2025

TO:   Honorable Mayor and City Council

FROM: Dr. Sean M. Moore, City Manager

PREPARED BY: Yvette Palomo, Assistant City Clerk

SUBJECT: Presentation by South Bay Cities Council of Governments on Housing Focused
Case Management Program and Los Angeles County Measure A

 

This is a presentation by Ronson Chu, Senior Project Manager, South Bay Cities Council of Governments,
and Jonathan Said, Homeless Services Manager, St. Margaret's Center (Catholic Charities) on their Housing
Focused Case Management Program and Los Angeles County Measure A. The attachments include
information on the Housing Focused Case Management Program.  

 

 

 

Attachments

Attachment A Housing Focused Case Management Resource Guide
Attachment B Housing Focused Case Management Slides

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67d9f3a5f5b121006b12d561%2FSBCCOG%20Housing%20Focused%20Case%20Management.pdf?alt=media&token=f399402f-d547-4e45-9ef6-606aaca96c77
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67d9f3a5f5b121006b12d561%2FSBCCOG%20Housing%20Focused%20Case%20Management.pdf?alt=media&token=f399402f-d547-4e45-9ef6-606aaca96c77
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67d9f3a5f5b121006b12d561%2FSBCCOG%20Housing%20Focused%20Case%20Management.pdf?alt=media&token=f399402f-d547-4e45-9ef6-606aaca96c77
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67d9f3a5f5b121006b12d561%2FSlides%20Housing%20Focused%20Case%20Management.pdf?alt=media&token=2ab6089e-bdd1-4e04-8d53-b8f427af9f75
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67d9f3a5f5b121006b12d561%2FSlides%20Housing%20Focused%20Case%20Management.pdf?alt=media&token=2ab6089e-bdd1-4e04-8d53-b8f427af9f75
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67d9f3a5f5b121006b12d561%2FSlides%20Housing%20Focused%20Case%20Management.pdf?alt=media&token=2ab6089e-bdd1-4e04-8d53-b8f427af9f75


 

 

 

ATTACHMENT A 



Call St. Margaret’s Center at       310-672-2208 and ask for the Housing Focused Case
Management/Outreach Team. Note: Dedicated program line coming soon.

Email Madeline deVillers at        mdevillers@ccharities.org

COMMUNITY RESOURCE:

WHAT IS HOUSING FOCUSED
CASE MANAGEMENT?

HOW CAN YOU USE THIS
RESOURCE?

Our HFCM teams are out engaging
individuals in the community from Monday
to Friday. If you observe someone
experiencing street homelessness,
contact our HFCM teams and provide as
much information as possible (e.g.,
individual’s location, physical appearance,
attire, name or contact). 

WHO CAN YOU CONTACT?

Housing Focused Case Management

Housing Focused Cased Management
(HFCM) is a new program and resource
seeking to increase outreach-focused case
management services in our communities.

Compared to traditional outreach services,
which only link individuals to temporary
shelters, our HFCM resource is a specialized
service designed to assist street-based
individuals and families in securing and
maintaining stable, permanent housing
through care coordination and resource
connection, such as document services, job
applications, and housing navigation. 

At its core, this approach revolves around
providing compassionate, personalized
guidance and resources to support street-
based community members in overcoming
homelessness and/or housing instability.

The South Bay Cities Council of Governments (SBCCOG) Housing Focused Case Management is funded
through support from Supervisor Holly J. Mitchell and Supervisor Janice Hahn. The SBCCOG also
utilizes its funding from the L.A. County Measure H Local Solutions Fund to support this program.

Updated: April 14, 2025



Cities/Unincorporated Areas 2022 Count

Unincorporated West Carson - SD2 150

Unincorporated Lennox - SD2 46

Unincorporated West Athens - SD2 369

Unincorporated Del Aire - SD2 N/A

Wilmington - SD4 810

Harbor City - SD4 196

Harbor Gateway - SD2 226

Lomita - SD4 20

Carson - SD2 133

Gardena - SD2 122

Unincorporated East Gardena N/A

Inglewood - SD2 751
Lawndale - SD2 31

Cities/Unincorporated Areas Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday
Inglewood SMC Paperwork/Follow up

Lennox/Del Aire SMC
Westmont/West Athens SMC
Lawndale/Alondra Park SMC

Carson/West Carson WLCAC 1 WLCAC 1
Wilmington WLCAC 2 WLCAC 2

Harbor/Lomita WLCAC 1 WLCAC 1
Gardena WLCAC 2 WLCAC 2

HOUSING FOCUSED CASE MANAGEMENT: PROGRAM AND IMPACT

HFCM seeks to cover the gap in services in the South Bay areas of Supervisorial District 2 and District 4. The Orange
highlighted map areas (below) previously lacked street-to-housing case management, and according to the annual

The SBCCOG utilizes the Housing Focused Case
Management Program (HFCM) to assist the unhoused
population in these areas and reduce the number of
people experiencing homelessness by connecting
them to supportive services, shelter, and housing.

WHY HOUSING FOCUSED CASE MANAGEMENT (HFCM)?

homelessness point-in-time (PIT) count, there are a
significant number of unhoused residents who could
use housing supports (Table 1).

Table 1. 2022 Point-in-Time (PIT) Homeless Count in SD2
and SD4 Cities and Unincorporated Areas

Above: SD2 and SD4 Cities/Unincorporated Areas Previously Uncovered
by HFCM (highlighted in orange)

OUR HFCM PARTNERS AND SCHEDULE
The SBCCOG partners with St. Margaret’s Center (SMC) and the Watts Labor Community Action Committee (WLCAC) to
provide HFCM to these areas. Table 2 shows their weekly schedule for outreach and case management.

Table 2. Housing Focused Case Management Schedule for SMC and WLCAC (Teams 1 and 2)

Note: Schedule subject to change. Updated: April 14, 2025



Case 1: Our WLCAC Teams have had
tremendous success in Council District 15 of Los
Angeles City. For example, there was a 73-year-
old community member living in an inoperable
RV. Although previously service resistant when
connected with LAHSA Outreach, our WLCAC
teams were able to build report. Now, he is
housed in an apartment through the LAHSA
Time Limited Subsidy program.

Case 2: Our HFCM teams have also
assisted a young woman from
Inglewood using the SBCCOG Client Aid
funds. She was able to find
employment and housing through her
HFCM case work.

Case 3: Our HFCM teams outreached a
couple experiencing physical and mental
health disabilities. They were able to
connect the couple to Mental Health
America and eventually supported them
with their transition to the Wilmington
Pallet Shelter.

HOUSING FOCUSED CASE MANAGEMENT: PROGRAM AND IMPACT

OTHER HFCM CASES

Note: Clients’ faces covered for confidentiality purposes. Updated: April 14, 2025



For Client Aid support:
Cathy Hetzer
       cathy@southbaycities.org 
       909-758-6471

For Housing Location/Navigation:
Miranda Werts
       miranda@southbaycities.org 
       408-465-6313

For Additional Information:
Ronson Chu, Sr. Project Manager
       ronson@southbaycities.org 
       310-770-5351

Client Aid: This program, unique to the SBCCOG, provides direct funding to cities and providers to cover
emergency needs (e.g., motel stays, rental application fees, security deposits) when all other funding
options have been tried. This reduces barriers to immediate housing and shelter opportunities.

Homeless Court: This program, operating in Hermosa Beach and Redondo Beach, provides a roadmap for
non-violent offenders to clear their backgrounds, reducing barriers to housing and job opportunities. 

Shelter Expansion: SBCCOG administers funding for city-funded shelters. The shelters supported by
SBCCOG funds are in Hawthorne (12 units), Redondo Beach (20 units) and Torrance (40 units).

SHARE! Collaborative Housing: The SBCCOG has partnered with the non-profit SHARE! on group homes
available for individuals experiencing homelessness. This housing-to-employment program offers a
pathway to sustainable housing.  

Time Limited Subsidies (TLS): The SBCCOG rolled out a limited pilot TLS program in 2024 to help people
experiencing homelessness to stabilize their income while being housed. The program pays for rents and
holding fees for those who are eligible through reimbursement to South Bay cities and non-profits who
participate in the pilot.

Homeless Case Management: Cities have developed their own internal case management programs, with
financial support from the SBCCOG, in Carson, El Segundo, Gardena, Hawthorne, Hermosa Beach,
Inglewood, Los Angeles City CD15, Manhattan Beach, Redondo Beach, Torrance, and unincorporated areas
of Los Angeles County.

Housing Locator: The SBCCOG funds a housing locator position to assist the region’s case managers in
identifying housing opportunities through landlord engagement, developing an inventory of properties, and
conducting weekly case conferencing sessions with case managers. 

Functional Zero Street Homelessness Program: We want the homelessness experience to be brief and one
time. For cities enrolled in our data-informed program, we have two outcome goals:  (1) The inflow of
people experiencing homelessness is less than the outflow, and (2) the median duration of street
homelessness for the population is less than 90 days, measured for a period of at least 6 months. The
SBCCOG meets with enrolled cities once a month to case conference, create a by-names system, and
determine tactical solutions to decrease unsheltered homelessness. Participating cities include Hermosa
Beach, Manhattan Beach, Redondo Beach, and Torrance.

HOMELESS SERVICES PROGRAMS

The South Bay Cities Council of Governments (SBCCOG) receives roughly $2.4 million annually from Los
Angeles County Measure H funding to support various programs in partnership with cities in the South Bay.  
The observed drop in homelessness in the South Bay can be attributed to program interventions provided
by the cities and counties, and facilitated through the SBCCOG. Below are some of the key programs:

Motel Leasing and Single Room Occupancy (SRO) Housing: The SBCCOG can provide funding for city-funded
SRO beds and motel stays for those experiencing homelessness. This equips cities with additional
immediate interim housing beds for their portfolio of homelessness interventions. 

Updated: April 14, 2025



 

 

 

ATTACHMENT B 



COMMUNITY RESOURCE: 
HOUSING FOCUSED CASE MANAGEMENT

April 21, 2025

South Bay Cities Council of Governments

Ronson Chu
Addy Ajijolaiya



WHAT IS HOUSING FOCUSED CASE
MANAGEMENT?

Housing Focused Cased Management (HFCM) is a new
program and resource seeking to increase outreach-focused
case management services in our communities.
Compared to traditional outreach services, which only link
individuals to temporary shelters, our HFCM resource is a
specialized service designed to assist street-based
individuals and families in securing and maintaining stable,
permanent housing through care coordination and resource
connection, such as document services, job applications, and
housing navigation. 
This approach revolves around providing compassionate,
personalized guidance and resources to support street-
based community members in overcoming homelessness
and/or housing instability.

The South Bay Cities Council of Governments (SBCCOG)
Housing Focused Case Management is funded through support
from Supervisor Holly J. Mitchell  and Supervisor Janice Hahn.
The SBCCOG also utilizes its funding from the L.A. County
Measure H Local Solutions Fund to support this program.

COMMUNITY RESOURCE: HOUSING FOCUSED CASE MANAGEMENT (1)

1



Call St. Margaret’s Center at        
       310-672-2208 for the Housing
Focused Case Management/
Outreach Team. 

Email        mdevillers@ccharities.org

WHO CAN YOU CONTACT?HOW CAN YOU USE THIS RESOURCE?

Our HFCM teams are out engaging individuals in the
community from Monday to Friday. 

COMMUNITY RESOURCE: HOUSING FOCUSED CASE MANAGEMENT (2)

If you observe someone experiencing street
homelessness, contact our HFCM teams and provide as
much information as possible (e.g., individual’s location,
physical appearance, attire, name or contact). 

2



Cities/Unincorporated Areas 2022 Count
Unincorporated West Carson - SD2 150

Unincorporated Lennox - SD2 46
Unincorporated West Athens - SD2 369

Unincorporated Del Aire - SD2 N/A
Wilmington - SD4 810
Harbor City - SD4 196

Harbor Gateway - SD2 226
Lomita - SD4 20
Carson - SD2 133

Gardena - SD2 122
Unincorporated East Gardena N/A

Inglewood - SD2 751
Lawndale - SD2 31

HFCM seeks to cover the gap in
street-to-housing case management
services in the South Bay areas of
Supervisorial District 2 and District 4
(right, highlighted in orange).
According to the annual
homelessness point-in-time (PIT)
count, there are a significant number
of unhoused residents who could use
housing supports (Table 1).

The SBCCOG utilizes the Housing
Focused Case Management Program
(HFCM) to assist the unhoused
population in these areas and reduce
the number of people experiencing
homelessness by connecting them to
supportive services, shelter, and
housing.

Table 1. 2022 Point-in-Time (PIT) Homeless Count in
SD2 and SD4 Cities and Unincorporated Areas

Above: SD2 and SD4 Cities/Unincorporated Areas
Previously Uncovered by HFCM (highlighted in orange)

WHY HOUSING FOCUSED CASE MANAGEMENT?

3



Cities/Unincorporated Areas Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday
Inglewood SMC Paperwork/Follow up

Lennox/Del Aire SMC
Westmont/West Athens SMC
Lawndale/Alondra Park SMC

Carson/West Carson WLCAC 1 WLCAC 1
Wilmington WLCAC 2 WLCAC 2

Harbor/Lomita WLCAC 1 WLCAC 1
Gardena WLCAC 2 WLCAC 2

The SBCCOG partners with St. Margaret’s Center (SMC) and the Watts Labor Community Action Committee (WLCAC) to
provide HFCM to these areas. Table 2 shows their weekly schedule for outreach and case management.

Table 2. Housing Focused Case Management Schedule for SMC and WLCAC (Teams 1 and 2)

Note: Schedule subject to change. 

OUR HFCM PARTNERS AND SCHEDULE

4



Case 1: Our WLCAC Teams have had tremendous
success in Council District 15 of Los Angeles City.
For example, there was a 73-year-old community
member living in an inoperable RV. Although
previously service resistant when connected with
LAHSA Outreach, our WLCAC teams were able to
build report. Now, he is housed in an apartment
through the LAHSA Time Limited Subsidy program.

Case 2: Our HFCM teams have also assisted a young woman from
Inglewood using the SBCCOG Client Aid funds. She was able to
find employment and housing through her HFCM case work.

Case 3: Our HFCM teams outreached a couple experiencing
physical and mental health disabilities. They were able to
connect the couple to Mental Health America and eventually
supported them with their transition to the Wilmington Pallet
Shelter.

OTHER HFCM CASES

Note: Clients’ faces covered for confidentiality purposes.

OUR HFCM PARTNERS IMPACT

5



CITY OF LAWNDALE
14717 BURIN AVENUE, LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA 90260

PHONE (310) 973-3200 ♦ www.lawndalecity.org

 

DATE:    April 21, 2025

TO:   Honorable Mayor and City Council

FROM: Dr. Sean M. Moore, City Manager

PREPARED BY: Vanesa Alvarez, Administrative Assistant

SUBJECT: Motion to read by title only and waive further reading of all ordinances listed on
the Agenda

 

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends that the City Council read by title only and waive further reading of all ordinances listed
on the agenda.

 



CITY OF LAWNDALE
14717 BURIN AVENUE, LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA 90260

PHONE (310) 973-3200 ♦ www.lawndalecity.org

 

DATE:    April 21, 2025

TO:   Honorable Mayor and City Council

FROM: Dr. Sean M. Moore, City Manager

PREPARED BY: Hrant Manuelian, Finance Director/City Treasurer

SUBJECT: Accounts Payable Register
 

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends that City Council adopts Resolution No. CC-2504-019 authorizing the payment of certain
claims and demands in the amount of $282,734.95.

 

Attachments

A. CC-2504-019 - AP Resolution - April 21, 2025.pdf

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67d83b2ff5b121006b0f94a7%2FA.%20CC-2504-019%20-%20AP%20Resolution%20-%20April%2021%2C%202025.pdf?alt=media&token=8a31de63-1ddf-4209-b15a-3180d0fb6515
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67d83b2ff5b121006b0f94a7%2FA.%20CC-2504-019%20-%20AP%20Resolution%20-%20April%2021%2C%202025.pdf?alt=media&token=8a31de63-1ddf-4209-b15a-3180d0fb6515
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67d83b2ff5b121006b0f94a7%2FA.%20CC-2504-019%20-%20AP%20Resolution%20-%20April%2021%2C%202025.pdf?alt=media&token=8a31de63-1ddf-4209-b15a-3180d0fb6515


















CITY OF LAWNDALE
14717 BURIN AVENUE, LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA 90260

PHONE (310) 973-3200 ♦ www.lawndalecity.org

 

DATE:    April 21, 2025

TO:   Honorable Mayor and City Council

FROM: Dr. Sean M. Moore, City Manager

PREPARED BY: Vanesa Alvarez, Administrative Assistant
Yvette Palomo, Assistant City Clerk

SUBJECT: Minutes of the Lawndale City Council Regular Meeting - April 7, 2025
 

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends that the City Council approve the minutes.

 

Attachments

04-07-25 Minutes Draft

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67d83b20f5b121006b0f9460%2F04-07-25%20Regular%20Meeting%20Minutes.pdf?alt=media&token=e21a2f84-e0b6-47e4-8c9f-fc3081aaedb6
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67d83b20f5b121006b0f9460%2F04-07-25%20Regular%20Meeting%20Minutes.pdf?alt=media&token=e21a2f84-e0b6-47e4-8c9f-fc3081aaedb6
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67d83b20f5b121006b0f9460%2F04-07-25%20Regular%20Meeting%20Minutes.pdf?alt=media&token=e21a2f84-e0b6-47e4-8c9f-fc3081aaedb6


 

 

 

ATTACHMENT A 



 

DRAFT MINUTES 
LAWNDALE CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 

April 7, 2025 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 

Mayor Pullen-Miles called the meeting to order at 6:31 p.m. in the City Hall Council 
Chamber, 14717 Burin Avenue, Lawndale, California. 

 
Councilmembers Present:  Mayor Robert Pullen-Miles, Mayor Pro Tem Kearney, 

Councilmember Bernadette Suarez, Councilmember 
Francisco M. Talavera, Councilmember Sirley Cuevas 

 
Other Participants:  City Manager Dr. Sean M. Moore, City Attorney Gregory 

M. Murphy, City Clerk Erica Harbison, Assistant City Clerk 
Yvette Palomo, Deputy City Manager/Director of Human 
Resources Raylette Felton, Los Angeles County Sheriff's 
Department Captain Nicole Palomino, Los Angeles County 
Fire Department Assistant Fire Chief Brian Kane, Municipal 
Services Director Michael Reyes, Finance Director Hrant 
Manuelian, Public Works Director Luis (Lucho) Rodriguez, 
Community Development Director Peter Kann, Community 
Services Director Jason Minter 

 
B. CEREMONIALS 

 
Councilmember Cuevas led the flag salute. Pastor Mathew Harbison of Lawndale Wesleyan 
Church provided the inspiration. 

 
C. PUBLIC SAFETY REPORT 

 
1. Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Department Update 

 
Captain Palomino summarized the recent law enforcement activities. 
 
2. Los Angeles County Fire Department Update 

 
Assistant Fire Chief Kane summarized the fire report. 
 

D. PRESENTATIONS 
 

3. Recognition of Outgoing Senior Citizen Advisory Committee Members 
Recognizing outgoing Senior Citizen Advisory Committee members. 

 
The City Council recognized outgoing Senior Citizen Advisory Committee Members Louise 
Karen Gomes and Maria Pech. 

 
4. AT&T Update on Public Participation Hearings Dates with the California Public 

Utilities Commission and AT&T Sponsored Bill AB 470 (McKinnor): The Connected 
California Act 
Presentation by McKenzie Neely-Wright, Area Manager, External Affairs, AT&T. 

 



DRAFT Minutes - City Council   
April 7, 2025 
Page 2 
 

McKenzie Neely-Wright, Area Manager of External Affairs at AT&T presented an update on 
Public Participation Hearings Dates with the California Public Utilities Commission and 
AT&T Sponsored Bill AB 470 (McKinnor): The Connected California Act. 
 
In response to Councilmember Suarez’s and Mayor Pullen-Miles’s questions, AT&T Area 
Manager Neeley-Wright responded that there is no specific timeframe for the transition to be 
finalized and the goal of the public hearings is to receive public input. 
 

E. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS - ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA (Public Comments) 
 

Robert Lang, Resident, commented on speeding vehicles on 147th Street, asked the City to 
install speed cushions, and that he has videos of speeding vehicles. 
 

Matthew Harbison, Pastor of Lawndale Wesleyan Church, thanked the City Council for 
recognizing residents who serve the City and asked if the library representative can have 
additional time to share library updates. 
 

Andrew Blackney, Resident, commented on speeding vehicles on 147th Street and asked the 
City to implement safety measures to improve safety. 
 

Eddie Urrutia, Resident, commented that he asked residents to voice their concerns about 
speeding vehicles on 147th Street and provided a handout with a suggestion on how to improve 
safety. 
 

Mary Linden, Resident, commented on safety concerns on 147th Street and asked what the 
rules are for motorized bicycles. 
 

Jessicalina Blackney, Resident, commented on traffic issues on 147th Street, an incident her 
husband had crossing the street, and asked the City Council to consider implementing safety 
measures. 
 

Susan McDonald, Resident, commented on traffic issues on 147th Street and on the new 
crosswalks. 
 

Rudy Dansel, Resident, commented that he supports the City implementing safety measures 
on 147th Street and described a vehicle accident he had. 
 

Holly Osborne, Redondo Beach Resident, commented on the Metro project in the Right-of-
Way (ROW). 
 

Anonymous, Resident, requested that a representative from BNSF Railway speak to residents 
about the Metro Project on the ROW. 
 

Joshua Gorman, Beautification Committee member, thanked everyone that participated in the 
City’s Clean Up Day event. 
 

Annette Williams, Resident, commented that she was informed by a security guard that the 
ROW is private property and residents are not allowed to access it, asked the City Council for 
clarification on the matter, and passed out handouts. 
 



DRAFT Minutes - City Council   
April 7, 2025 
Page 3 
 

Rhonda Hofmann Gorman, Resident, invited residents to attend Neighborhood Watch 
meetings, complimented the graffiti removal program and staff, and provided the graffiti and 
shopping carts hotline phone number 310-973-3264. 
 

Juan Granados, Resident, commented on safety concerns on 147th Street in English and in 
Spanish. 
 

Chelsea Schreiber, Resident, commented on the Metro ROW, the City maintaining the ROW 
and security guards patrolling the ROW. 
 

Ray Hollar, commented on Metro visiting the ROW, the City maintaining the ROW, Metro’s 
ridership results, and asked for the results of the Metro C Line (Green) Extension Ad Hoc 
Subcommittee discussion about the Metro funding letter. 
 

David Wu, Resident, commented on safety concerns on 147th Street. 
 

Joseph, Resident, commented on safety concerns on 147th Street. 
 

Jose Castellon, Resident, commented on safety concerns on 147th Street, his son’s vehicle was 
hit by another vehicle, accidents caused by speeding vehicles and asked the City Council to 
consider installing speed humps. 
 

Anonymous, commented in support of the City implementing safety measures on 147th Street. 
 

Deena Sopko, Resident, commented on speeding issues on 147th Street, 148th Street and 
Condon Avenue. 
 

Anonymous, Resident, commented on safety concerns on 147th Street, suggested converting 
147th Street into a one-way street, and supports the installation of speed humps. 
 

Anonymous, Resident, commented on vehicles doing donuts on 147 Street. 
 

Gilberto Guizar, Resident, commented that speeding vehicles on 147th Street keep his children 
from playing in his front yard and supports the City implementing safety measures. 
 

Anonymous, commented in support of speed humps being installed on 147th Street. 
 

Udy, Resident, commented on vehicles speeding on 147th Street and traffic accidents caused 
by high speeds. 
 

Richard, Resident, commented in support of the City implementing safety measures on 147th 
Street. 
 

F. COMMENTS FROM COUNCIL 
 

Councilmember Talavera thanked everyone for attending tonight’s meeting and voicing their 
concerns, indicated support of the requests to implement safety measures on 147th Street, 
commented that some suggestions do not deter bad driving, and suggested converting 147th 
Street to a one-way street, or installing a traffic signal. 
 
 



DRAFT Minutes - City Council   
April 7, 2025 
Page 4 
 

Councilmember Suarez thanked everyone that spoke at tonight’s meeting, requested an 
agenda item to determine an immediate temporary solution to address the safety concerns on 
147th Street while a long-term solution is determined, asked if there is a maintenance 
agreement for the ROW with Metro and requested an agenda item to review it. 
 
Councilmember Cuevas thanked everyone for attending tonight’s meeting, indicated that she 
cannot comment on the issues on 147th Street because she resides within the boundaries, and 
asked if BNSF Railway can be invited to present on the Metro ROW at a City Council 
meeting. 
 
City Attorney Murphy announced that Councilmember Cuevas is recused from commenting 
on the issues on 147th Street under the Political Reform Act and Fair Political Practices 
Commission Regulations because her property is within 500 feet of the area at issue; however, 
she can comment as a resident. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Kearney thanked everyone for attending tonight’s meeting, commented that 
he does not support the Metro Project, agrees that 147th Street needs a solution, and suggested 
contacting the school district to partner with them to find a solution. 
 
Mayor Pullen-Miles thanked everyone for attending tonight’s meeting, requested a no turning 
sign on Inglewood Avenue, asked what the E-bikes policy is, commented that he is in favor 
of any traffic calming mechanism that would be effective and safe, supports the City 
contacting BNSF Railway to provide a presentation on the Metro ROW and commented that 
the ROW may not be maintained by Metro as needed if the City stops maintaining it. 
 
In response to City Councilmembers’ questions, City Manager Dr. Moore responded that 
there is an agreement with Metro that addresses the maintenance of the ROW, BNSF will be 
invited to present at a City council meeting, E-bikes are regulated through the State of 
California’s vehicle code, and the City can consider additional regulations consistent with 
state law at an upcoming City Council meeting. 
 

G. CONSENT CALENDAR 
 

5. Motion to read by title only and waive further reading of all ordinances listed on the 
Agenda 
Recommendation: that the City Council read by title only and waive further reading of all 
ordinances listed on the agenda. 

 
6. Accounts Payable Register 

Recommendation: Recommendation: that City Council adopts Resolution No. CC-2504-
017 authorizing the payment of certain claims and demands in the amount of 
$1,108,591.55. 

 
7. Minutes of the Lawndale City Council Regular Meeting - March 17, 2025 

Recommendation: that the City Council approve the minutes. 
 
8. Approval of County of Los Angeles' Department of Public Health Contract 

Recommendation: that the City Council approve the Public Health Services Contract with 
the County of Los Angeles’ Department of Public Health for public health services, 
effective immediately upon execution through June 30, 2029, with automatic five (5) year 
terms thereafter. 



DRAFT Minutes - City Council   
April 7, 2025 
Page 5 
 

 
A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Kearney and seconded by Councilmember 
Cuevas to approve the Consent Calendar. The motion passed by a vote of 5-0. 

 
H. PUBLIC HEARING 

 
9. 2024 Annual Progress Report on the Status of the General Plan and Housing 

Element 
Recommendation: that the City Council review the 2024 draft Annual Report, make any 
desired revisions, direct staff to forward the report to the State Department of Housing 
and Community Development and the Governor’s Office of Planning and Research and 
adopt Resolution CC-2504-018. 

 
Community Development Director Kann presented the staff report. 
 
Mayor Pullen-Miles opened the public hearing at 8:00 p.m. 
 
There was no one from the public wishing to speak. 
 
Mayor Pullen-Miles closed the public hearing at 8:00 p.m. 

 
A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Kearney and seconded by Councilmember 
Cuevas to direct staff to forward the report to the State Department of Housing and 
Community Development and the Governor’s Office of Planning and Research and 
adopt Resolution CC-2504-018. The motion passed by a vote of 5-0. 

 
10. Urgency ordinance for a Zoning Map amendment of properties to establish a 

Housing Opportunity Overlay Zones for various properties within the City and 
Hawthorne Boulevard Specific Plan; and Amendment to Title 17 of the Lawndale 
Municipal Code to Chapter 17.54 Housing Opportunity Overlay Zones 
Recommendation: that the City Council 1.) Conduct a public hearing; 2.) Determine that 
Urgency Ordinance No. 1210-25 is exempt from the California Environmental Quality 
Act ("CEQA") pursuant to Section 15183 of the CEQA Guidelines; and 3. Adopt by four-
fifths (4/5) vote of the City Council Ordinance No. 1210-25. 

 
Community Development Director Kann presented the staff report. 
 
Councilmember Suarez asked what the difference is between an urgency ordinance and a 
regular ordinance in terms of timeframes. 
 
City Attorney Murphy responded that an urgency ordinance goes into effect immediately after 
adoption. He explained that a regular ordinance is brought before the Planning Commission 
as a public hearing and then it is referred to the City Council. City Attorney Murphy stated 
that the next step is for City Council to conduct a public hearing for the first reading and then 
a second reading is held after which the ordinance becomes effective in 30 days. 
 
In response to Councilmember Suarez’s questions, Community Development Director Kann 
responded that if the City does not rezone by California Department of Housing and 
Community Development’s (HCD) deadline HCD would remove the City’s zoning authority.  
               
 



DRAFT Minutes - City Council   
April 7, 2025 
Page 6 
 

Discussion ensued among City Councilmembers about the urgency of this ordinance, the 
effect it can have on the City by not approving it, the letter the City received from HCD, and 
meeting deadlines. 
 
Councilmember Suarez requested a copy of the letter from HCD be provided to the City 
Council. 
 
Mayor Pullen-Miles opened the public hearing at 8:16 p.m. 
 
Randall Abram, Resident, commented in favor of approving the urgency ordinance. 
 
Mayor Pullen-Miles closed the public hearing at 8:17 p.m. 

 
A motion was made by Councilmember Suarez and seconded by Councilmember 
Cuevas determining that Urgency Ordinance No. 1210-25 is exempt from the California 
Environmental Quality Act ("CEQA") pursuant to Section 15183 of the CEQA 
Guidelines; and to adopt by four-fifths (4/5) vote the City Council Ordinance No. 1210-
25. The motion passed by a vote of 5-0. 
 

I. ADMINISTRATION 
 

11. Discussion of SB 79 (Wiener) Transit-Oriented Development Bill 
Recommendation: that the City Council 1.) Discuss the notice of opposition to SB 79; 2.) 
Authorize the Mayor to sign letter and direct the City Manager's Office to send the notice 
of opposition; or 3.) Direct staff to communicate to the League of California Cities that 
the City is not interested in sending the notice of opposition; or 4.) Provide further 
direction to staff. 

 
Community Development Director Kann presented the staff report. 
 
Councilmember Suarez asked for language to be revised, commented that the letter should 
also be sent to the State Representative, and it should indicate the impact to the community in 
Lawndale. 
 
In response to Councilmember Cuevas’s question, Community Development Director Kann 
commented that the matter will be discussed at the state senate level, however, the specific 
date is unknown.  

 
Discussion ensued among City Councilmembers and City Attorney Murphy on revision 
language, who it should be sent to, communicating the impact of housing in Lawndale, 
deadlines to send the letter and staff making changes and reviewing with Mayor Pullen-Miles 
for final approval. 

 
A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Kearney and seconded by Councilmember 
Suarez to direct staff to revise the letter per the City Council’s discussion, authorize the 
Mayor to sign the letter, and direct the City Manager's Office to send the letter of 
opposition. The motion passed by a vote of 5-0. 
 
 
 
 



DRAFT Minutes - City Council   
April 7, 2025 
Page 7 
 

12. Illegal Fireworks Suppression Plan 2025 
Recommendation: that the City Council review the Illegal Fireworks Suppression Plan for 
2025. This suppression plan follows the protocols of the previous four years. 

 
Municipal Services Director Reyes presented the staff report. 
 
Mayor Pullen-Miles opened public comments. 
 
Randall Abram, Resident, commented on fires caused by fireworks, citations for illegal 
fireworks, the City’s efforts to suppress illegal fireworks and provided a written public 
comment on fireworks. 
 
Matthew Harbison, Lawndale Wesleyan Church, commented against illegal fireworks and in 
support of the City’s efforts to suppress illegal fireworks. 
 
Mayor Pullen-Miles closed public comments. 
 
Councilmember Talavera commented on AB1403 which establishes a fund for illegal 
fireworks enforcement and requires a portion of fireworks sales tax revenue to be allocated to 
it, neighboring Cities banning safe and sane fireworks, and is in support of adding a fee to 
safe and sane fireworks vendors to support illegal fireworks suppression. 

 
By consensus, the City Council received and filed the Illegal Fireworks Suppression Plan 
2025. 

 
13. Reject All Bids for Project 602719-24 Various Locations ADA Sidewalks & Access 

Ramps 
Recommendation: that the City Council reject all bids and authorize staff to re-advertise 
the project for bidding. 

 
Public Works Director Rodriguez presented the staff report. 
 
In response to Mayor Pro Tem Kearney and Councilmember Talavera’s questions, City 
Attorney Murphy stated that updates need to be made to the bid documents to better reflect 
the needs of the City, explained that once the bid specifics are issued they cannot be changed 
and that the legal way to proceed is to reject all proposals received. 
 
In response to Mayor Pullen-Miles’s questions, Public Works Director Rodriguez stated that 
everyone will be allowed to submit a bid, including those that have already submitted bids. 
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Cuevas and seconded by Mayor Pro Tem 
Kearney to reject all bids and authorize staff to re-advertise the project for bidding. The 
motion passed by a vote of 5-0. 

 
14. Amendment No. 1 to Cooperative Agreement with LA County- Rosecrans Ave. TSSP 

Recommendation: that the City Council authorize the City Manager to execute 
Amendment No. 1 to Cooperative Agreement (Attachment B) between the City of 
Lawndale and Los Angeles County. 

 
Public Works Director Rodriguez presented the staff report. 
 



DRAFT Minutes - City Council   
April 7, 2025 
Page 8 
 

Discussion ensued among City Councilmembers on which City Jefferson Avenue is in. 
 
A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Kearney and seconded by Councilmember 
Suarez to authorize the City Manager to execute Amendment No. 1 to Cooperative 
Agreement between the City of Lawndale and Los Angeles County. The motion passed 
by a vote of 5-0. 

 
15. Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) for the year ended June 30, 2024 

Recommendation: that the City Council receive and file the Annual Comprehensive 
Financial Report for the year ended June 30, 2024. 

 
Finance Director Manuelian presented the staff report. 
 
By consensus, the City Council received and filed the Annual Comprehensive Financial 
Report for the year ended June 30, 2024. 

 
16. Award of Professional Auditing Services Contract 

Recommendation: that the City Council approve the Contract Services Agreement for 
Professional Auditing Services with Rogers Anderson Malody and Scott, LLP and 
authorize the Mayor to execute the agreement on behalf of the City. 

 
Finance Director Manuelian presented the staff report. 
 
A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Kearney and seconded by Councilmember 
Cuevas to approve the Contract Services Agreement for Professional Auditing Services 
with Rogers Anderson Malody and Scott, LLP and authorize the Mayor to execute the 
agreement on behalf of the City. The motion passed by a vote of 5-0. 

 
17. City Website Agreement 

Recommendation: that City Council approve the 3 year agreement with PowerSchool for 
a total of $16,738.10 

 
Finance Director Manuelian presented the staff report. 
 
Mayor Pullen-Miles requested that the staff’s name on the contract be updated.  
 
Discussion ensued among City Councilmembers and staff about getting quotes from other 
providers, PowerSchool being the only company that can manage the webpage because they 
created it, and seeking new providers after the contract ends. 
 
Councilmember Talavera commented that the City’s website is not visually appealing nor 
user friendly and asked if PowerSchool can improve the website. 
 
City Manager Dr. Moore commented that the City updated the website a few years ago; 
however, staff will contact PowerSchool for assistance in improving the website. 
 
In response to Councilmember Cuevas’s questions, City Manager Dr. Moore stated that the 
website can be integrated when Citizenserve software and other platforms are implemented. 
 



DRAFT Minutes - City Council   
April 7, 2025 
Page 9 
 

A motion was made by Councilmember Cuevas and seconded by Councilmember 
Talavera to approve the 3 year agreement with PowerSchool for a total of $16,738.10 
The motion passed by a vote of 5-0. 
 

J. CITY MANAGER REPORT 
 

City Manager Dr. Moore deferred his time to Community Services Director Minter. 
 
Community Services Director Minter announced the City’s Egg Hunt 2025 event to be held 
on April 12, 2025, from 9:30 a.m. to 12:30 p.m. at William Green Park for ages 7 and under 
and at Jane Addams Park for ages 8-12. 
 
In response to Councilmember Cuevas question, Community Services Director Minter 
announced that room rental opportunities start in May 2025, fees are posted on the website 
and recreational classes will be offered on Saturdays. 
 

K. ITEMS FROM CITY COUNCILMEMBERS 
 

18. Mayor/City Councilmembers Report of Attendance at Meetings and/or Events 
 

Councilmember Talavera attended the Fireworks Ad Hoc Subcommittee meeting, the Los 
Angeles County Economic Development Corporation 88 Cities Summit, City of Carson State 
of the City 2025 event, Lawndale Elementary School Board meeting, South Bay Cities 
Council of Governments (SBCCOG) 25th Annual General Assembly, Senior Easter lunch, 
completed the introduction and informational meetings with City Department supervisors, 
met with the Directors of ESMoA, the library manager, and asked about his proposal of 
establishing a Hispanic Heritage Month celebration during the month of September to 
recognize the City's demographics. 
 
Councilmember Suarez attended SBCCOG 25th Annual General Assembly, Measure A 
Webinar, and announced that she will be unable to attend the Easter Egg Hunt due to work 
obligations. 
 
Councilmember Cuevas attended Virtual Budget & Legislative Town Hall with 
Assemblymember Tina McKinnor, the City's Clean Up Day event, asked if the City can 
encourage businesses to clean in front of their business, announced the City's Egg Hunt 2025 
event, invited everyone to attend the Library Fest on April 12, 2025, from 1:00 p.m. to 4:00 
p.m. at Lawndale Library and asked for the status of the City's investments. 
 
Finance Director Manuelian responded that the Quarterly Investment Report will be 
presented at the next City Council meeting. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Kearney attended the Fireworks Ad Hoc Subcommittee meeting, California 
Contract Cities Board meeting, City of Carson State of the City 2025 event, the City's Clean 
Up Day event, Lucille Smith Elementary School Site Council meeting, Senior Easter lunch, 
and encouraged residents to attend the Library Fest on April 12, 2025, from 1:00 p.m. to 4:00 
p.m. at Lawndale Library. 
 
Mayor Pullen-Miles attended the City of Carson State of the City 2025 event, Seniors St. 
Patrick's Day lunch, commented that the cities of Gardena and Carson recently banned safe 



DRAFT Minutes - City Council   
April 7, 2025 
Page 10 
 

and sane fireworks and asked if staff can provide a report of the outcome of the ban in the 
respective cities. 

 
City Manager Dr. Moore responded that the report will be presented after the Fourth of July 
holiday. 

 
L. CLOSED SESSION 

 
19. Closed Session - Conference with Labor Negotiator 

The City Council will conduct a closed session, pursuant to Government Code section 
54957.6, with the City Manager, the City Attorney, and the City's negotiators, regarding 
labor negotiations with Local 1895, Council 36, American Federation of State, County 
and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO, representing the City's mid-management and 
classified employees. 

 
20. Conference with Legal Counsel - Existing Litigation 

The City Council will conduct a closed session, pursuant to Government Code section 
54956.9(d)(l), to discuss existing litigation: Name of Case: Corprue v. City of Lawndale 
(LA Superior Court Case No. 20STCV14617). 

 
City Attorney Murphy read the aforementioned Closed Session matters by title only. 
 
The City Council convened into closed session at 9:20 p.m. 
 
The City Council reconvened from closed session at 10:09 p.m. 
 
City Attorney Murphy announced that there was no reportable action for Closed Session Item 
No. L.19. Conference with Labor Negotiator and no reportable action for Closed Session Item 
No. L.20. Conference with Legal Counsel - Existing Litigation. 
 

M. ADJOURNMENT 
 

There being no further business to conduct, Mayor Pullen-Miles adjourned the meeting at 
10:11 p.m. 

 
 
 

_________________________________ 
Robert Pullen-Miles, Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
 

 
Erica Harbison, City Clerk 

 
Approved: April 21, 2025 

 



CITY OF LAWNDALE
14717 BURIN AVENUE, LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA 90260

PHONE (310) 973-3200 ♦ www.lawndalecity.org

 

DATE:    April 21, 2025

TO:   Honorable Mayor and City Council

FROM: Dr. Sean M. Moore, City Manager

PREPARED BY: Raylette Felton, Deputy City Manager/Director of Human Resources

SUBJECT: Consideration of Claim for Damage
 

BACKGROUND

The City of Lawndale received a claim for damage on or about April 7, 2025, filed by Dana John McCune,
Esq., Law Offices of McCune & Harber, LLP, representing the City of Redondo Beach (Claimant). The
claim filed alleges that the City of Lawndale is liable for damages and injuries sustained by
Plaintiff/Petitioner, Jennifer Shannon, as detailed in the Summons of Complaint filed by the plaintiff. The
incident involves a traffic collision between the plaintiff and another motorist at the intersection of
Inglewood Avenue and Manhattan Beach Boulevard on or about December 12, 2023. This matter was
referred to the City’s third-party claims administrator (Carl Warren & Company) for review and
investigation.

STAFF REVIEW

The City’s third-party claims administrator, Carl Warren & Company, reviewed the claim as filed and
determined that the liability for the claim could not be assigned to the City and recommends that the City
reject the claim as filed.

LEGAL REVIEW

N/A

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends City Council reject the claim filed by Law Offices of McCune & Harber, LLP, on behalf
of the City of Redondo Beach and instruct staff to process the appropriate correspondence to the claimant.

 

Attachments

Claim for Damage and Rejection Notice - City of Redondo Beach.pdf

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67fe8054f87eb900462b50d6%2FAttachment%20Claim%20for%20Damage%20and%20Rejection%20Notice%20City%20of%20Redondo%20Beach_Redacted.pdf?alt=media&token=c03e8141-91ce-4ae3-a4ba-9e58f144f4f7
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67fe8054f87eb900462b50d6%2FAttachment%20Claim%20for%20Damage%20and%20Rejection%20Notice%20City%20of%20Redondo%20Beach_Redacted.pdf?alt=media&token=c03e8141-91ce-4ae3-a4ba-9e58f144f4f7
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67fe8054f87eb900462b50d6%2FAttachment%20Claim%20for%20Damage%20and%20Rejection%20Notice%20City%20of%20Redondo%20Beach_Redacted.pdf?alt=media&token=c03e8141-91ce-4ae3-a4ba-9e58f144f4f7


ATTACHMENT A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 





































ATTACHMENT B 





CITY OF LAWNDALE
14717 BURIN AVENUE, LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA 90260

PHONE (310) 973-3200 ♦ www.lawndalecity.org

 

DATE:    April 21, 2025

TO:   Honorable Mayor and City Council

FROM: Dr. Sean M. Moore, City Manager

PREPARED BY: Yvette Palomo, Assistant City Clerk

SUBJECT: 
Adopt Resolution to Approve Fiscal Year 2024-25 Annual Review and Records
Retention Schedule Update to City Council Policy No. 77-04 Records and
Information Management

 
 

BACKGROUND

On March 20, 2023, the City Council adopted Resolution No. CC-2303-013, approving updates to the
Citywide Records Retention Schedule for FY 2022-23.  

STAFF REVIEW

The City annually reviews its Records Retention Schedule to ensure the schedule is in compliance with
changes in law and consistent with “best practices.” In an effort to continuously maintain the Citywide
Records Retention Schedule, certain changes to Department's Records Retention Schedules are
recommended to reflect the annual legal review for Fiscal Year 2024-25.

The highlights for this current fiscal year records management and retention schedule are as follows:
 

Administrative Services
          Human Resources

New Item (this is a new law) - AS-027.5 - Workplace Violence - Hazard identification,
evaluation, correction, incident logs, investigations, etc.; Retention: 5 years.

 
Community Development

          CDBG/Housing/Former Redevelopment Projects
New Item - CD-018.5 – Preliminary Application Form (required for a housing development
project that includes residential units; form is provided by California Department of Housing and
Community Development); Retention: 5 years. Comment: Various benchmarks are placed using
the number of residential dwelling units on the project site within the last five years. 

 
The remaining changes to the schedule are pertaining to repeals or additions to legal citations that do not
affect the document retention. All of the updates have been reviewed and approved by the City’s Records
Management Consultant, Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc., who specializes in local government
records. 

LEGAL REVIEW

The City Attorney’s Office has reviewed Resolution No. CC-2505-023 and has approved it to form. 

FISCAL IMPACT



None.

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends that the City Council adopt Resolution No. CC-2505-023 updating City Council Policy
No. 77-04 with Exhibit A Records Retention Schedule for Fiscal Year 2024-25. 

 

Attachments

Resolution No CC-2505-023 with Exhibit A - Records Retention Schedule

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67ff040ef87eb900462d5518%2FResolution%20No%20CC-2505-023%20with%20Exhibit%20A%20-%20Records%20Retention%20Schedule%20yp.pdf?alt=media&token=afca8a67-5a17-4d49-be0b-f068db8aee0c
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67ff040ef87eb900462d5518%2FResolution%20No%20CC-2505-023%20with%20Exhibit%20A%20-%20Records%20Retention%20Schedule%20yp.pdf?alt=media&token=afca8a67-5a17-4d49-be0b-f068db8aee0c
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67ff040ef87eb900462d5518%2FResolution%20No%20CC-2505-023%20with%20Exhibit%20A%20-%20Records%20Retention%20Schedule%20yp.pdf?alt=media&token=afca8a67-5a17-4d49-be0b-f068db8aee0c


 

 

 

ATTACHMENT A 



Resolution No. CC-2505-023                                                                                                                                     Page 1 of 2 
Annual Update to Records Retention Schedule FY 2024-25 
  

RESOLUTION NO. CC-2505-023 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE CITY OF LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA 

ANNUAL REVIEW AND UPDATES TO THE CITYWIDE 
RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE FOR FISCAL YEAR 2024-25 

 
 
 WHEREAS, the maintenance of numerous records is expensive, slows document retrieval, and 
is not necessary after a certain period of time for the effective and efficient operation of the government 
of the City of Lawndale; and 
  

WHEREAS, Section 34090 of the Government Code of the State of California provides a 
procedure whereby any City record which has served its purpose and is no longer required may be 
destroyed; and  

 
WHEREAS, the State of California has adopted guidelines for retention periods for various 

government records; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Lawndale has established a City Council Policy 

Manual to set forth and identify policies of the City Council which may not otherwise be established in 
ordinances of the City, or which are restated to further amplify existing City policy; and  
 

WHEREAS, all policies included in the City Council Policy Manual are adopted by resolution; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Lawndale previously adopted CC-2303-013 adopting 
the Annual Review and Updates to the City-wide Records Retention Schedule as City Council Policy 
No. 77-04; and  

 
 WHEREAS, the City Council now desires to keep aligned with recent changes in state law and 
current “best practices” of other agencies and update Exhibit A, Records Retention Schedule, of City 
Council Policy No. 77-04, for Fiscal Year 2024-25. 
 
 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA, DOES HEREBY 
RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 SECTION 1. The City Council approves the updates to City Council Policy No. 77-04, Exhibit A, 
Records Retention Schedule for Fiscal Year 2024-25, as attached hereto as “Exhibit A”, and incorporated 
herein by this reference, as if fully set forth herein and directs City staff to include said updated Records 
Retention Schedule in the Policy Manual. 
 
 SECTION 2. The term “records” as used herein shall include documents, instructions, books, 
microforms, electronic files, magnetic tape, optical media, or papers; as defined by the California Public 
Records Act.  
 
 SECTION 3. The City Clerk shall certify to the passage and adoption of this resolution and 
enter it into the book of original resolutions. 



Resolution No. CC-2505-023                                                                                                                                     Page 2 of 2  
Annual Update to Records Retention Schedule FY 2024-25 
 

 
 
 SECTION 4. This resolution shall become effective immediately upon its passage and adoption.  
 
  

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 21st day of April, 2025. 
 
 
 
       _______________________________ 
       Robert Pullen-Miles, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
State of California  ) 
County of Los Angeles ) SS 
City of Lawndale  ) 
 
I, Erica Harbison, City Clerk of the City of Lawndale, California, do hereby certify that the City Council of 
the City of Lawndale duly approved and adopted the foregoing Resolution No. CC-2505-023 at a regular 
meeting of said Council held on the 21st day of April, 2025, by the following roll call vote: 
 
 

Name Voting Present, Not Voting Absent 
Aye No Abstain Not Participating 

Robert Pullen-Miles, Mayor      
Pat Kearney, Mayor Pro Tem      
Bernadette Suarez      
Sirley Cuevas      
Francisco M. Talavera      

 
 
 
________________________________ 
Erica Harbison, City Clerk 
 
       APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
       ______________________________ 
       Gregory M. Murphy, City Attorney 
 
 
 
 
 

 



HOW TO USE RETENTION SCHEDULES 
©1995-2025 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. (909) 337-3516 - all rights reserved 

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission 

A legend explaining the information presented in the retention schedule; please read this for an explanation 
of every column. 

The specified retention period applies regardless of the media of the record: If a record is stored on paper 
and electronic format (a computer file on a hard drive), all electronic and paper records should be 
destroyed (or deleted / erased) after the specified period of time has elapsed and authorization to 
destroy has been obtained. 

Copies or duplicates of records should never be retained longer than the prescribed period for the official 
(original) record, and drafts and copies should be destroyed as soon as they are no longer required. 

The term “records” shall include all records as defined by the California Public Records Act. 

STRUCTURE: CITY-WIDE, DEPARTMENTS & DIVISIONS 

The City-wide retention schedule includes those records all departments have in common (e-mails, letters, 
memorandums, purchase orders, etc.). These records are NOT repeated in the Department retention 
schedule, unless that department is the Office of Record. 

Each department has a separate retention schedule that describes the records that are unique to their 
department, or for which they are the Office of Record. The department retention schedules may be 
organized by Division within that Department. If a record is not listed in your department retention schedule, 
refer to the City-wide retention schedule, or look in the index to the schedules (provided after approval.) 

BENEFITS 

This retention schedule has been developed by Diane R. Gladwell, MMC, an expert in Municipal 
Government records, and will provide the City with the following benefits: 

• Reduce administrative expenses, expedite procedures
• Free office space and computer storage space
• Reduce the cost of records storage – paper and electronic
• Eliminate duplication of effort within the City
• Find records faster
• Determine what media should be used to store records

AUTHORIZATION TO DESTROY RECORDS (Paper or Electronic Records): 

Destruction or deletion of an official (original) record that has exceeded its retention period must be 
authorized prior to destruction or deletion. 

• If there is a minimum retention (“Minimum 2 years"), the destruction / deletion must be
authorized before it is destroyed, as it is an official (original) record.

Copies, drafts, notes and non-records do NOT require authorization, and can be destroyed “When No 
Longer Required.”  

• If there is NOT a minimum retention ("When No Longer Required"), it does NOT need to be
authorized prior to destruction, as it is a preliminary draft, copy, or the Content is NOT
Substantive.

On every page of the schedules (near the top, just under the column headings) are important instructions, 
including instructions regarding holds on destroying records. “Litigation, complaints, claims, public 
records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention 

resumes after settlement or resolution).” 

EXHIBIT A



RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE LEGEND 
©1995 – 2025 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. (909) 337-3516 - all rights reserved 

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission 

OFR (Office of Record):  The department that keeps the Official (original or “record copy”) record for its retention period, then authorizes destruction.    
Usually, it is the department that originates the record.  The official (original) record may be the paper / hard copy version of the record; however the electronic 
record may be the official (original) record.  See the “Destroy Paper after Imaged & QC’d” below for the Legal Requirements for the electronic record to be the 
official (original) record. 

Records Description:  The record series (a group of like records). 

Non-Record:  Documents, studies, books and pamphlets produced by outside agencies, preliminary drafts not retained in the ordinary course of business. 

Retention/Disposition:  Active (guideline):  How long the file remains in the immediate office area 
Inactive (guideline):  How long the file is in off-site storage, stored electronically in accordance with law (see below) 
Total Retention:  The total number of years the record is retained 

For file folders containing documents with different retention timeframes, use the document with the longest retention time. 
P = Permanent 
Indefinite = No fixed or specified retention period; used for databases, because the data fields are interrelated. 

Vital?  = Those records that are needed for basic operations in the event of a disaster. 

Media Options (guideline) terms used in State law:  Mag = Electronic Computer Magnetic Media (Hard drives, Networks, USB Drives, Cloud, etc.) 
Mfr = Microforms (aperture cards, microfilm, microfiche, or jackets)  
Ppr = Paper   
OD = Optical Disk or other Unalterable Media which does not allow changes 

Scan / Import (guideline):  “S” indicates the record should be scanned into the document imaging system; 
“I” indicates the record should be electronically imported into the document imaging system; 
“M” indicates the record was microfilmed 

Destroy Paper after Imaged & QC’d (quality checked) / Trustworthy Electronic Record:  “Yes” means the electronic record may serve as the OFFICIAL 
record (and the paper version may be destroyed, or the record may be electronically generated and never exist in paper format) IF (these are the legal 
requirements for the electronic record to serve as the official (original) record) the electronic record is also placed on Unalterable Media, Immutable 
Cloud Media, Optical Disk (OD), DVD-R, CD-R, Blue-ray-R, or WORM, or microfilmed) which is stored in a safe & separate location.  
Employees are required to Quality Check (“QC’d”) both the images and the indexes, and ensure the electronic record contains all significant details from 
the original and be an adequate substitute for the original document for all purposes; other legal mandates may apply. 

Legend for legal citations (§:  Section) B&P:  Business & Professions Code (CA) CBC:  California Building Code 
CC:  Civil Code (CA) CCP:  Code of Civil Procedure (CA)  CCR:  California Code of Regulations (CA)  
CFC:  California Fire Code  CFR:  Code of Federal Regulations (US) EC:  Elections Code (CA)  
EVC:  Evidence Code (CA) FA:  Food & Agriculture Code FC:  Family Code (CA) 
FTB:  Franchise Tax Board (CA) GC:  Government Code (CA) H&S:  Health & Safety Code (CA)  
HUD:  Housing & Urban Develop. (US) LC:  Labor Code (CA)  Ops. Cal. Atty. Gen..:  Attorney General Opinions (CA) 
PC:  Penal Code (CA) PRC Public Resources Code   R&T:  Revenue & Taxation Code (CA) 
UFC:  Uniform Fire Code  USC:  United States Code (US) VC:  Vehicle Code (CA) 
W&I:  Welfare & Institutions Code (CA)



Ver. 8.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE: CITY-WIDE STANDARDS Page CW-1

Office of 

Record (OFR)
Retention No. Records Description

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

Comments / Reference

Retentions apply to the department that is NOT the Office of Record (OFR), or the "Lead Department".  If you are the OFR, refer to your department retention schedule.

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.

HOLDS: Litigation, claims, complaints, audits, public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Lead Dept. CW-001

Affidavits of Publications / Affidavits of Posting 

Notices /  Legal Advertising / Notices / Proofs 

of Publications / Public Hearing Notices

2 years

Mag, 

Mfr, 

OD, Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Brown Act challenges must be filed within 

30 or 90 days of action; Statute of 

Limitations on Municipal Government 

actions is 3 - 6 months; GC §§34090, 

54960.1(c)(1)  

Lead Dept. CW-002

Agreements & Contracts:  ADMINISTRATIVE 

FILES (with Grant Funding)

(Correspondence, Insurance Certificates, 

Project Administration, Project Schedules, 

Certified Payrolls,  Invoices, Logs, etc.)  

Completion + 

10 years or 

After Funding 

Agency Audit, 

if required, 

whichever is 

longer

Yes:  Before 

Completion

Mag, 

Mfr, 

OD, Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD 

Some grant funding agencies require 

audits; Statute of Limitations for Errors & 

Omissions is 10 years; Published Audit 

Standards=4-7 years; Statute of 

Limitations: Contracts & Spec's=4 years, 

Wrongful Death=comp. + 5 years, 

Developers=comp. + 10 years;  CCP §337 

et. seq., 2 CFR 200.334; 24 CFR 

91.105(h), 92.505, & 570.502(b), 29 CFR 

97.42; OMB Circular A-133; GC §34090; 

GC §8546.7 

Lead Dept. CW-003

Agreements & Contracts:  ADMINISTRATIVE 

FILES

(Correspondence, Insurance Certificates, 

Project Administration, Project Schedules, 

Certified Payrolls,  Invoices, Logs, etc.)  

Completion + 

10 years

Yes:  Before 

Completion

Mag, 

Mfr, 

OD, Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD 

City preference; Covers E&O Statute of 

Limitations; Statute of Limitations: 

Contracts & Spec's=4 years, Wrongful 

Death=comp. + 5 years, 

Developers=comp. + 10 years; CCP §337 

et. seq., GC §34090

CW-004

Boards, Commissions, & Committees:  

External Organizations  - Agendas, Minutes, 

Resolutions, or other documents 

(e.g. County Board of Supervisors)

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, 

Mfr, 

OD, Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
Non-records

Staffing Dept. CW-005

Committees: Ad Hoc Committees, Task 

Forces, Employee Staff Meetings / Department 

Staff Meetings

Agendas, Minutes, Staff Reports, etc.

2 years

Mag, 

Mfr, 

OD, Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
GC §34090 et seq.

CITY-WIDE (Used by All Departments)

LAWNDALE, CA   ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 8.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE: CITY-WIDE STANDARDS Page CW-2

Office of 

Record (OFR)
Retention No. Records Description

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

Comments / Reference

Retentions apply to the department that is NOT the Office of Record (OFR), or the "Lead Department".  If you are the OFR, refer to your department retention schedule.

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.

HOLDS: Litigation, claims, complaints, audits, public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

CITY-WIDE (Used by All Departments)

Lead 

(Responding)  

Dept.

CW-006 Complaints / Concerns from Citizens 
Minimum 2 

years

Mag, 

Mfr, 

OD, Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

City preference; Statute of Limitations for 

personal property, fraud, etc. is 3 years; 

Claims must be filed in 6 months; CCP 

§§338 et seq., 340 et seq., 342, GC

§34090

Lead Dept. CW-007 Copies or duplicates of any record

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, 

Mfr, 

OD, Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
GC §34090.7

Dept. that 

Authors  

Document 

or 

Receives the 

City's Original 

Document

CW-008

Correspondence - ROUTINE  

(Content relates in a SUBSTANTIVE way to 

the conduct of the public's business)

(e.g. e-mail, Letters, Memorandums, 

Administrative, Chronological, General Files, 

etc.) 

IF the Content relates in a SUBSTANTIVE way 

to the conduct of the public's business

2 years

Mag, 

Mfr, 

OD, Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Retained 2 years ONLY IF the Content 

relates in a substantive way to the conduct 

of the public's business; City of San Jose 

v. Superior Court (2017) 2 Cal.5th 608; GC

§34090

LAWNDALE, CA   ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 8.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE: CITY-WIDE STANDARDS Page CW-3

Office of 

Record (OFR)
Retention No. Records Description

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

Comments / Reference

Retentions apply to the department that is NOT the Office of Record (OFR), or the "Lead Department".  If you are the OFR, refer to your department retention schedule.

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.

HOLDS: Litigation, claims, complaints, audits, public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

CITY-WIDE (Used by All Departments)

Dept. that 

Authors  

Document 

or 

Receives the 

City's Original 

Document

CW-009

Correspondence - TRANSITORY / 

PRELIMINARY DRAFTS, Interagency and 

Intraagency Memoranda NOT retained in the 

ordinary course of business 

Content NOT Substantive, or NOT made or 

retained for the purpose of preserving the 

informational content for future reference

(e.g. calendars, checklists, e-mail,  social 

media posting, employee directories, flyers, 

invitations, instant messaging, inventories, 

logs, mailing lists, meeting room registrations, 

speaker cards, staff videoconference chats, 

notes and recordings, supply inventories, 

telephone messages, text messages, 

transmittal letters, thank yous, requests from 

other cities, preliminary notices for construction 

projects, undeliverable envelopes / returned 

mail, visitors logs, voice mails, webpages, etc.)

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, 

Ppr

Electronic and paper records are filed and  

retained based upon their CONTENT.  

Records, e-mails, electronic records, or 

social media postings where the Content 

relates in a substantive way to the 

conduct of the public's business, or that 

ARE  made or retained for the purpose 

of preserving the informational content 

for future reference are saved by printing 

them out and placing in a file folder, or 

saving them electronically in a folder 

outside the e-mail system; If not mentioned 

here, consult the City Attorney to 

determine if a record is considered 

transitory / preliminary drafts.  GC §34090, 

GC §§7927.500, 64 Ops. Cal. Atty. Gen.  

317 (1981)); City of San Jose v. Superior 

Court (2017) 2 Cal.5th 608

Lead Dept. CW-010
Drafts & Notes:  Drafts that are revised (retain 

final version)

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, 

Mfr, 

OD, Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

As long as the drafts and notes are not 

retained in the "Regular Course of 

Business".  Consult the City Attorney to 

determine if a record is considered a draft. 

GC §§34090, 7927.500 

LAWNDALE, CA   ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 8.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE: CITY-WIDE STANDARDS Page CW-4

Office of 

Record (OFR)
Retention No. Records Description

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

Comments / Reference

Retentions apply to the department that is NOT the Office of Record (OFR), or the "Lead Department".  If you are the OFR, refer to your department retention schedule.

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.

HOLDS: Litigation, claims, complaints, audits, public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

CITY-WIDE (Used by All Departments)

Lead Dept. CW-011
GIS Database / Data / Layers (both City-wide 

and Specialized)

When No 

Longer 

Required

Yes

Mag, 

Mfr, 

OD, Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

The Lead Department should print out 

historical documents (or save source data) 

prior to replacing the data, if they require 

the data or output for historical purposes; 

Department Preference (Preliminary 

documents);  GC §34090 et seq.

Lead Dept. CW-012

Grants (SUCCESSFUL Reports, other records 

required to pass the funding agency's audit, if 

required)

Applications (successful), grant agreement, 

copies of invoices, program rules, regulations & 

procedures, reports to grant funding agencies, 

correspondence, audit records, completion 

records

After Funding 

Agency Audit, 

if required - 

Minimum 5 

years

Mag, 

Mfr, 

OD, Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Meets auditing standards; Grants covered 

by a Consolidated Action Plan are required 

for 5 years; Uniform Admin. Requirements 

for Grants to Local Governments is 3 years 

from expenditure report or final payment of 

grantee or subgrantee; 2 CFR 200.334; 24 

CFR 91.105(h), 92.505, 570.490, & 

570.502(a&b), 29 CFR 97.42; OMB 

Circular A-110 & A-133; GC §34090; GC 

§8546.7

Lead Dept. CW-013
Grants (UNSUCCESSFUL Applications, 

Correspondence)
2 years

Mag, 

Mfr, 

OD, Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
GC §34090

Lead Dept. CW-014

Material Safety Data Sheet (MSDS) / Safety 

Data Sheet (SDS)  Chemical Use Report Form 

(or records of the chemical / substance / agent, 

where & when it was used)

30 years

Mag, 

Mfr, 

OD, Ppr

S / I

Yes - 

After QC 

& OD

Previous MSDS may be obtained from a 

service; MSDS may be destroyed as long 

as a record of the chemical / substance / 

agent, where & when it was used is 

maintained for 30 years; Applies to 

qualified employers; Claims can be made 

for 30 years for toxic substance exposures; 

8 CCR 3204(d)(1)(B)(2 and 3), 29 CFR 

1910.1020(d)(1)(i), GC §34090

LAWNDALE, CA   ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 8.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE: CITY-WIDE STANDARDS Page CW-5

Office of 

Record (OFR)
Retention No. Records Description

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

Comments / Reference

Retentions apply to the department that is NOT the Office of Record (OFR), or the "Lead Department".  If you are the OFR, refer to your department retention schedule.

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.

HOLDS: Litigation, claims, complaints, audits, public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

CITY-WIDE (Used by All Departments)

Lead Dept. CW-015 Newspaper Clippings

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, 

Mfr, 

OD, Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Non-records - may be obtained from the 

newspaper company; GC §34090

Human 

Resources
CW-016 Personnel Files  (Department-level Files)

Separation + 

3 years

Before 

Separation

Mag, 

Mfr, 

OD, Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Ensure records kept in Department files 

comply with City policy (all originals are 

sent to Human Resources); GC §34090.7

Lead Dept. CW-017 Personnel Files (Supervisor's Notes)

Shred After 

Incorporation 

into 

Performance 

Evaluation or 

Documented 

Discipline

Before 

Annual 

Evaluation

Mag, 

Mfr, 

OD, Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Notes maintained in a separate folder to be 

incorporated into performance evaluation, 

or to document progressive discipline; GC 

§34090 et seq.

Lead Dept. CW-018 Photographs

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, 

Mfr, 

OD, Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Preliminary Drafts; destroy unnecessary 

photographs.  GC §§34090

Lead Dept. CW-019 Public Relations / Press Releases 2 years

Mag, 

Mfr, 

OD, Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
GC §34090

Lead Dept. 

(Who Ordered 

the Appraisal)

CW-020
Real Estate Appraisal Reports:  Property NOT  

purchased, Loans not funded, etc.
2 years

Mag, 

Mfr, 

OD, Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Not accessible to the public; ; GC 

§§34090, 7928.705

Lead Dept. 

(Who Ordered 

the Appraisal)

CW-021
Real Estate Appraisal Reports:  Purchased  

Property, Funded Loans

Minimum 5 

years

Yes:  Before 

Purchase

Mag, 

Mfr, 

OD,  

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC &OD

Not accessible to the public until purchase 

has been completed;  meets municipal 

government auditing standards; GC 

§§34090 7928.705

CW-022

Reference Materials:  Policies, Procedures, 

Brochures, Flyers, Manuals, Newsletters, etc.:  

Produced by OUTSIDE ORGANIZATIONS  

(League of California Cities, Chamber of 

Commerce, etc.)

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, 

Mfr, 

OD, Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
Non-Records

LAWNDALE, CA   ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 8.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE: CITY-WIDE STANDARDS Page CW-6

Office of 

Record (OFR)
Retention No. Records Description

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

Comments / Reference

Retentions apply to the department that is NOT the Office of Record (OFR), or the "Lead Department".  If you are the OFR, refer to your department retention schedule.

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.

HOLDS: Litigation, claims, complaints, audits, public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

CITY-WIDE (Used by All Departments)

Lead Dept. CW-023

Reference Materials: Policies, Procedures, 

Brochures, Flyers, Manuals, Newsletters,  

Administrative Policies,  etc.:  Produced by  

YOUR Department

Minimum 2 

years

Mag, 

Mfr, 

OD, Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
Department preference;  GC §34090

Lead Dept. CW-024

Reference Materials: Policies, Procedures, 

Brochures, Flyers, Manuals, Newsletters,  

Administrative Policies,  etc.:  Produced by 

OTHER Departments

When 

Superseded

Mag, 

Mfr, 

OD, Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
Copies; GC §34090.7

Lead Dept. CW-025
Reports and Studies (Historically significant - 

e.g., Zoning Studies)
P

Mag, 

Mfr, 

OD,  

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD 

Administratively and Historically significant, 

therefore retained permanently; GC §34090

Lead Dept. CW-026
Reports and Studies (other than Historically 

significant reports - e.g. Annual Reports)
10 years

Mag, 

Mfr, 

OD, Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference; Information is 

outdated after 10 years; If historically 

significant, retain permanently; GC §34090

Lead Dept. CW-027 Safety Meetings (all) 5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, 

OD, Ppr

S / I
Yes: After 

QC & OD

OSHA requires 5 years; State law requires 

2 years; 8 CCR §3203(b)(1), OMB 1220-

0029; GC §34090; LC §6429c

Lead Dept. CW-028 Special Projects / Subject Files / Issue Files 
Minimum 2 

years

Mag, 

Mfr, 

OD, Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
Department Preference; GC §34090 et seq.

Lead Dept. CW-029

Surveys / Questionnaires (that the City issues). 

If a summary of the data is compiled, the 

survey forms are considered a draft or 

transitory record, and can be destroyed as 

drafts (When No Longer Required)

2 years

Mag, 

Mfr, 

OD, Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
GC §34090

LAWNDALE, CA   ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 8.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE: CITY-WIDE STANDARDS Page CW-7

Office of 

Record (OFR)
Retention No. Records Description

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

Comments / Reference

Retentions apply to the department that is NOT the Office of Record (OFR), or the "Lead Department".  If you are the OFR, refer to your department retention schedule.

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.

HOLDS: Litigation, claims, complaints, audits, public records act requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

CITY-WIDE (Used by All Departments)

Lead Dept. CW-030

Training - ALL COURSE RECORDS 

(Attendance Rosters, Outlines and Materials; 

includes Ethics & Safety Training & Tailgates)

5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, 

OD, Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference; Ethics & 

Harassment Prevention Training is 5 years; 

Calif. Labor Division is required to keep 

their OSHA records 7 years; 

EEOC/FLSA/ADEA (Age) requires 3 years 

for promotion, demotion, transfer, 

selection, or discharge; State Law requires 

4 years for personnel actions;  8 CCR 

§3203 et seq., 29 CFR 1627.3(b)(ii), LC

§6429(c); GC §§12946, 12960, 34090,

53235.2(b), 53237.2(b); LC §6401.9(f),

LAWNDALE, CA   ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 13.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES Page AS-1

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards  

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder. 

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

CABLE TV

Admin. 

Services / 

Cable TV

AS-003
Cable TV Programming, Production & 

Scheduling

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
Preliminary drafts; GC §34090 et seq.

Admin. 

Services / 

Cable TV

AS-004
Cable TV Video Footage:  Historical events 

& programming
P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC'd & OD

When content is of historic significance; 

GC §34090.7

Admin. 

Services / 

Cable TV

AS-005

Cable TV Video Media - Events (DVD & 

Video) - Master Files

Not public meetings - See City Clerk for 

City Council, Planning Commission or other 

public meetings

Minimum 90 

days

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC'd & OD

Consistent with video tape retention for 

public meetings; GC §34090.7

Admin. 

Services / 

Cable TV

AS-006
Media Technology Advisory Committee 

AGENDAS  & AGENDA PACKETS
 Minimum 2 

years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference; Original Staff 

Reports are filed in the project file; GC 

§34090

City Clerk AS-007
Media Technology Advisory Committee

MINUTES, BYLAWS, RESOLUTIONS

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Yes

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Send all originals to the City Clerk; GC 

§34090.7

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 13.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES Page AS-2

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards  

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder. 

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

HUMAN RESOURCES

Admin. 

Services / 

Human 

Resources

AS-008
Benefit Plan Documents (Optical, Dental, 

etc.)

Duration of 

the Contract 

+ 2 years

Yes:  For 

Duration of 

Contract

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

EEOC / ADEA (Age) requires 1 year after 

benefit plan termination; State Law 

requires 2 years after action; 29 CFR 

1627.3(b)(2); 29 USC 1027; GC §34090

Admin. 

Services / 

Human 

Resources

AS-009

Classification / Reorganization Studies (for 

employee classifications and department 

structures)

 Minimum 3 

years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference; Bureau of 

National Affairs recommends 2 years for 

all supplementary Personnel records; 

Wage rate tables are 1 or 2 years; State 

requires 2 years; 29 CFR 516.6, 29 CFR 

1602.14, GC §§12946, 12960,  34090

Admin. 

Services / 

Human 

Resources

AS-010 Compensation Surveys & Studies
 Minimum 3 

years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference; Bureau of 

National Affairs recommends 2 years for 

all supplementary Personnel records; 

Wage rate tables are 1 or 2 years; State 

requires 2 years; 29 CFR 516.6(2), 29 

CFR 1602.14, GC §§12946, 12960, 34090

Admin. 

Services / 

Human 

Resources

AS-011 Contracts for Investigators
Completion 

+ 5 years

Yes:  Before 

Completion

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference; Statute of 

Limitations for contractual obligations is 4 

years; CCP §§337. 337.1(a), 337.15, 343; 

GC §34090

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Admin. 

Services / 

Human 

Resources

AS-012

California Civil Rights Department (CRD) / 

Department of Fair Employment & Housing 

(DFEH or EEOC) Claims / Harassment 

Claims

Minimum 

Final 

Disposition + 

5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference; All State and 

Federal laws require retention until final 

disposition of formal complaint; State 

requires 4  years after "fully and finally 

disposed"; 2 CCR 11013(c); GC §§12946, 

12960, 34090

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 13.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES Page AS-3

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Admin. 

Services / 

Human 

Resources

AS-013
DMV Pull Notices (ALL, Including Police 

Officers)

When 

Superseded 

or Upon 

Separation

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
Department Preference; GC §34090

Admin. 

Services / 

Human 

Resources

AS-014 Employee Investigations

 Minimum 

Separation + 

4  years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes: After 

QC & OD

All State and Federal laws require 

retention until final disposition of formal 

complaint; State requires 4years after 

"fully and finally disposed"; 2 CCR 

1101(c); GC §§12946, 12960, 34090

Admin. 

Services / 

Human 

Resources

AS-015

Employee Verifications (responses to 

outside banks, mortgage brokers, and 

others about an employee's employment 

status)

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Non-records / Content Not Substantive, 

therefore there is no obligation to retain 

responses; GC §34090 et seq.

Admin. 

Services / 

Human 

Resources

AS-016 Harassment Prevention Training Certificates 5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC'd & OD
GC §§34090, 53237.2(b)

Admin. 

Services / 

Human 

Resources

AS-017 I-9s
Separation + 

6 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes: After 

QC & OD

Required for 1 year from termination or 3 

years from hiring, whichever is later; 

EEOC / FLSA / ADEA (Age) requires 3 

years for "any other forms of employment 

inquiry"; State Law requires 2 -3 years; 8 

CFR 274a.2; 29 CFR 1627.3(b)(1); GC 

§§12946, 12960, 34090

Admin. 

Services / 

Human 

Resources

AS-018
Job Descriptions / Classification 

Specifications

 Minimum 

Superseded 

+ 4  years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD 

Department Preference; statute of 

limitations for EEOC/FLSA/ADEA (Age) 

requires 3 years for promotion, demotion, 

transfer, selection, or discharge; State 

Law requires 4  years;  29 CFR 1602.31 & 

1627.3(b)(ii), GC §§12946, 12960, 34090

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 13.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES Page AS-4

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Admin. 

Services / 

Human 

Resources

AS-019 OSHA Logs - 200, 300, 301, 301A 5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

OSHA requires 5 years; State law 

requires 2 years; 8 CCR 14300.33, 8 CCR 

§3203(b)(1), GC §34090; LC §6429c

Admin. 

Services / 

Human 

Resources

AS-020
Personnel Board

AGENDAS  & AGENDA PACKETS
 Minimum 10 

years
  

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference; Original Staff 

Reports are filed in the project file; GC 

§34090

City Clerk AS-021
Personnel Board

MINUTES, BYLAWS, RESOLUTIONS

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Yes

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Send all originals to the City Clerk; GC 

§34090.7

Admin. 

Services / 

Human 

Resources

AS-021.5

Personnel Files - Benefit File

Enrollments and changes to an employee's 

benefits

Separation + 

6 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes: After 

QC & OD
Department Preference; GC §34090

Admin. 

Services / 

Human 

Resources

AS-022

Personnel Files - Employee File (Main File 

/ Background File)

Includes Application, Evaluations,  

Grievances, Policy Acknowledgements, 

Personnel Action Forms, Livescan results, 

Training Certificates, etc.

Separation + 

6 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes: After 

QC & OD

Department Preference; statute of 

limitations for retirement benefits is 6 

years from last action; EEOC/FLSA/ADEA 

(Age) requires 3 years for promotion, 

demotion, transfer, selection, or 

discharge; State Law requires 4 years;  

29 CFR 1602.31 & 1627.3(b)(1), GC §§ 

3105, 12946, 12960, 34090; 53237.2(b), 

LC 1198.5

Admin. 

Services / 

Human 

Resources

AS-023

Personnel Files - Medical File (all 

employees) 

Pre-employment Medical Clearances,  ADA 

Accommodations, Fit for Duty, etc.

Separation + 

30 years or 

Termination 

of Benefits + 

5 years 

(whichever is 

longer)

Yes:  Until 

Separation

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes: After 

QC & OD

Department preference; Files maintained 

separately; Claims can be made for 30 

years for toxic substance exposure; 8 

CCR §3204(d)(1) et seq., 8 CCR 5144, 8 

CCR 15400.2; 29 CFR 1910.1020(d)(1)(i), 

GC §§12946, 12960,  34090

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 13.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES Page AS-5

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Admin. 

Services / 

Human 

Resources

AS-024

Recruitment and Testing File - ALL (Full-

time and Part-time)

(Includes Advertisements, Applications for 

Unsuccessful Candidates, Interview Notes, 

Job Brochures, Test Data, Testing Analysis 

& statistical Metric, Job Analysis, Rating 

Sheets, Scantrons, etc.)

Close of 

Recruitment 

+ 4 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

State Law requires 4 years; (Part Time 

Employee Recruitments are retained by 

the Department, except for the Successful 

Application); EEOC / FLSA / ADEA (Age) 

requires 1-3 years;  29 CFR 1627.3(b)(1), 

29 CFR 1602.14; 2 CCR 11013(c); GC 

§§12946, 12960,  34090

Admin. 

Services / 

Human 

Resources

AS-025
Studies & Surveys Conducted on Behalf of 

the City (Sick Leave, Attrition, Benefits, etc.)

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Content not substantive; Preliminary 

drafts not retained in the ordinary course 

of business; GC §34090

Admin. 

Services / 

Human 

Resources

AS-026 Workers Compensation Claim Runs 5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference (meets municipal 

government auditing standards); GC 

§34090

Admin. 

Services / 

Human 

Resources

AS-027

Workers Compensation Claims  / Long 

Term Disability Claims (Includes all 

Accident, Incident, or Injury Reports from 

Employees)

Separation + 

30 years or 

Termination 

of Benefits + 

5 years 

(whichever is 

longer)

Yes:  Until 

Separation

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes: After 

QC & OD

Department preference; Files maintained 

separately; Claims can be made for 30 

years for toxic substance exposure; 8 

CCR §3204(d)(1) et seq., 8 CCR 5144, 8 

CCR 15400.2; 29 CFR 1910.1020(d)(1)(i), 

GC §§12946, 12960, 34090

Admin. 

Services / 

Human 

Resources

AS-027.5

Workplace Violence – Hazard identification, 

evaluation, correction, incident logs, 

investigations, etc.

5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
LC §6401.9(f), GC §34090

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 13.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES Page AS-6

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

RISK MANAGEMENT

Admin. 

Services  / 

Risk Manage.

AS-028
Accident Reports / Incident Reports (No 

Claim Filed)
2 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
GC §34090

Admin. 

Services  / 

Risk Manage.

AS-029 Claims / Civil & Liability

Final 

Resolution + 

5 years

Yes:  Until 

Resolution

Mag, 

Mfr, OD,  

Ppr

S / I
Yes: After 

QC & OD

Department Preference; Covers various 

statute of limitations; CCP §§ 337 et seq.; 

GC §§ 911.2, 34090, 34090.6; PC §832.5

Admin. 

Services  / 

Risk Manage.

AS-030
Drug & Alcohol Test Results (All - Positives 

and Negatives)
5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference; D.O.T. Requires 

5 years for positive tests, 1 year for 

negative tests; EEOC/FLSA/ADEA (Age) 

requires 3 years physical examinations; 

State Law requires 2 years; 29 CFR 

1627.3(b)(1)(v), GC §§12946, 12960, 

34090; 49 CFR 655.71 et seq.; 49 CFR 

382.401 et seq.  49 CFR 653.71

Admin. 

Services  / 

Risk Manage.

AS-031 Employee Litigation 
Separation + 

5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes: After 

QC & OD

Department preference; ; CCP §§ 337 et 

seq.; GC §§ 911.2, 34090, 34090.6; PC 

§832.5

Admin. 

Services  / 

Risk Manage.

AS-032

Incident Reports where a Loss of Property 

was incurred that can be recovered 

(Vandalism, Vehicle Accidents, etc.)

5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes: After 

QC & OD

Department Preference (meets auditing 

standards); GC §34090

Admin. 

Services  / 

Risk Manage.

AS-033 OSHA Inspections & Citations 5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

OSHA requires 5 years; State law 

requires 2 years; 8 CCR §3203(b)(1), 

OMB 1220-0029; GC §34090; LC §6429c

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



 Ver. 10.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  CITY CLERK Page CC-1

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

City Clerk CC-001

Agenda Packets:  City Council, Public Finance 

Authority, Redevelopment Agency / Successor 

Agency,  Lawndale Cable Usage Corporation 

and Lawndale Housing Authority

P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC &OD

Department preference;  Includes 

Appeals; GC §34090

City Clerk CC-002

Agreements - Council-Approved If Imaged, 

Infrastructure, CIPs, MOUs, MOAs  

includes all contractual obligations (e.g. 

Amendments, Insurance Certificates, Scope of 

Work or Successful Proposal)

Examples of Infrastructure:  Architects, CalPERS, 

CIPs (Capital Improvement Projects,) franchise 

agreements,  settlement agreements, subdivision 

improvement agreements, development,  Joint 

Powers, MOUs, settlement,  water rights, etc.

P
Yes:  Before 

Completion

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD 

Department Preference; All infrastructure 

contracts should be permanent for 

emergency response; Statute of 

Limitations is 4 years; 10 years for Errors 

& Omissions; land records are 

permanent by law; CCP §337 et. seq., 

GC §34090

City Clerk CC-003

Agreements - Council-Approved Non-

Infrastructure that are NOT Imaged 

includes all contractual obligations (e.g. 

Amendments, Insurance Certificates, Scope of 

Work or Successful Proposal)

Examples of NON-Infrastructure:  Consulting, 

disposal, City Manager employment contracts, 

leases, loans, mutual aid, professional services, 

services, etc.

Completion 

+ 10 years

Yes:  Before 

Completion

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD 

Department preference; Covers E&O 

Statute of Limitations; Statute of 

Limitations: Contracts & Spec's=4 years, 

Wrongful Death=comp. + 5 years, 

Developers=comp. + 10 years; ; CCP 

§337 et. seq., GC §34090

CITY CLERK

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



 Ver. 10.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  CITY CLERK Page CC-2

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

CITY CLERK

City Clerk CC-004 Assessment Districts P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC &OD
Department preference; GC §34090

City Clerk CC-005

Audits - Final / Annual Comprehensive 

Financial Report (ACFR) / Annual Financial 

Statements / Single Audits

P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
Department Preference; GC §34090

City Clerk CC-006

Bid Packets:  Bids or Proposals in response to 

RFPs (Request for Proposals) and/or RFQs 

(Request for Qualifications), Notices, Notice 

Inviting Bids, Specifications

2 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

After 2/2012, Purchasing maintains 

originals for 7 years (their preference to 

comply with Federal Agency 

requirements); GC §34090

City Clerk CC-007
Board & Commission / Committee Maddy Act 

Lists / Vacancy Notices
2 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
GC §34090

City Clerk CC-008
Board & Commission Applications -  (All 

Advisory Bodies)
2 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
GC §34090

City Clerk CC-009
Board & Commission Bylaws -  (All Advisory 

Bodies)

Superseded 

+ 2 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC &OD
Department preference; GC §34090

City Clerk CC-010

Bonds: CIP Labor & Materials, Performance 

Bonds, Letters of Credit, Encroachment Permit 

Bonds, etc.

Release of 

Bond / Letter 

of Credit

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Securities (Performance Bonds, Letters 

of Credit, CD's, etc.) are released after 

the Notice of Completion is issued and 

replaced with the Warranty Bond, which 

is released 1 year after the Notice of 

Completion date.  GC §34090

City Clerk CC-011 Budgets - Final P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
Department Preference; GC §34090

City Clerk CC-012 City Articles of Incorporation / Charter P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC &OD
Department preference; GC §34090

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



 Ver. 10.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  CITY CLERK Page CC-3

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

CITY CLERK

City Clerk CC-013
City Council,  Board & Commission Historical 

List of Members / Rosters
P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC &OD
Department preference; GC §34090

Admin. 

Services / 

Risk Manag.

CC-014 Claim Forms

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
GC §34090.7

City Clerk CC-015

Deeds 

(Easements and Rights-of-Way are 

maintained by Public Works)

P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
GC §34090(a)

City Clerk CC-016

Economic Interest Filings (FPPC 700 Series 

Forms - Statement of Economic Interests):  

ALL

7 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC 

City maintains original statements; GC 

§81009(d)(e)(f)&(g)

City Clerk CC-017 FPPC Form 801 (Gift to Agency Report) 7 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC 
Must post on website; GC §81009(e) 

City Clerk CC-018
FPPC Form 802 (Event Ticket  / Pass 

Distributions Agency Report)
7 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC 

Should post on website for 4 years; GC 

§81009(e)

City Clerk CC-019 FPPC Form 803 (Behested Payment Report) 7 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC 
GC §81009(e)

City Clerk CC-020
FPPC Form 806 (Agency Report of Public 

Official Appointments)
7 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC 

Must post on website; 2 CCR 

18702.5(b)(3); GC §34090; GC §81009(e)

City Clerk CC-021
FPPC Lobbyist Authorization / Reporting - 

FPPC Form 635 / 602
5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC 
2 CCR 18615(f); GC §34090

City Clerk CC-022
Campaign Filings (FPPC 400 Series Forms  & 

Form 501):    UNSUCCESSFUL CANDIDATES
5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC 

Paper must be retained for at least 2 

years; GC §81009(b)&(g)

ELECTIONS - CONSOLIDATED

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



 Ver. 10.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  CITY CLERK Page CC-4

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

CITY CLERK

City Clerk CC-023

Campaign Filings (FPPC 400 Series Forms & 

Form 501):    SUCCESSFUL CANDIDATES  

(Elected Officials)

P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC 

Paper must be retained for at least 2 

years; GC §81009(b)&(g)

City Clerk CC-024

Campaign Filings (FPPC 400 Series Forms):    

THOSE NOT REQUIRED TO FILE ORIGINAL 

WITH CITY CLERK (copies)

4 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC 

Paper must be retained for at least 2 

years; GC §81009(f)&(g)

City Clerk CC-025

Campaign Filings (FPPC 400 Series Forms):  

OTHER COMMITTEES (PACS - not candidate-

controlled)

7 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC 

Paper must be retained for at least 2 

years; GC §81009(c)&(g)

City Clerk CC-026

Candidate File: Nomination Papers, Candidate 

Statement Forms, etc. - SUCCESSFUL 

CANDIDATES

Expiration of 

Term of 

Office + 4 

years

Mag, Ppr

 CA law states term of office and 4 years 

after the expiration of term for 

Nomination Papers ; EC §17100

City Clerk CC-027

Candidate File: Nomination Papers, Candidate 

Statement Forms, etc. - UNSUCCESSFUL 

CANDIDATES

Conclusion 

of Election + 

4 years

Mag, Ppr

Department Preference;  CA law states 

term of office and 4 years after the 

expiration of term for Nomination Papers  

; EC §17100

City Clerk CC-028

Elections - GENERAL, WORKING or 

ADMINISTRATION Files (Correspondence, 

Applications to fill a Vacancy on the City 

Council, Precinct Maps, County Election 

Services, Candidate Statements to be printed 

in the Sample Ballot, Polling Locations and 

Precinct Board Members, Notices, Postings, 

etc.) 

Minimum 2 

years
Mag, Ppr GC §34090

City Clerk CC-029
Elections - HISTORICAL (Sample ballot, 

copies of resolutions, final results)
P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD,  

Ppr

S No Retained for Historical Value, GC §34090

City Clerk CC-030.1
Elections - Petitions (Initiative, Recall or 

Referendum) - IF INSUFFICIENT

Final 

Examination 

+ 1 year after 

petition 

examination

Ppr

Not accessible to the public; The 8 month 

retention applies after election results, or 

final examination if no election, unless 

there is a legal or FPPC proceeding.  EC 

§§17200(b)(3), 17400

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



 Ver. 10.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  CITY CLERK Page CC-5

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

CITY CLERK

City Clerk CC-030.2
Elections - Petitions (Initiative, Recall or 

Referendum) - IF SUFFICIENT

Results + 8 

months
Ppr

Not accessible to the public; The 8 month 

retention applies after election results, or 

final examination if no election, unless 

there is a legal or FPPC proceeding.  EC 

§§17200(b)(3), 17400

ELECTIONS - STAND-ALONE (use in conjunction with Consolidated elections … records series are not repeated)

City Clerk CC-031
Applications to View Voter Registration 

Information
5 years Ppr EC §2188(f)

City Clerk CC-032
Elections - Ballots, Ballot Security Envelopes  - 

 After Election
6 mo. Ppr EC §17302

City Clerk CC-033
Elections - Ballots, Ballot Security Envelopes - 

After Recount
6 mo. Ppr EC §17306

City Clerk CC-034 Elections - Challenged & Assisted Voters List 6 mo. Ppr If uncontested, EC §17304 

City Clerk CC-035 Elections - Inspector Receipts for Ballots 6 mo. Ppr EC 17302, 17306

City Clerk CC-036 Elections - Precinct Officer Appointments 6 mo. Ppr EC §17503

City Clerk CC-037 Elections - Roster of Voters 5 years
Mag, 

OD, Ppr
S

Yes:  After 

QC & OD 
EC §17300

City Clerk CC-038
Elections - Tally Sheets, Logic & Accuracy 

Tests
6 mo. Ppr EC §17304

City Clerk CC-039
Elections - Vote-by-Mail  Applications, Roster 

of Absentee Applications
6 mo. Ppr EC §17302

City Clerk CC-040
Elections - Vote-by-Mail  Identification 

Envelopes
6 mo. Ppr EC §17302

City Clerk CC-041
Elections - Voter Index Copies used as the 

Voting Record at Polling Places
6 mo. Ppr EC §17304

City Clerk CC-042 Elections - Voter Index Original 5 years Ppr EC §17001

(End of Elections Section)

City Clerk CC-043 Ethics Training Certificates 5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC'd & OD
GC §§34090, 53235.2(b)

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



 Ver. 10.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  CITY CLERK Page CC-6

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

CITY CLERK

City Clerk CC-044

Historical Records, Photographs, & Historical 

Projects (e.g. Incorporation, City Seal, Awards 

of significant historical interest, etc.)

P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD,  

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

City Clerk determines historical 

significance; records can address a 

variety of subjects and media.  Some 

media (e.g. audio and video tape) may 

be limited because of the media's life 

expectancy; GC §34090

City Clerk CC-045

Insurance Certificates that are not filed with 

Contracts

(Filed chronologically by month)

11 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC'd & OD

Department preference; Covers E&O and 

Latent Defect Statute of Limitations; CCP 

§337 et. seq., GC §34090

City Clerk CC-046

Minutes:  All Boards & Commission 

(Planning Commission, Beautification 

Committee, Parks, Recreation & Social 

Services Commission, Senior Citizen Advisory 

Committee, Youth Advisory Committee, etc. ) 

P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
GC §34090(e) 

City Clerk CC-047

Minutes:  City Council, Cable Corporation, 

Public Finance Authority, Redevelopment 

Agency /  Successor Agency, Lawndale Cable 

Usage Corporation and Lawndale Housing 

Authority

P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
GC §34090(e) 

City Clerk CC-048

Oath of Office:  City Council, Planning 

Commission Members, All Boards & 

Commissions

Separation + 

4 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC'd & OD

Department Preference; Statute of 

Limitations:  Public official misconduct is 

discovery of offense + 4 years,  GC 

§§36507, 34090; PC §§801.5, 803(c); 29 

USC 1113

City Clerk CC-049 Ordinances P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
GC §34090(e) 

City Clerk CC-050
Prop. 218 Fees & Charges:  Ballots and/or 

protest letters 
2 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
GC §§53753(e)(2), 53755(d)

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



 Ver. 10.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  CITY CLERK Page CC-7

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

CITY CLERK

City Clerk CC-051
Public Records Requests / Subpoenas Duces 

Tecum
2 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
GC §34090

City Clerk CC-052
Recordings - VIDEO - City Council & Planning 

Commission (and associated bodies)
10 years   Mag

Department preference; Video tapes of 

meetings are required for 90 days; GC 

§34090.7

City Clerk CC-053
Records Destruction Authorization Forms & 

Certifications
10 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC'd & OD
Department preference; GC §34090

City Clerk CC-053.1

Redistricting Web Page / District Boundary 

Web Page (Map, Redistricting Process, 

Agendas, Calendars, Notice, etc.)

10 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
EC §21160(i) GC §34090 

City Clerk CC-054

Resolutions:  All Boards & Commissions  

(Planning Commission & Parks & Recreation 

Commission)

P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
GC §34090(e) 

City Clerk CC-055

Resolutions:  City Council, Cable 

Corporation, Public Finance Authority, 

Redevelopment Agency /  Successor Agency, 

Lawndale Housing Authority

P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
GC §34090(e) 

City Clerk CC-056
Statement of Facts / Registry of Public 

Agencies
2 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
GC §34090

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 5.0  RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  CITY MANAGER & CITY COUNCIL Page CM-1

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards .                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

CITY MANAGER & CITY COUNCIL

City 

Manager & 

City Council

CM-001

City Manager Correspondence / City 

Council Correspondence (Interoffice, 

Citizens, Organizations, etc.)

 Minimum 2 

years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
Department Preference; GC §34090

City 

Manager & 

City Council

CM-002
Facility Use Permits (Council Chambers or 

Conference Room only)
2 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
GC §34090

City 

Manager & 

City Council

CM-003
Proclamations / Commendations / 

Certificates / Recognitions
2 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
GC §34090

City 

Manager & 

City Council

CM-004

Projects, Programs, Subject & Issues - 

General (Issues and/or projects will vary 

over time - e.g. Sister City, Goals & 

Objectives, , etc.)

 Minimum 2 

years

Yes:  While 

Active 

Issues

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
Department Preference; GC §34090

City 

Manager & 

City Council

CM-005 Weekly Updates / Weekly Manager's Memo 2 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
GC §34090

LAWNDALE, CA  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. (909) 337-3516 - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission Adopted: 



Ver. 9.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT Page CD-1

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged 

& QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

BUILDING

Comm. Dev. 

/ Building
CD-001 Address Files / Building Permits P Yes (all)

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference; GC §34090, 

H&S §19850

Comm. Dev. 

/ Building
CD-002 Building Permit Database (CityView / Citizenserve) P Yes (all)

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department Preference - Data is 

interrelated; GC §34090, H&S 

§19850

Comm. Dev. 

/ Building
CD-003

Building Plans - Cancelled, Expired or 

Withdrawn
P   

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference; Preliminary 

drafts not retained in the ordinary 

course of business; CBC §104.7; 

H&S§19850, GC §34090

Comm. Dev. 

/ Building
CD-004

Building Plans - Finalled -  TENANT 

IMPROVEMENTS
P Yes (all)

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department Preference; Law 

requires for the life of the building for 

commercial and common interest 

dwellings only; CBC 104.7 & 107.5, 

H&S§19850, GC §34090  

Comm. Dev. 

/ Building
CD-005

Building Plans - Finalled - INDUSTRIAL, 

COMMERCIAL, MULTI-FAMILY DWELLINGS, 

PLACES OF PUBLIC ACCOMMODATION

P Yes (all)

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department Preference; Law 

requires for the life of the building for 

commercial and common interest 

dwellings only; CBC 104.7 & 107.5, 

H&S§19850, GC §34090  

Comm. Dev. 

/ Building
CD-006

Building Plans - Finalled - SINGLE FAMILY 

RESIDENTIAL - SFR and APPURTENANCES

Energy Calculations, Structural Calculations, Soil 

Reports, Geotechnical Reports

10 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference (180 days is 

required); State law requires plans 

need not be filed for dwellings less 

than 2 stories, garages & 

appurtenances, farms/ranches, 1-

story with bearing walls less than 

25'; CBC requires 180 days from 

completion date;  CBC 104.7 & 

107.5, H&S§19850, GC §34090

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 9.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT Page CD-2

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged 

& QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Comm. Dev. 

/ Building
CD-007 California Building Codes / Uniform Building Codes

Minimum 

While 

Ordinance is 

in Force

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

GC §50022.6

Comm. Dev. 

/ Building
CD-008 Certificate of Occupancy (CofO) P Yes (all)

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department Preference; GC §34090

Comm. Dev. 

/ Building
CD-009 Correction Notices, Stop Work Notices P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department Preference (Preliminary 

Drafts); GC §34090

Comm. Dev. 

/ Building
CD-010 Plan Check Comments (Site Plan File) P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department Preference (Preliminary 

Drafts); GC §34090

Comm. Dev. 

/ Building
CD-011 Reports:  Building Activity

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Preliminary drafts (the database can 

re-create the reports on demand); 

GC §34090

Comm. Dev. 

/ Building
CD-012

Requests & Permissions to Receive Copies of 

Plans (to and from Architects)
2 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

GC §34090

Comm. Dev. 

/ Building
CD-013 Utility Clearances, School District Clearances

When 

Permit 

Finalled

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department Preference (Preliminary 

Drafts); GC §34090

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 9.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT Page CD-3

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged 

& QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

CDBG / HOUSING / FORMER REDEVELOPMENT PROJECTS

Comm. Dev. 

/ CDBG, 

Housing, 

Redev.

CD-014
Five Year Consolidated Action Plan and the 

related Action Plans / PHA Plans

Expiration of 

Plan + 5 

years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Consolidated Plan Requirement; GC 

§34090

Comm. Dev. 

/ CDBG, 

Housing, 

Redev.

CD-015
Great Neighborhoods Program (Commercial and 

Residential Rehabilitation)
5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Meets auditing standards; Grants 

covered by a Consolidated Action 

Plan are required for 5 years; 

Uniform Admin. Requirements for 

Grants to Local Governments is 3 

years from expenditure report or final 

payment of grantee or subgrantee 2 

CFR 200.334; 24 CFR 91.105(h), 

92.505, 92.508, 570.490, & 

570.502(a&b), 29 CFR 97.42; GC 

§34090; 24 CFR 982.158

Comm. Dev. 

/ CDBG, 

Housing, 

Redev.

CD-016

Housing Programs:   

All, including Low-Mod, CalHome, CDBG & HOME

WITH Recapture or Resale Restrictions

5 years after 

the 

Affordability 

Period 

Terminates, 

or the 

Written 

Agreement 

Terminates, 

Whichever is 

Longer

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

&OD

HUD requires 5 years after the 

project completion; documents 

imposing recapture / resale 

restrictions are 5 years after the 

affordability period terminates; 

Uniform Admin. Requirements for 

Grants to Local Governments is 3 

years from expenditure report; 2 

CFR 200.334; 24 CFR 

92.508(a)(c)(2); 29 CFR 97.42, GC 

§34090

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 9.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT Page CD-4

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged 

& QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Comm. Dev. 

/ CDBG, 

Housing, 

Redev.

CD-017

Housing Programs:  All, including ow-Mod, 

CalHome, CDBG & HOME

NO RECAPTURE / RESALE RESTRICTIONS 

Loan Pay-off 

or 

Forgiveness 

+ 5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD,  

 Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

&OD

HUD requires 5 years after the 

project completion; documents 

imposing recapture / resale 

restrictions are 5 years after the 

affordability period terminates; 

Uniform Admin. Requirements for 

Grants to Local Governments is 3 

years from expenditure report; 2 

CFR 200.334; 24 CFR 

92.508(a)(c)(2); 29 CFR 97.42, GC 

§34090

Comm. Dev. 

/ CDBG, 

Housing, 

Redev.

CD-018 HUD Reports (ALL Reports to HUD) 5 years   

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference; ; GC §34090

Comm. Dev. 

/ CDBG, 

Housing, 

Redev.

CD-018.5

Preliminary Application Form (required for a 

housing development project that includes 

residential units; form is provided by California 

Department of Housing & Community Development 

5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Various benchmarks are placed 

using the number of residential 

dwelling units on the project site 

within the last five years; GC §34090

Comm. Dev. 

/ CDBG, 

Housing, 

Redev.

CD-019
Redevelopment Plans, Redevelopment Projects 

(Historical)
P Yes

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference; GC §34090 

et seq.

Comm. Dev. 

/ CDBG, 

Housing, 

Redev.

CD-020 Redevelopment Projects (Not Historical) 10 years Yes

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference; GC §34090 

et seq.

Comm. Dev. 

/ CDBG, 

Housing, 

Redev.

CD-021
Redevelopment Successor Agency Real Property - 

 Acquisition and Sale or Transfer
P Yes

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference; GC §34090 

et seq.

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 9.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT Page CD-5

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged 

& QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT / ENGINEERING (PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT) 

Community 

Dev. / 

Engineering 

/ Private Dev.

CD-022
Design & Construction Standards - Authored by 

the City for Private Development
P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD,  

 Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department Preference; GC §34090

Community 

Dev. / 

Engineering 

/ Private Dev.

CD-023 Developer's Bonds / Security

Close or 

Default + 5 

years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department Preference; meets 

auditing standards; GC §34090, 26 

CFR 31.6001-1

Community 

Dev. / 

Engineering 

/ Private Dev.

CD-024 Parcel Maps / Tract Maps P Yes (all)

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Drafts should be destroyed; Some 

maps are also retained by Planning; 

Selected maps are retained in Public 

Works for administrative purposes; 

GC §34090, 34090.7

Community 

Dev. / 

Engineering 

/ Private Dev.

CD-025

Private Development Projects / Job Files:  

Administration File / Construction Inspection

Construction Inspections, Correspondence, Daily 

Logs, Inspector's Records, Photos, etc.

Completion 

+ 10 years 

Yes:  Until 

Completed

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Statute of Limitations for Errors & 

Omissions is 10 years; Statute of 

Limitations: Contracts & Spec's=4 

years, Wrongful Death=comp. + 5 

years, Developers=comp. + 10 

years; CCP §337 et. seq., GC 

§34090

Community 

Dev. / 

Engineering 

/ Private Dev.

CD-026

Private Development Projects / Job Files:   

Permanent Files

Certificate of Acceptance / Approval (copy), 

Dedications, Abandonments, Drainage, Driveway,  

Private Lab Verifications, Testing Lab Final 

Reports, Studies, Reports, Geotechnical and Soil 

Reports / Hydrology Reports, etc.

P
Yes:  Until 

Completed

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference; retained for 

disaster preparedness purposes;  

GC §34090

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 9.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT Page CD-6

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged 

& QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

PLANNING

Comm. Dev. 

/ Planning
CD-027

 Planning Projects - Discretionary & Ministerial 

- Approved Permanent Entitlements & Permits

(Includes Associated CEQA Noticing, Conditions 

of Approval, Environmental Determinations, Staff 

Reports, Plans)      

Examples:  Conditional Use Permits (CUPs), 

Determination of Similarity, Development Review, 

Development Plan Review, Environmental 

Assessment,  General Plan Amendment, Historic 

District Designation, Home Occupation Permit, 

Certificate of Appropriateness, Site Development 

Permit, Master Sign Program, Mills Act 

Participation, Outdoor Dining, Public Use Permit, 

Specific Plans, Tentative Parcel or Tract Map,  

Variances, Wireless Communication, Zone 

Changes, etc.                       

P Yes

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference; Final 

environmental determinations are 

required to be kept a "reasonable 

period of time"; 14 CCR §15095(c); 

GC§§34090, 34090.7

Comm. Dev. 

/ Planning
CD-028

Annexations / Boundaries / Consolidations / 

LAFCO
P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Land Records; GC §34090

Comm. Dev. 

/ Planning
CD-029 Census, Demographics

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

(Non-Records - Census Bureau is 

OFR)

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 9.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT Page CD-7

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged 

& QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Comm. Dev. 

/ Planning
CD-029.1

Environmental Determinations:  Environmental 

Impact Reports (EIRs), Negative Declarations, 

Categorical Exceptions, etc.)  / CEQA / NEPA

Correspondence and staff notes that provide 

insight into the project or the agency’s CEQA 

compliance with respect to the project 

Project 

Approval or 

Denial + 2 

years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Not all internal communications and 

notes are required to be saved; "E-

mails that do not provide insight into 

the project or the agency’s CEQA 

compliance with respect to the 

project — are not within the scope of 

section 21167.6, subdivision (e) and 

need not be retained." Golden Door 

Properties, LLC v. Superior Court of 

San Diego County  (County of San 

Diego, et al., Real Parties in Interest) 

(53 Cal.App.5th 733); PRC 21167,6; 

GC §34090 

Comm. Dev. 

/ Planning
CD-030

Environmental Determinations:  Environmental 

Impact Reports (EIRs), Negative Declarations, 

etc.)  / CEQA

Inside City boundaries

P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Usually filed in the project file; Final 

environmental determinations are 

required to be kept a "reasonable 

period of time"; 14 CCR §15095(c); 

GC §34090

Comm. Dev. 

/ Planning
CD-031

Environmental Determinations:  Environmental 

Impact Reports (EIRs), Negative Declarations, 

etc.) / CEQA

Outside City boundaries

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Non-records; EIRs and Negative 

Declarations within the City 

Boundaries are with the project file

Comm. Dev. 

/ Planning
CD-032 General Plan,  Elements and Amendments P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

City Clerk Maintains all Agenda 

Packets Permanently; GC §34090.7

Comm. Dev. 

/ Planning
CD-033 Long Range Planning / Planning Studies P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Usually filed in the project file; Final 

environmental determinations are 

required to be kept a "reasonable 

period of time"; 14 CCR §15095(c); 

GC §34090

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 9.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT Page CD-8

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged 

& QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Comm. Dev. 

/ Planning
CD-034

Master Plans, Specific Plans, Land Use Plans and 

Amendments 
P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference; GC §34090

Comm. Dev. 

/ Planning
CD-035 Materials Boards

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Preliminary drafts not retained in the 

ordinary course of business; GC 

§34090

Comm. Dev. 

/ Planning
CD-036

Planning Commission

AGENDAS  & AGENDA PACKETS
P   

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference; Original 

Staff Reports are filed in the project 

file; GC §34090

Comm. Dev. 

/ Planning
CD-037

Planning Commission

AUDIO RECORDINGS
Minimum 2 

years
  Mag

Department preference; Audio 

Required for 30 days; GC 

§54953.5(b); video tapes of 

meetings are required for 90 days; 

GC §34090.7

City Clerk CD-038
Planning Commission

MINUTES, BYLAWS, RESOLUTIONS

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Yes

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

GC §34090.7

Comm. Dev. 

/ Planning
CD-039

Temporary Use Permits (TUP) / Temporary Signs / 

Banner Permits, etc. (Approved & Unapproved)

Christmas Tree Lots, Pumpkin Lots, etc.

Expiration + 

2 years

Yes:  

During 

Event

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference; GC§§34090

Comm. Dev. 

/ Planning
CD-040 Zoning Maps (Historically Significant) P Yes (all)

Mag, 

Mfr, OD,  

 Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department Preference; GC §34090

Comm. Dev. 

/ Planning
CD-041 Zoning Ordinance Amendments / Zone Changes P Yes

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department Preference (copies); GC 

§34090.7

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 10.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  COMMUNITY SERVICES Page CS-1

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged 

& QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

COMMUNITY SERVICES (PARKS & RECREATION)

Community 

Services
CS-001

Applications / Participants' Registration / Liability 

Forms / Release of Liability Forms / Photo 

Releases / Waivers of Liability / Permissions:  

Camps, Field Trips, Authorization to give Medicine, 

etc.

2 years

Yes:  

During 

Class or 

Program

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

GC §34090

Community 

Services
CS-002

Evaluations / Surveys (Programmatic Evaluations 

of Recreation programs)

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Content Not Substantive / Preliminary 

drafts / Transitory records; GC §34090

Community 

Services
CS-003

Facility Use Requests / Facility Use Applications 

and Permits (includes ABC Permits, where 

required)

2 years   

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

GC §34090 et. seq.

Community 

Services
CS-004

Lawndale Beat / Transportation / Fixed Route 

Service
5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Meets auditing standards; Grants 

covered by a Consolidated Action Plan 

are required for 5 years; Uniform Admin. 

Requirements for Grants to Local 

Governments is 3 years from expenditure 

report or final payment of grantee or 

subgrantee; 2 CFR 200.334; 24 CFR 

91.105(h), 92.505, 92.508, 570.490, & 

570.502(a&b), 29 CFR 97.42; GC 

§34090; 24 CFR 982.158

Community 

Services
CS-005

Manager's Program Development Files / Activity 

Files / Program Files / Special Programs / Sports / 

Seniors, etc.

Minimum 2 

years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference; GC §34090

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 10.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  COMMUNITY SERVICES Page CS-2

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged 

& QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Community 

Services
CS-006 Meals on Wheels / Senior Meals 5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Meets auditing standards; Grants 

covered by a Consolidated Action Plan 

are required for 5 years; Uniform Admin. 

Requirements for Grants to Local 

Governments is 3 years from expenditure 

report or final payment of grantee or 

subgrantee; 2 CFR 200.334; 24 CFR 

91.105(h), 92.505, 92.508, 570.490, & 

570.502(a&b), 29 CFR 97.42; GC 

§34090; 24 CFR 982.158

Community 

Services
CS-007 Newsletters sent to the Public 2 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After 

QC'd & 

OD

GC §34090

Community 

Services
CS-008

Parks, Recreation & Social Services Commission

AGENDAS, AGENDA PACKETS

 Minimum 10 

years
  

Mag, 

Mfr, OD,  

 Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

&OD

Department Preference; GC §34090

Community 

Services
CS-009

Parks, Recreation & Social Services Commission

AUDIO OR VIDEO RECORDINGS

Minimum 2 

years
  Mag

Department preference; Audio Required 

for 30 days; GC §54953.5(b); video tapes 

of meetings are required for 90 days; GC 

§34090.7

City Clerk CS-010
Parks, Recreation & Social Services Commission

MINUTES, BYLAWS, RESOLUTIONS

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Yes

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

GC §34090.7

Community 

Services
CS-011

Recreation Database / Class Registration 

Database (Active Net)

Minimum 2 

years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Data is interrelated; GC §34090

Community 

Services
CS-012

Rosters / Sign-in / Sign-Out Sheets for classes 

and programs
2 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

GC §34090

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 10.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  COMMUNITY SERVICES Page CS-3

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged 

& QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Community 

Services
CS-013 Schedules / Hours

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Content not substantive; Preliminary 

drafts not retained in the ordinary course 

of business; GC §34090

Community 

Services
CS-014

Senior Citizen Advisory Committee

AGENDAS, AGENDA PACKETS

 Minimum 2 

years
  

Mag, 

Mfr, OD,  

 Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

&OD

Department Preference; GC §34090

City Clerk CS-015
Senior Citizen Advisory Committee

MINUTES, BYLAWS

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Yes

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

GC §34090.7

Community 

Services
CS-016

Senior Citizens Case Management Files / Referral 

Programs
5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Meets auditing standards; Grants 

covered by a Consolidated Action Plan 

are required for 5 years; Uniform Admin. 

Requirements for Grants to Local 

Governments is 3 years from expenditure 

report or final payment of grantee or 

subgrantee; 2 CFR 200.334; 24 CFR 

91.105(h), 92.505, 92.508, 570.490, & 

570.502(a&b), 29 CFR 97.42; GC 

§34090; 24 CFR 982.158

Community 

Services
CS-017 Senior Programs 5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Meets auditing standards; Grants 

covered by a Consolidated Action Plan 

are required for 5 years; Uniform Admin. 

Requirements for Grants to Local 

Governments is 3 years from expenditure 

report or final payment of grantee or 

subgrantee; 2 CFR 200.334; 24 CFR 

91.105(h), 92.505, 92.508, 570.490, & 

570.502(a&b), 29 CFR 97.42; GC 

§34090; 24 CFR 982.158

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 10.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  COMMUNITY SERVICES Page CS-4

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged 

& QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Community 

Services
CS-018 Special Transit / Transit 5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Meets auditing standards; Grants 

covered by a Consolidated Action Plan 

are required for 5 years; Uniform Admin. 

Requirements for Grants to Local 

Governments is 3 years from expenditure 

report or final payment of grantee or 

subgrantee; 2 CFR 200.334; 24 CFR 

91.105(h), 92.505, 92.508, 570.490, & 

570.502(a&b), 29 CFR 97.42; GC 

§34090; 24 CFR 982.158

Community 

Services
CS-019

Special Events Permits: City-sponsored, Private 

Special Event Permits (ALL)

Minimum 2 

years

Yes:  

Before 

Completion

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department Preference; GC §34090 et. 

seq.

Community 

Services
CS-020 Sponsorships for Events 2 years

Yes:  

During 

Class or 

Program

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

GC §34090

Community 

Services
CS-021 Volunteers / Applications and Waivers

Inactive / 

Separation + 

3 years

  

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference (Courts treat 

volunteers as employees); 

EEOC/FLSA/ADEA (Age) requires 3 

years for promotion, demotion, transfer, 

selection, or discharge; 29 CFR 1602.31 

& 1627.3(b)(1)(i)&(ii), GC §§ 12960,  

34090

Community 

Services
CS-022

Youth Advisory Committee

AGENDAS, AGENDA PACKETS

 Minimum 2 

years
  

Mag, 

Mfr, OD,  

 Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

&OD

Department Preference; GC §34090

City Clerk CS-023
Youth Advisory Committee

MINUTES, BYLAWS

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Yes

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

GC §34090.7

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 12.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  FINANCE Page FIN-1

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

FINANCE

Finance FIN-001
1099's / 1096's / DE542 (California Report 

of Independent Contractors)
5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department Preference; IRS: 4 years 

after tax is due or paid  (longer for 

auditing & contractor delinquency); Ca. 

FTB: 3 years; 26 CFR §31.6001-

1(e)(2),  R&T §19530, GC §34090; 29 

USC 436 

Finance FIN-002

Accounts Payable / Invoices and Backup / 

Warrants 

(Includes Invoices, Travel Expense 

Reimbursements and copies of checks)

5 years
Yes:  Until 

Paid

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After  

QC & OD 

Department preference; 5 years meets 

municipal government auditing 

standards and Statute of Limitations for 

contracts; Purchasing preference for P-

Card Invoices (48 CFR 4.805 requires 

Federal Agencies to retain their 

contracts, unsuccessful & successful 

proposals 6 years after final payment); 

CCP §337 et. seq.; GC §34090

Finance FIN-003

Accounts Receivable:  Revenue -  Our 

Invoices to Outside Entities, Transient 

Occupancy Tax (TOT),  etc.

5 years
Yes:  Until 

Paid

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference; Meets auditing 

standards; GC §34090 et seq.

Finance FIN-004 Audit Work Papers

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Preliminary drafts / content not 

substantive; GC §34090

Finance FIN-005

Audits - Single Audits, Grant Audits, IRS 

Audits, Transportation Audits, PERS 

Audit, Annual Comprehensive Financial 

Report (ACFR) etc.

5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department Preference (meets 

municipal government auditing 

standards); GC §34090

Finance FIN-006 Bank Deposits 5 years 

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department Preference; Meets auditing 

standards;  TC Reg's rely on "self-

enforcement";  GC§§ 34090, 43900

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 12.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  FINANCE Page FIN-2

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Finance FIN-007

Bank Statements and Trustee Statements,  

 Fiscal Agent Statements, Investment 

Account Statements, Bank Reconciliations                 

5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department Preference; meets auditing 

standards; GC §34090, 26 CFR 

31.6001-1

Finance FIN-008

Bonds & Bond Sales / Official Statements 

/ Transcripts / Certificates of Participations 

(COPs) - Includes Continuing Disclosure 

Reports

See Bank Statements for statement 

retention.

Fully 

Defeased + 

10 years

Yes:  Until 

Maturity

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department Preference; Statute of 

Limitations for bonds, mortgages, trust 

deeds, notes or debentures is 6 years; 

Bonds issued by local governments are 

10 years; There are specific 

requirements for disposal of unused 

bonds; CCP §§336 et seq.  337.5(a); 

26 CFR 1.6001-1(e): GC §43900 et seq.

Finance FIN-009 Budgets Work Papers

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
Preliminary drafts; GC §34090

Finance FIN-010

Cash Receipts / Daily Cash Summaries / 

Cashiers Reports / Cash Reports / Petty 

Cash / Credit Cards

5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference; Meets auditing 

standards; GC §34090 et seq.

Finance FIN-011

CDBG (SUCCESSFUL Reports, other 

records required to pass the funding 

agency's audit, if required)

Applications (successful), grant 

agreement, copies of invoices, program 

rules, regulations & procedures, reports to 

grant funding agencies, correspondence, 

audit records, completion records

After 

Funding 

Agency 

Audit, if 

required - 

Minimum 5 

years

  

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Meets auditing standards; Grants 

covered by a Consolidated Action Plan 

are required for 5 years; Uniform 

Admin. Requirements for Grants to 

Local Governments is 3 years from 

expenditure report or final payment of 

grantee or subgrantee; 2 CFR 200.334; 

24 CFR 91.105(h), 92.505, 92.508, 

570.490, & 570.502(a&b), 29 CFR 

97.42; GC §34090; 24 CFR 982.158

Finance FIN-012
Checks / Warrants (Cashed - Retained at 

the Bank)
5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference; Meets 

municipal government auditing 

standards; GC § 34090

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 12.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  FINANCE Page FIN-3

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Finance FIN-013

Checks deposited to Bank (City scans 

them for the Bank, rather than physically 

taking the checks to the bank to deposit 

them.)

Follow Bank 

Instructions

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

These are bank instruments, and not 

City records; per bank agreement.

Finance FIN-014
Escheat (Unclaimed money / uncashed 

checks)
5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference; All tangible 

property held by government agencies 

escheats after 3 years; Statute of 

Limitations is 1 year for seized 

property; CCP §§340(d), 1355. 1519; 

GC §34090

Finance FIN-015 Film Permits 5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
Department Preference; GC §34090

Finance FIN-016
Financial Services Database ( Tyler Fund 

Balance)

Minimum 5 

years 
Yes

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Data Fields / Records are interrelated; 

GC §34090

Finance FIN-017 Fixed Assets Life of Asset

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department Preference (bond auditing 

purposes; IRS regulations state, 

"…material records should generally be 

kept for as long as the bonds are 

outstanding, plus 3 years after the final 

redemption date of the bonds"); 26 

CFR 1.6001-1(e); GC §34090

Finance FIN-018 Investment Reports & Backup 5 years 

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
Department Preference; GC §34090

Finance FIN-019

Investments / Arbitrage / Certificate of 

Deposit / Investment Bonds (Receipts / 

Advisor Reports  / Trade Tickets / LAIF 

(Local Agency Investment Fund)

5 years 

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department Preference; Meets auditing 

standards; FTC Reg's rely on "self-

enforcement";  GC§§ 34090, 43900

Finance FIN-020 Journal Entries / Journal Vouchers 5 years 

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department Preference; meets auditing 

standards; GC §34090, 26 CFR 

31.6001-1

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 12.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  FINANCE Page FIN-4

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Finance FIN-021 OES / FEMA Claims 10 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department Preference (meets 

municipal government auditing 

standards); GC §34090

Finance FIN-022

Reports, Finance Reports created from 

Database: General Ledger, Subsidiary 

Ledgers, Reconciliations, Registers, 

Transaction Histories, Balance Sheets, 

Revenue & Expenditure Reports, etc. 

(MONTHLY OR PERIODIC)  

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference (The Financial 

System Database is the original; 

reports are considered drafts or 

copies); GC §34090

Finance FIN-023

Reports:  Annual State or Federal:  State 

Controller's Report, Local Government 

Compensation Report, Gas Tax, MOE 

(Maintenance of Effort) Report, Street 

Report, etc.

5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department Preference; Meets auditing 

standards; GC §34090

Finance FIN-024
SB-90 Claims / State Reimbursement for 

Unfunded Mandates

Initial 

Payment by 

State + 3 

years

Yes:  Until 

Paid

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After  

QC & OD 

Department preference; CCP §337 et. 

seq.; GC §34090

Finance FIN-025 Surplus Property Disposition 5 years 

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference; 5 years meets 

municipal government auditing 

standards and Statute of Limitations for 

contracts; Purchasing preference (48 

CFR 4.805 requires Federal Agencies 

to retain their contracts, unsuccessful & 

successful proposals 6 years after final 

payment); CCP §337 et. seq.; GC 

§34090

Finance FIN-026 Vehicle Titles "Pink Slips"

Upon 

Disposition 

of Vehicle

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Provided to new owner upon sale; GC 

§34090

Finance FIN-027 W-9s

Vendor 

Inactive + 3 

years

Yes:  Until 

Paid

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department Preference (meets IRS  

auditing standards); GC §34090; 29 

USC 436 

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 12.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  FINANCE Page FIN-5

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

BUSINESS LICENSE

Finance / 

Business 

License 

FIN-028
Business License & Permit Database  

(Citizenserve)

Minimum 5 

years 
Yes

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Data Fields / Records are interrelated; 

GC §34090

Finance / 

Business 

License 

FIN-029

Business License New Applications & 

Permits (ALL Revenue and Regulatory, 

Massage Establishment, Taxi, Solicitor, 

etc.)

Includes ABC License, Fictious Business 

Name Certificates, Sales Permits, etc.)

P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference; Planning uses 

initial application for Zoning clearances 

and history (meets municipal 

government auditing standards); GC 

§34090 et seq.

Finance / 

Business 

License 

FIN-030 Business License Renewals & Notices 5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference; meets auditing 

standards; GC §34090 et seq.

Finance / 

Business 

License 

FIN-031
Fireworks Permits, Including post-sales 

accounting
5 years

Yes:  Until 

Paid

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference; meets auditing 

standards; GC §34090 et seq.

Finance / 

Business 

License 

FIN-032 Yard Sale Permits 2 years
Yes:  Until 

Paid

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
GC §34090 et seq.

FINANCE / PAYROLL

Finance / 

Payroll
FIN-033

1095-C, 1094-C (Employer-Provided 

Health Insurance Offer and Coverage & 

Transmittal Form)

4 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department Preference; Instructions 

state "Generally, keep copies of 

information returns you filed with the 

IRS or have the ability to reconstruct 

the data for at least 3 years, from the 

due date of the returns"  GC §34090

Finance / 

Payroll
FIN-034

CalPERS Reports - Annual Valuation 

Reports, Actuarial Valuation Reports
5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
Department Preference; GC §34090

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 12.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  FINANCE Page FIN-6

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Finance / 

Payroll
FIN-035

DE-6, DE-7, DE-9, DE-34, DE-43, W-3 & 

DE-166, 941 Forms,  IRS 5500 Forms 

(Employee Benefit Plans), PERS / FICA & 

Medicare Adjustments - Quarterly Payroll 

Tax Returns / OASDI, Federal Tax 

Deposits, Adjustments, etc. 

5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department Preference; IRS: 4 yrs after 

tax is due or paid; Ca. FTB: 3 years;  

IRS Reg §31.6001-1(e)(2), R&T 

§19530; 29CFR 516.5 - 516.6, 29USC 

436, GC §34090

Finance / 

Payroll
FIN-036 Deferred Compensation (City Statements) 5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Produced by Deferred Comp. Provider; 

GC §34090; 26 CFR 31.6001.1

Finance / 

Payroll
FIN-037 Employee Payroll Files - Includes W-4s

Separation + 

5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference; Meets 

municipal government auditing 

standards; W-4s are required four 

years after the due date of such tax for 

the return period to which the records 

relate, or the date such tax is paid, 

whichever is the later.  26 CFR 31-6001-

1; GC §34090

Finance / 

Payroll
FIN-038 Garnishments

Satisfied + 5 

years, or 

Separation 

of Employee

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
GC §34090; 26 CFR 31.6001.1

Finance / 

Payroll
FIN-039 Payroll Database 

Minimum 5 

years 
Yes

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Data Fields / Records are interrelated; 

GC §34090

Finance / 

Payroll
FIN-040

Payroll Reports - Periodic  Bi-weekly 

Payroll Report 
5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference; Meets 

municipal government auditing 

standards; PERS Circular letter 200-

051-17; GC §34090

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 12.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  FINANCE Page FIN-7

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Finance / 

Payroll
FIN-041

Time Sheets / Time Cards / Overtime 

Sheets / Overtime Cards
5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference; Meets auditing 

standards (audit + 4 years); IRS 

requires 4 years; Ca. requires 2 yr min.; 

FTB keeps 3 years; Most Employees 

provide digital signatures when they 

submit their timecards, but some in 

Public Works and Community Services 

do not (another employee enters their 

time); IRS Reg §31.6001-1(e)(2), R&T 

§19530; LC § 1174(d); 29 CFR 516.5; 

29 CFR 516.5 & 516.6(c);  GC §34090

Finance / 

Payroll
FIN-042 W-2's 5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference for Grant 

Auditing Purposes; Meets municipal 

government auditing standards;  GC 

§34090

FINANCE / PURCHASING

Finance / 

Purchasing
FIN-043 Purchase Order Database (Fund Balance)

Minimum 5 

years 
Yes

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

Data Fields / Records are interrelated; 

GC §34090

Finance / 

Purchasing
FIN-044

Purchase Orders and Backup (Quotations, 

RFPs, Bids, Requisitions)
7 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Department preference; 5 years meets 

municipal government auditing 

standards and Statute of Limitations for 

contracts; Purchasing preference (48 

CFR 4.805 requires Federal Agencies 

to retain their contracts, unsuccessful & 

successful proposals 6 years after final 

payment); CCP §337 et. seq.; GC 

§34090

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 12.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  FINANCE Page FIN-8

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention No. Records Description
Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper after 

Imaged & 

QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Finance / 

Information 

Technology

FIN-045
Backups - Computer Backups (ALL 

Disaster Recovery Computer Backups)  

When No 

Longer 

Required 

Yes

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Used for Disaster Recovery Purposes 

Only; Considered a copy and can be 

destroyed when no longer required; GC 

§34090 et seq.

Finance / 

Information 

Technology

FIN-047
Enterprise System Catalogue (Listing of 

Enterprise-wide Software, posted on line)

When 

Superseded
Yes

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD
GC §34090 et seq.

Finance / 

Information 

Technology

FIN-048 Network Configuration Maps & Plans

When No 

Longer 

Required

Yes

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

Preliminary documents not retained in 

the ordinary course of business; GC 

§34090 et seq.

Finance / 

Information 

Technology

FIN-049

UNALTERABLE MEDIA / IMMUTABLE 

CLOUD BACKUP  (WORM / DVD-r / CD-r 

/ Blue Ray-R) or other unalterable media 

that does not permit additions, deletions, 

or changes

P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I
Yes:  After 

QC & OD

For legal compliance for Trustworthy 

Electronic Records (when the electronic 

record serves as the official record); 

must be stored in a "safe and separate 

location"; GC 34090, 12168.7, EVC 

1550, 2 CCR 22620 et seq.

Finance / 

Information 

Technology

FIN-050

Video Recordings - Department Activity  

(Employees Performing Work, Cashiering, 

Building Security, etc.)

See City Clerk's schedule for City Council 

Video Recordings

1 year Mag GC §34090.6 et seq,

Finance / 

Information 

Technology

FIN-051

Video Recordings - Public Activity  

(Doors, Hallways, Parks, Public Areas, 

etc.)

See City Clerk's schedule for City Council 

Video Recordings

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag
Does not record regular ongoing 

operations of the City; GC §34090.6(a)

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 11.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  MUNICIPAL SERVICES Page MS-1

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention 

No.
Records Description

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged 

& QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                       

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.

HOLDS: Litigation, claims, complaints, audits, public records requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement).                                            

MUNICIPAL SERVICES / ADMINISTRATION

Municipal 

Services / 

Admin. 

MS-001
Beautification Committee

AGENDAS, AGENDA PACKETS

 Minimum 2 

years
  

Mag, 

Mfr, OD,  

 Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department Preference; GC §34090

City Clerk MS-002
Beautification Committee

MINUTES, BYLAWS

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Yes

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

GC §34090.7

Municipal 

Services / 

Admin. 

MS-003 CHP-180, Towing form 2 years   

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

GC §34090

Municipal 

Services / 

Admin. 

MS-004 Emergency Preparedness / Plans 
Superseded 

+ 2 years
  

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference; GC §34090

Municipal 

Services / 

Admin. 

MS-005 EOC Activations / FEMA or OES Claims 10 years   

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference; GC §34090

Municipal 

Services / 

Admin. 

MS-006 Law Enforcement Support / Tracker Devices 2 years   

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Sheriff is contracted; GC §34090

Municipal 

Services / 

Admin. 

MS-007 Neighborhood Block Party Permits 2 years   

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

GC §34090

Municipal 

Services / 

Admin. 

MS-008
Parking Notices / 72 Hour Warnings (Those not 

attached to CHP-180, towing form)
2 years   

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

GC §34090

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2010 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 11.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  MUNICIPAL SERVICES Page MS-2

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention 

No.
Records Description

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged 

& QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                       

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.

HOLDS: Litigation, claims, complaints, audits, public records requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement).                                            

MUNICIPAL SERVICES / ANIMAL CONTROL 

Municipal 

Services / 

Animal 

Control

MS-009

Animal Address Files:  Bite Reports, 

Complaints, Cruelty Investigations and 

Administrative Hearing Officer Findings, 

Dangerous Dog Reports, Impound Notices, 

Investigations, Barking Dogs, Loose Dogs, etc.

When 

Animal 

Deceased, 

Minimum 3 

years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department Preference; GC §34090 et seq.

Municipal 

Services / 

Animal 

Control

MS-010
Animal Permits /  Registration Database  

(Shelter Pro)

 Minimum 3 

years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference; Data is interrelated; 

GC §34090 

Municipal 

Services / 

Animal 

Control

MS-011
Animal Registration Applications (Includes 

Rabies and Spay certificates)
3 years Yes 

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department Preference; GC §34090 et seq.

Municipal 

Services / 

Animal 

Control

MS-011.5
Animals - Record of All Efforts to Contact 

Owner and/or Microchip’s Primary Registrant 
2 years Yes 

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

FA §§31108.3 and 31752.1; GC §34090

Municipal 

Services / 

Animal 

Control

MS-012 Shelter Slips 3 years Yes 

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference; 3 years is required for 

animal treatment records; FA §32003(e), PC 

§597.1(d); CCP §§336(a), 337 et. seq., GC 

§34090

MUNICIPAL SERVICES / CODE ENFORCEMENT

Municipal 

Services / 

Code 

Enforce.

MS-013.1 Administrative Citations and Appeals
 Minimum 2 

years

Yes:  Until 

Resolution

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference; GC §34090

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2010 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 11.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE:  MUNICIPAL SERVICES Page MS-3

Office of 

Record 

(OFR)

Retention 

No.
Records Description

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged 

& QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                       

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.

HOLDS: Litigation, claims, complaints, audits, public records requests, and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement).                                            

Municipal 

Services / 

Code 

Enforce.

MS-013

Code Enforcement / Abatement Case Files / 

Substandard Buildings (Includes appeals and 

Code Enforcement Complaint Letters)

 Minimum 2 

years

Yes:  Until 

Resolution

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference (some cases are 

funded by CDBG); Case is open until 

satisfactorily resolved (some cases are not 

resolved); 2 CFR 200.333; 24 CFR 92.505, 

570.490, & 570.502(a&b), 29 CFR 97.42; 

OMB Circular A-110 & A-133; GC §34090

Municipal 

Services / 

Code 

Enforce.

MS-014 Liens and Releases P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

GC §34090

Municipal 

Services / 

Parking 

Enforce.

MS-015 Parking Contesting Forms:  Step 1, 2 and 3 2 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

GC §34090 et seq.

Municipal 

Services / 

Parking 

Enforce.

MS-016
Parking District Formation, Boundaries & 

History (if used)
P Yes

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference; GC §34090 et seq.

Municipal 

Services / 

Parking 

Enforce.

MS-017

Parking Permit Database / Data Ticket 

(Payment Processing Center, Refunds, On-Line 

Contests, etc.)

Minimum 2 

years
  

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Data is interrelated; GC §34090

Municipal 

Services / 

Parking 

Enforce.

MS-018
Parking Permits Applications (RV Applications, 

Oversize Permits)
2 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

GC §34090 et seq.

MUNICIPAL SERVICES / PARKING ENFORCEMENT

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2010 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 9.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE: PUBLIC WORKS

(ALL DIVISIONS)

Page PW-1

Office of 

Record (OFR)
Retention No. Records Description

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged 

& QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

PUBLIC WORKS / ENGINEERING - PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY PROJECTS

Public Works / 

Engineering  - 

Public Right-of 

Way

PW-001

Capital Improvement Projects (CIP):  

Administration File 

Project Administration, Certified Payrolls, 

Construction Manager's Logs, Daily Inspections,  

Daily Logs,  Hazardous Materials Plans, Meeting 

Minutes, Photos, Project Schedules, Progress 

meetings, Punch Lists, Real Estate Appraisals,  

RFIs & Responses

Completion 

+ 10 years 

or After 

Funding 

Agency 

Audit, if 

required, 

whichever is 

longer

Yes:  Until 

Completed

Mag, 

Mfr, OD,  

 Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Some grant funding agencies require 

audits; Statute of Limitations for Errors & 

Omissions is 10 years; Statute of 

Limitations: Contracts & Spec's=4 years, 

Wrongful Death=comp. + 5 years, 

Developers=comp. + 10 years; CCP 

§337 et. seq., GC §34090

Public Works / 

Engineering  - 

Public Right-of 

Way

PW-002

Capital Improvement Projects (CIP):  Permanent 

File 

Specifications & Addenda, Contract Copies, 

Change Orders, CEQA / Environmental 

Documents - EIRs, Negative Declarations, 

Exemptions, Materials Testing Reports, Soil 

Reports, Studies, Submittals, Successful 

Proposal, Surveys, etc.  

P
Yes:  Until 

Completed

Mag, 

Mfr, OD,  

 Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference; retained for 

disaster preparedness purposes;   Final 

environmental determinations are 

required to be kept a "reasonable period 

of time"; 14 CCR §15095(c);  CCP §337 

et. seq., GC §34090

Public Works / 

Engineering  - 

Public Right-of 

Way

PW-003

Drawings, Maps, Plans and Record Drawings, 

Large-Format Drawings, Survey Record Maps,  

Capital Improvement Project  "As-Built"

P Yes (all)

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Drafts should be destroyed; Some maps 

are also retained by Planning; Selected 

maps are retained in Public Works for 

administrative purposes; GC §34090, 

34090.7

Public Works / 

Engineering  - 

Public Right-of 

Way

PW-004

Easements, Right of Ways

Deeds are sent to the City Clerk

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, 

Mfr, OD,  

 Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Send all originals to the City Clerk; GC 

§34090.7

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 9.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE: PUBLIC WORKS

(ALL DIVISIONS)

Page PW-2

Office of 

Record (OFR)
Retention No. Records Description

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged 

& QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Public Works / 

Engineering  - 

Public Right-of 

Way

PW-005

Encroachment Permits / Excavation Permits:  

Temporary (Street Permits, Temporary 

Construction, Sidewalk Repairs, Traffic Control, 

Transportation Permits, Utility Cuts, etc.)

Includes Insurance Certificates

Final / 

Completion 

+ 5  years

Yes:  Until 

Completion

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference; GC § 34090

Public Works / 

Engineering  - 

Public Right-of 

Way

PW-006
Encroachments - Permanent 

(Permanent structures in the City's Right of Way)
P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department Preference; GC §34090

Public Works / 

Engineering  - 

Public Right-of 

Way

PW-007

Engineering Studies / Surveys (Public Right-of-

Way) - Geotechnical and Soil Reports / 

Hydrology Reports / Preliminary Studies / Project 

Assessments

P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD,  

 Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department Preference; GC §34090

Public Works / 

Engineering  - 

Public Right-of 

Way

PW-008 Grading Plans (Public Right of Way) P

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department Preference; GC §34090

PUBLIC WORKS / ENGINEERING - TRANSPORTATION

Public Works / 

Engineering / 

Transportation

PW-009 Schedule for Pavement Overlays 10 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference; GC §34090

Public Works / 

Engineering / 

Transportation

PW-010
Traffic Calming Requests / Stop Sign Surveys 

(Speed Humps, etc.)
10 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference; GC §34090

Sheriff PW-011 Traffic Collision Reports / SWTRS

Copies - 

When No 

Longer 

Required

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

copies; GC §34090.7

Public Works / 

Engineering / 

Transportation

PW-012

Traffic Committee (internal employee committee) 

– ALL records (Agendas, Reports, 

Correspondence)

10 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference; GC §34090

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 9.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE: PUBLIC WORKS

(ALL DIVISIONS)

Page PW-3

Office of 

Record (OFR)
Retention No. Records Description

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged 

& QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Public Works / 

Engineering / 

Transportation

PW-013 Traffic Counts 10 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference; GC §34090

Public Works / 

Engineering / 

Transportation

PW-014 Traffic Signal Timing Plans

Current Plan 

Superseded 

+ 5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference; GC §34090

Public Works / 

Engineering / 

Transportation

PW-015 Traffic Speed Surveys / Stop Sign Warrants 10 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference (required every 5 

years, but can be extended to 7 or 10 

years); GC §34090

Public Works / 

Engineering / 

Transportation

PW-016
Transportation Permits issued by the City (Wide 

Load Permits, Heavy Load Permits, etc.) 
2 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

GC §34090

PUBLIC WORKS / ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

Public Works / 

Solid Waste
PW-017.1 Construction & Demolition Applications 

Completion 

+ 2 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

GC §34090

Public Works / 

Solid Waste
PW-017 Prop. 218 Fees & Charges:  Master Mailing List 2 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

GC §34090

Public Works / 

Solid Waste
PW-018 Prop. 218 Fees & Charges:  Undeliverable Mail 3 months

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Transitory records not retained in the 

ordinary course of business; GC §34090

Public Works / 

Solid Waste
PW-019

Solid Waste / SB 90 Reports / Waste Reduction / 

Tonnage Reports / AB 939 Compliance / SB 

1383 Compliance (Organic Waste Collection and 

Recycling)

10 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference; SB 1383 

compliance is required for 5 years 14 

CCR § 18995.2; GC §34090

Public Works / 

Solid Waste
PW-020 Stormwater:  NPDES Monitoring Reports 3 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD 

Department preference; Monitoring 

records required for 3 years; 40 CFR 

§§122.21, 122.41

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 9.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE: PUBLIC WORKS

(ALL DIVISIONS)

Page PW-4

Office of 

Record (OFR)
Retention No. Records Description

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged 

& QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Public Works / 

Solid Waste
PW-021

Stormwater:  NPDES Permits / Water Quality 

Permits 

Permit 

Superseded 

+ 3 years

Yes:  Until 

Expiration

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department Preference  Monitoring 

records required for 3 years; 40 CFR 

§§122.21, 122.41; CCP §337 et seq.

Public Works / 

Solid Waste
PW-022 Street Sweeping Records 3 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD 

Department preference; Monitoring 

records required for 3 years; 40 CFR 

§§122.21, 122.41

PUBLIC WORKS / MAINTENANCE 

Public Works / 

Maint.
PW-023 AQMD Permits (Generators, etc.)

Issue Date + 

5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

40 CFR 70.6; GC §34090

Lead Dept. PW-024 Generator Operation Logs & Inspections 5 years   

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

AQMD Rule 1470;  Form 400–E–13a 

instructions; GC §34090

Public Works / 

Street 

Maintenance

PW-025 Graffiti Consent Forms / Agreements
Expiration + 

2 years
  

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

GC §34090

Lead Dept. PW-026
Operations & Maintenance Manuals (O&M 

Manuals)

Life of 

Facility or 

Equipment

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department Preference; GC §34090 et. 

seq.

Public Works / 

Street 

Maintenance

PW-027 Sidewalk Maintenance Log 10 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference (stored in GIS); 

GC §34090

Public Works / 

Street 

Maintenance

PW-028
Tree Maintenance Database (West Coast 

Arborists)
7 years   

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Data is interrelated; GC §34090

Public Works / 

Equip. Maint. & 

Fleet

PW-029 Underground Service Alerts (USA's) / Dig Alert 3 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department preference; entered into 

DigAlert Software; the Excavator, 

Operator and the Regional Notification 

Cetner all have an obligation to retain for 

3 years; GC §§4216.2(f); GC §34090

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



Ver. 9.0 RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE: PUBLIC WORKS

(ALL DIVISIONS)

Page PW-5

Office of 

Record (OFR)
Retention No. Records Description

Total 

Retention
Vital?

Media 

Options

Image:  

I=Import 

M=Mfr 

S=Scan

Destroy 

Paper 

after 

Imaged 

& QC'd?

Comments / Reference

If the record is not listed here, refer to the Retention for City-Wide Standards                                                                                                                                                                         

Retentions begin when the act is completed, and imply a full file folder (e.g. last document + 2 years), since destruction is normally performed by file folder.                                                       

HOLDS: Litigation, complaints, claims, public records act requests, audits and/or investigations suspend normal retention periods (retention resumes after settlement or completion).

Division 

Providing 

Service / Work

PW-030

Work Orders / Service Requests -   CRM / CMMS 

DATABASE (Computerized Maintenance 

Management System)

Minimum 5 

years
  

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Data is interrelated; GC §34090

Division 

Providing 

Service / Work

PW-031

Work Orders / Service Requests  - All 

Information Entered in CRM / CMMS Database

(Paper drafts)

When No 

Longer 

Required

  

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Preliminary drafts (the database is the 

original); GC §34090

Division 

Providing 

Service / Work

PW-032

Work Orders / Service Requests - NOT entered 

in CRM / CMMS Database (or partial information 

entered into CMMS Database)

(Division providing service retains originals; 

Division requesting service is considered a copy)

5 years   

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

City Preference; CCP §§338 et seq., 340 

et seq., 342, GC §, GC §34090

PUBLIC WORKS / FLEET

Public Works / 

Fleet
PW-033 Inspections or Audits by the DMV & CHP 5 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Consistent with CHP requirements; 

OSHA requires 1 year; 8 Ca. Code Reg. 

§ 3203(b)(1); GC § 34090

Public Works / 

Fleet
PW-034

Pre-Trip Inspections / Vehicle Safety Checks / 

Daily Vehicle Inspections / Daily Equipment 

Checks 

2 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

13 CCR 1234(e); VC 34505.5(c); 49 CFR 

396.11; GC §34090

Public Works / 

Fleet
PW-035

Vehicle & Equipment History Files

Maintenance, Smog Certificates, Registrations, 

Inspections, Testing of Push-out Windows, 

Emergency Doors, etc.

Disposal of 

Vehicle or 

Equipment + 

2 years

Mag, 

Mfr, OD, 

Ppr

S / I

Yes:  

After QC 

& OD

Department Preference; If a motor 

carrier, required for 18 months after 

vehicle is sold; CHP requires life of 

vehicle; OSHA requires 1 year; 8 CCR § 

3203(b)(1); 49 CFR 396.21(b)(1); 49 

CFR 396.3; CCP §337 et. seq., 3 CCR 

1234(f);  GC §34090

LAWNDALE, CA.  ©1995-2020 Gladwell Governmental Services, Inc. - all rights reserved

Do not duplicate or distribute without prior written permission from GGS (909) 337-3516 Adopted: 



CITY OF LAWNDALE
14717 BURIN AVENUE, LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA 90260

PHONE (310) 973-3200 ♦ www.lawndalecity.org

 

DATE:    April 21, 2025

TO:   Honorable Mayor and City Council

FROM: Dr. Sean M. Moore, City Manager

PREPARED BY: Yvette Palomo, Assistant City Clerk

SUBJECT: Consider Cancelation of July 7, 2025, City Council Meeting
 

BACKGROUND

The City is observing the Fourth of July Holiday on Thursday, July 3, 2025. City Council has in the past
expressed a wish to cancel City Council meetings that are close to or occur on City observed holidays and
for which no pressing business is anticipated. 

STAFF REVIEW

Due to the Fourth of July Holiday, the City Council may wish to cancel its meeting scheduled on Monday,
July 7, 2025.     
 
A review of the upcoming agenda items by staff found no pressing agenda items for the meeting listed
above. At this time, canceling the meeting will not present any impact to operations or City business. If
canceled, staff would ensure that necessary business is addressed at meetings prior to or following the
canceled meeting and plan accordingly. If unforeseen urgent business needs to be addressed, a special
meeting could always be called if the City Council does decide to cancel this meeting.   

LEGAL REVIEW

The City Attorney has reviewed and approved this report. 

FISCAL IMPACT

None.  

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends that the City Council:

1. Cancel the scheduled City Council meeting on July 7, 2025, due to the Fourth of July Holiday; or
2. Make no changes to the City Council meeting scheduled for July 7, 2025; or
3. Provide the City Manager and staff with alternative direction.

 



CITY OF LAWNDALE
14717 BURIN AVENUE, LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA 90260

PHONE (310) 973-3200 ♦ www.lawndalecity.org

 

DATE:    April 21, 2025

TO:   Honorable Mayor and City Council

FROM: Dr. Sean M. Moore, City Manager

PREPARED BY: Grace Huizar, Senior Management Analyst
Lucho Rodriguez, Public Works Director

SUBJECT: 
Presentation by Andrew Njumba, Assistant Deputy Director, Sewer Maintenance
Division, Los Angeles County Public Works; Regarding Notification of Proposed
Rate Increase - Consolidated Sewer Maintenance District

 
BACKGROUND
The Los Angeles County Public Works Department (LACDPW) has notified the City of Lawndale of a
proposed rate increase for sewer services, effective July 1, 2025. This increase triggers the requirements
under Proposition 218, which involves notifying property owners, holding a public hearing, and providing a
protest process.
 
STAFF REVIEW
On March 5, 2025, the City of Lawndale was notified by the Los Angeles County Public Works Department
that the Consolidated Sewer Maintenance District (CSMD) is proposing a rate increase to take effect on July
1, 2025. This increase will affect sewer services within the district, which include properties within the City
of Lawndale.
 
The current sewer service rate is $50.50 per parcel, and it has not been increased for the past 11 years. The
rate increase is necessary to cover the cost of services and to fund the necessary operations and maintenance
for residents and businesses.
 
The proposed rate increases will be incremental as illustrated in the table below:
District Current

Rate
FY 25-26 FY 26-27 FY 27-28 FY 28-29 FY 29-30 Total

Increase
Consolidated

Sewer
Maintenance

$50.50 $64.50 $78.50 $92.50 $93.87 $95.27  

Increase
Amount

 $14.00 $14.00 $14.00 $1.37 $1.40 $44.77

 
The proposed rate increase is subject to Proposition 218, which mandates a process of notifying property
owners and allowing them to protest certain types of rate increases for property-related fees, including sewer
service charges. The law requires the following steps to be followed for the rate increase proposed by
CSMD:
  

1. Mailing of Notices: The LACPWD is required to send a detailed notice to each affected property
owner. This notice must include information about the proposed rate increase, the reasons for the



increase, and how the new rates compare to the existing rates. The notice must be mailed at least 45
days before the public hearing, ensuring that property owners have ample time to review the proposed
rate increase, ask questions, and submit protests if desired.

2. Public Hearing: A public hearing is scheduled for Tuesday, June 24, 2025, at the County offices.  It
must be held where property owners can express their concerns or objections to the proposed rate
increase. This hearing must take place at least 45 days after the notices have been mailed before the rate
increase becomes effective.

3. Protest Process: Property owners have the right to submit protests against the proposed rate increase.
If written protests are received from property owners who own a majority of the properties within the
district (over 50% by value), the rate increase will not be implemented.

4. Summary of Proposed Rates: The notice must include a clear summary of the new rates, showing
how the rates will increase and the impact on property owners. It must also explain how the rates will
be used to fund sewer maintenance services.

 
If the rate increase is contested by a sufficient number of property owners, additional steps may need to be
taken to resolve the dispute. Otherwise, the new rates will become effective on July 1, 2025.
 
LEGAL REVIEW
The staff report was reviewed and approved by the City Attorney.
 
FISCAL IMPACT
There is no fiscal impact to the City’s budget.
  
RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommends that the City Council acknowledge the notification received from the Los Angeles County
Public Works Department regarding the proposed rate increase for the Consolidated Sewer Maintenance
District. This is only an informational report about the LA County’s Consolidated Sewer Maintenance
District Proposed Rate Increase.  No City Council action is required.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Attachments

Attachment A - LACDPW Presentation - Sewer Rate Increase Lawndale cc.pdf

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67dc5cc3f5b121006b176c20%2FLACDPW%20Presentation%20-%20Sewer%20Rate%20Increase%20Lawndale%20cc.pdf?alt=media&token=1b2d8ccb-951d-4566-b62e-21bebed2dc35
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67dc5cc3f5b121006b176c20%2FLACDPW%20Presentation%20-%20Sewer%20Rate%20Increase%20Lawndale%20cc.pdf?alt=media&token=1b2d8ccb-951d-4566-b62e-21bebed2dc35
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67dc5cc3f5b121006b176c20%2FLACDPW%20Presentation%20-%20Sewer%20Rate%20Increase%20Lawndale%20cc.pdf?alt=media&token=1b2d8ccb-951d-4566-b62e-21bebed2dc35


ATTACHMENT  A



Consolidated Sewer 
Maintenance District 
Proposed Rate 
Increase

Presented by:
Andrew Ngumba
Assistant Deputy Director
Sewer Maintenance Division



What We Will Cover

LA County Public Works | Consolidated Sewer Maintenance District Rate Increase



Consolidated Sewer Maintenance District

LA County Public Works | Consolidated Sewer Maintenance District Rate Increase

500,000+ parcels

2 million+ customers

38 member cities

  

4,600 miles of sanitary sewers

87 pump stations

4 wastewater treatment plants



Consolidated Sewer Maintenance District

LA County Public Works | Consolidated Sewer Maintenance District Rate Increase

• Six Maintenance Yards
• 200+ Employees



Sewer System

LA County Public Works | Consolidated Sewer Maintenance District Rate Increase



Los Angeles County Public Works

LA County Public Works | Consolidated Sewer Maintenance District Rate Increase

Public Works provides sewer maintenance services 
essential for:

 Public Health
 Environmental Protection
 Efficient Waste Management
 Support Economic Growth
 Resiliency & Sustainability



CSMD Services 

• Service requests – odors, 
noisy manholes, insects, etc.

• Sewer manhole inspections
• Sewer pipeline cleanings
• Operation, inspection, and 

maintenance of pump 
stations

• Closed-Circuit Television 
Inspections

• Compliance with regulatory 
requirements

PREVENTATIVE MAINTENANCE

• Sanitary sewer stoppages 
and backups

• Pump station malfunctions
• Sanitary sewer overflows

24-HOUR EMERGENCY RESPONSE

• Plan review for maintenance 
needs

• CCTV Condition Assessment 
Program

• Private Contract/New sewer 
acceptance review

• Sewer line and pump station 
repair/rehabilitation

• GIS mapping
• Enhanced asset 

management

CONDITION ASSESSMENT AND 
REPAIRS

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Public Works is responsible for ensuring the efficient operation and upkeep of the region’s sewer system. The categories of sewer services that Public Works provides include:Preventative Maintenance Service requestsRegulatory compliance Sewer line cleanings Capital Improvement Projects Sewer line and pump station repair, rehabilitation, and replacementPlanning for future maintenance needs 24-Hour Emergency Response Responding to sewer overflows, stoppages, and backups Resolving station malfunctions 



City Information

Note: City owns sewer infrastructure

LA County Public Works | Consolidated Sewer Maintenance District Rate Increase

5,796 parcels

11,339 Sewage Units

76,916 feet of sewer pipes

700 sewer manholes

Maintenance (2024)
• 74, 780 feet of sewer pipes cleaned
• Each manhole inspected twice a year
• Spot repairs



Proposed 2025 Rate Increases

 Cover the costs of services

 Fund necessary operations and maintenance  

 Maintain essential services for Lawndale residents and businesses

 Sewer rates have not been raised for 11 years 

Proposition 218 
Government agencies are required to follow specific procedures for notifying customers when proposing increased 
service charges. 
 

Why Rate Increases Are Necessary for 2025

When Were Rates Last Adjusted?



CSMD Budget Breakdown

What Do Rates Pay For? Revenue and Expenditures without 
Rate Increase

Presenter
Presentation Notes
What Do Rates Pay For?This graphic on the left shows a breakdown of how funds from sewer rates are allocated: 60% - Preventative Maintenance of the System30% - Assessing the Condition of the System and Repair/Rehabilitation5% - 24-Hour Emergency Response (Ex: Sewage Overflows)5% - Administrative CostsCSMD Funds-at-a-Glance The graph on the left shows the revenue, expenditures, and fund balance from 2021 through 2030 without a rate increase.Costs to provide these services have continued to increase and the current rates do not cover the costs to provide sewer services. Without a rate increase in 2025, the CSMD will enter a negative fund balance and will not be able to provide the current level of service for the region’s sewer system. 



Proposed 2025 Rate Increase

LA County Public Works | Consolidated Sewer Maintenance District Rate Increase

Proposed CSMD Rate Increases by Sewer Unit

DISTRICT CURRENT 
RATES FY 25-26 FY 26-27 FY 27-28 FY 28-29 FY 29-30 Total Increase 

(FY 24 – FY 30) 

CSMD $50.50 $64.50
($5.38/mo) 

$78.50
($6.54/mo) 

$92.50
($7.71/mo) 

$94.35
($7.86/mo) 

$96.24
($8.02/mo) 

Increase 
Amount $14.00 $14.00 $14.00 $1.85 $1.89 $45.74

(Proposed CSMD Rate) x (No. of Property Sewage Units) 
= New Sewer Rate

Number of Sewage Units by Land Use
Land Use Number of 

Sewage 
Units

Vacant Residential Property 0.5
Single Residential Unit 1
Duplex (Two Units) 2
Three Units 3
Four Units 4
Five or more Apartments 5
Modular Homes (per unit) 1
Mobile Homes (per unit) 1



Sewer Rate 
Comparison

$50.50

$139.58 

$195.00

$153.25

$175.00

$45.00 

$175.00

$199.00

$357.27 

C S M D  C I T I E S H E R M O S A  B E A C H R E D O N D O  B E A C H  C O M P T O N  C U L V E R  C I T Y  

RESIDENTIAL ANNUAL SEWER RATES COMPARISON FISCAL 
YEAR 2023-24

Collection Charge LAC Sanitation Districts Treatment Charge Combined Collection and Treatment Charge



Sewer Rate 
Comparison

(After 
Increase)



Proposition 218 Outreach

Community-Based Outreach Approach:
 Informed by community-analytics
 Prioritize disadvantaged communities

Outreach Goals:
 Conduct community specific outreach
 Establish transparent communication
 Inform customers about proposed rates
 Communicate the need for a rate increase 



Proposition 218 Outreach Timeline

January 2025

Finalize Rate Study

February 2025

March – April 2025

Begin Prop 218 Outreach

May – June 2025

Proposition 218 Notices Mailed (May)
Public Open Houses, Community 
Events, Webinars 
Public Hearing Date – June 24

July 2025

If Approved, New Rates Go into Effect

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Looking at the timeline for this Proposition 218 outreach effort: In January 2025, the rate study was finalized which looked at the long-term financial plan for the CSMD and the Topanga Zone and developed the needed proposed rate structure to keep the system going. In March and April, we initiated Prop 218 outreach – Scheduling presentations, attending events, and attending community group presentationsIn early May, Proposition 218 Notices will be mailed to all customers, which will include an invitation to outreach events: Open Houses Community Meetings Webinars These events are the best place to engage with the Public Works team, ask questions, and provide feedback. As part of our efforts to be abundantly transparent, we are coming to your group in advance of when these notices will go out. Once the notices go out, we welcome residents to call, email, or attend an event to provide feedback directly to Public Works. The Public Hearing date where the proposed rates will be approved or denied, is June 24. And if the proposed increase is approved, new rates will go into effect in July 2025. 



Proposition 218 Notices

 Required Prop 218 Information

 Public Works Services

 Contact Information for Questions

 Open House and Webinar Dates

 Infographics

 Links to Additional Resources

 Spanish and English Notices

Notices Mailed: Early May 2025

Proposition 218 Notices Include: 



Contact Us!

General comments and questions:
 Email: SMDOffice@dpw.lacounty.gov
 Call: 1-888-88SEWER (1-888-887-3937)

Sewage Overflow HELP line:
 Call: 1-800-675-HELP (4357)

mailto:SMDOffice@dpw.lacounty.gov


Questions?

LA County Public Works | Consolidated Sewer Maintenance District Rate Increase



CITY OF LAWNDALE
14717 BURIN AVENUE, LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA 90260

PHONE (310) 973-3200 ♦ www.lawndalecity.org

 

DATE:    April 21, 2025

TO:   Honorable Mayor and City Council

FROM: Dr. Sean M. Moore, City Manager

PREPARED BY: Lucho Rodriguez, Public Works Director

SUBJECT: Traffic Calming Efforts for 147th Street
 

BACKGROUND

147th Street extends for approximately 4,500 feet in the East-West direction across the City of Lawndale. 
147th Street is divided into two sections, one section is from Inglewood Avenue to Grevillea Avenue, and the
second extending from Hawthorne Blvd to Prairie Avenue.  Both sections of 147th Street are different in
street geometrics and speed limit.

Section two is from Hawthorne Blvd. To Prairie Ave. and was studied in detail in 2024 by Advantec
Consulting Engineers (Advantec) to analyze the existing conditions of the road to enhance the safety and
visibility of it (Attachment 1). In November 18, 2024, staff presented the findings of the analysis report to
City Council to receive and file or provide further direction to staff.  At the time, the stop signs on that street
had been replaced with new signs using the latest in reflectivity materials, and the crosswalks had been
painted at Freeman Avenue, Eastwood Avenue, and Osage avenue with new yellow retro-reflective
thermoplastic paint to enhance the safety of the intersections following the recommendations of the 147th St
analysis report. 

At the meeting, it was decided to monitor the area to see if there had been any change in drivers behavior
following the new crosswalk striping and new stop signs, considering that Section one of 147th Street, from
Inglewood Avenue to Grevillea Avenue had recently been resurfaced and re-striped as well.

On March 17, 2025 Staff brought to City Council for review the current Speed Hump Policy; City Council
provided direction to staff to update the policy to include modern measures of traffic calming devices and
measures, including speed humps.

At the  April 7, 2025, City Council meeting, staff was directed to propose immediate temporary solutions
and long term permanent solutions to the issue of drivers not stopping at stop signs and speeding through
147th Street. 

In February 2025 City began deploying the new Radar Speed Trailers to 147th Street as part of the
educational efforts to controlling speeding in the area.  Additionally, the Sheriff 's Department added
patrolling to the area to provide additional enforcement.

STAFF REVIEW

Following the March 17th, 2025, and the April 7, 2025, City Council meetings staff reached out to traffic
engineers to request proposals for the preparation of the citywide speed humps and traffic calming devices
policy and guidelines, and for the design of temporary and permanent traffic calming solutions for 147th
Street.



In the interim, while proposals are being received, staff reviewed both sections of 147th Street to begin
formulating possible solutions in efforts to calm traffic.  The Advantec report of August 2024, provided a
series of alternatives to be implemented between Hawthorne Blvd. and Prairie Avenue that would reduce the
number of travel lanes from 4 to 2, and add bicycle lanes, if desired.  Implementing a solution that reduces
the number of lanes on the road, would allow for the reassessment of the speed limit in that section of the
road to see if the speed can be reduced from 35 MPH to 25 MPH.

The Advantec report also studied the need for traffic signals at the intersections on this portion of 147th
Street.  The results concluded that none of the intersections on 147th Street from Larch Avenue to Avis
Avenue meet the criteria for a traffic signal.

Incorporating speed humps on this portion of the road will require for a traffic engineer to design the best
locations and spacing, and the best time to include speed humps is when the street reconfiguration project
occurs.

Additional measures that will be evaluated with the new report for 147th Street from Inglewood Avenue to
Grevillea Avenue, are the possibility of not allowing traffic to enter 147th Street from Inglewood Avenue;
147th Street would become only an exit route for the neighborhood.  This approach would require working
with the city of Redondo Beach as they have jurisdiction on the left turn on Inglewood Avenue on to 147th
Street, in addition to needed changes to the traffic signal timing at the intersection.  This section of 147th
Street may also benefit from the installation of angle parking in the first block where the street is wider,
which will be considered in the report, as it may be a way to calm traffic by reducing the street width.

In the meantime, while the traffic consultant develops the Speed Hump and Traffic Calming Devices policy,
and while the report for 147th Street from Inglewood Avenue to Grevillea Avenue is being prepared, staff is
reviewing options for implementing immediate temporary measures to help drivers better navigate the streets
and obey the laws.  One of the options could be the installation of lighted Traffic Barrels at all the
unsignalized intersections between Inglewood Avenue and Prairie Avenue.  These barrels would be installed
in clusters of four in the center of the intersections, possibly helping drivers notice the stop signs by having
to reduce their traveling speeds at these locations.  

The traffic barrels are not filled with any substance, they are mainly delineators with heights between 36
inches and 48 inches, the base diameter is 36 inches, weight 40 pounds, and they cost approximate $200
each.

Typical Lighted Traffic Barrel

Other types of barriers or temporary traffic circles could be used in the meantime at the center of the
intersections, pending a design by a traffic engineer.  Below are some examples of  installation of temporary
traffic circles, which could be permanent solutions if they prove efficient during a trial period.



 

 

 

LEGAL REVIEW

The City Attorney has reviewed this report and its content.



FISCAL IMPACT

The fiscal impact of this project will be known when the proposals for the Policy for traffic calming
measures, and the traffic report for West 147th Street are received.  Such reports will also have a
construction estimate for the options presented at the time.

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends City Council:  1. Direct staff on the installation of temporary lighted traffic barrels at all
street intersections on 147th Street; or 2. Direct staff to continue gathering proposals from traffic engineering
firms for the Traffic Calming Devices policy and Traffic Calming efforts on 147th Street, and present them
to City Council for approval and funding.

 

Attachments

A. 147th St. Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Blvd. and Prairie Ave.pdf

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67ffe508f87eb900462ed913%2FA.%20147th%20St.%20Roadway%20Analysis%20between%20Hawthorne%20Blvd.%20and%20Prairie%20Ave.pdf?alt=media&token=290d4bed-ce8e-461a-9f82-b22892c7f104
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67ffe508f87eb900462ed913%2FA.%20147th%20St.%20Roadway%20Analysis%20between%20Hawthorne%20Blvd.%20and%20Prairie%20Ave.pdf?alt=media&token=290d4bed-ce8e-461a-9f82-b22892c7f104
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67ffe508f87eb900462ed913%2FA.%20147th%20St.%20Roadway%20Analysis%20between%20Hawthorne%20Blvd.%20and%20Prairie%20Ave.pdf?alt=media&token=290d4bed-ce8e-461a-9f82-b22892c7f104


 

 

 

 

Attachment A 



City of Lawndale
147th Street Roadway Analysis Between 
Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 

Date: August 13, 2024 

Prepared by:



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

Page | i 

Table of Contents 
List of Figures ................................................................................................................................................ ii 
List of Tables ................................................................................................................................................ iii 
List of Appendices ........................................................................................................................................ iii 
1. Introduction ............................................................................................................................................ 1 

1.1 Study Area ...................................................................................................................................... 1 
2. Analysis Methodology ............................................................................................................................ 3 

2.1 Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis ....................................................................................................... 3 
3. Existing Conditions ................................................................................................................................. 3 

3.1 Roadway Description ..................................................................................................................... 3 
3.2 Intersection Geometry and Control ............................................................................................... 3 
3.3 Traffic Volumes .............................................................................................................................. 9 
3.4 Speed Data ................................................................................................................................... 10 
3.5 Collision History ............................................................................................................................ 10 

4. Speeding Analysis ................................................................................................................................. 11 
5. Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis ............................................................................................................. 12 

5.1 Warrant 1 – Eight-Hour Vehicular Volume ................................................................................... 12 
5.2 Warrant 2 – Four-Hour Vehicular Volume .................................................................................... 15 
5.3 Warrant 3 – Peak Hour Vehicular Volume .................................................................................... 16 
5.4 Warrant 4 – Pedestrian Volume ................................................................................................... 17 
5.5 Warrant 5 – School Crossing ......................................................................................................... 18 
5.6 Warrant 6 – Coordinated Signal System ....................................................................................... 18 
5.7 Warrant 7 – Crash Experience ...................................................................................................... 19 
5.8 Warrant 8 – Roadway Network .................................................................................................... 19 
5.9 Warrant 9 – Intersection Near Grade Crossing ............................................................................ 19 
5.10 Summary of Analysis and Results ............................................................................................... 19 

6. Proposed Recommendations ............................................................................................................... 20 
6.1 Summary of Analysis ..................................................................................................................... 20 
6.2 Recommended Alternative Improvements .................................................................................. 20 
6.2.1 General Improvements ....................................................................................................... 20 

6.2.2 Alternative 1 Road Diet Improvements .............................................................................. 21 

6.2.3 Alternative 2 Road Diet Improvements .............................................................................. 21 

6.2.4 Alternative 3 Road Diet Improvements .............................................................................. 22 

6.2.5 Alternative 4 Road Diet Improvements .............................................................................. 22 

6.2.6 Traffic Circle Improvements ................................................................................................ 39 

6.2.7 Bulb-Out Improvements ..................................................................................................... 40 

6.2.8 Final Recommendations ...................................................................................................... 40 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

Page | ii 

List of Figures 
Figure 1: Project Limits .................................................................................................................................... 2 
Figure 2: 147th Street at Larch Avenue— Existing Intersection Geometry and Control .................................. 4 
Figure 3: 147th Street at Freeman Avenue — Existing Intersection Geometry and Control ............................ 5 
Figure 4: 147th Street at Eastwood Avenue — Existing Intersection Geometry and Control .......................... 6 
Figure 5: 147th Street at Osage Avenue — Existing Intersection Geometry and Control ................................ 7 
Figure 6: 147th Street at Avis Avenue — Existing Intersection Geometry and Control ................................... 8 
Figure 7: Figure 4C-1. Warrant 2, Four-Hour Vehicular Volume for 147th Street at Larch Ave ..................... 15 
Figure 8: Figure 4C-1. Warrant 2, Four-Hour Vehicular Volume for 147th Street at Avis Ave ....................... 15 
Figure 9: Figure 4C-3. Warrant 3, Peak Hour Volume for 147th Street at Larch Avenue ............................... 16 
Figure 10: Figure 4C-3. Warrant 3, Peak Hour Volume for 147th Street at Avis Avenue ............................... 16 
Figure 11: Figure 4C-7. Warrant 4, Pedestrian Four-Hour Volume for 147th Street at Larch Avenue ........... 17 
Figure 12: Figure 4C-7. Warrant 4, Pedestrian Four-Hour Volume for 147th Street at Avis Avenue ............. 18 
Figure 13: Alternative 1 Improvements 1/4 .................................................................................................. 23 
Figure 14: Alternative 1 Improvements 2/4 .................................................................................................. 24 
Figure 15: Alternative 1 Improvements 3/4 .................................................................................................. 25 
Figure 16: Alternative 1 Improvements 4/4 .................................................................................................. 26 
Figure 17: Alternative 2 Improvements 1/4 .................................................................................................. 27 
Figure 18: Alternative 2 Improvements 2/4 .................................................................................................. 28 
Figure 19: Alternative 2 Improvements 3/4 .................................................................................................. 29 
Figure 20: Alternative 2 Improvements 4/4 .................................................................................................. 30 
Figure 21: Alternative 3 Improvements 1/4 .................................................................................................. 31 
Figure 22: Alternative 3 Improvements 2/4 .................................................................................................. 32 
Figure 23: Alternative 3 Improvements 3/4 .................................................................................................. 33 
Figure 24: Alternative 3 Improvements 4/4 .................................................................................................. 34 
Figure 25: Alternative 4 Improvements 1/4 .................................................................................................. 35 
Figure 26: Alternative 4 Improvements 2/4 .................................................................................................. 36 
Figure 27: Alternative 4 Improvements 3/4 .................................................................................................. 37 

Figure 28: Alternative 4 Improvements 4/4 .................................................................................................. 38  



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

Page | iii 

List of Tables 
Table 1: ADT Volumes along 147th Street Between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue ..................... 9 

Table 2: Peak Hour Turning Movement Counts ............................................................................................... 9 

Table 3: Radar Speed Survey Results ............................................................................................................. 10 

Table 4: Crash History .................................................................................................................................... 11 

Table 5: Highest Traffic Volumes for Eight Hours for 147th Street at Larch Avenue ...................................... 12 

Table 6: Highest Traffic Volumes for Eight Hours for 147th Street at Avis Avenue ........................................ 12 

Table 7: Warrant 1; Condition A for 147th Street at Larch Avenue ................................................................ 13 

Table 8: Warrant 1; Condition B for 147th Street at Larch Avenue ................................................................ 13 

Table 9: Warrant 1; Condition A for 147th Street at Avis Avenue .................................................................. 14 

Table 10: Warrant 1; Condition B for 147th Street at Avis Avenue ................................................................ 14 

Table 11: Pedestrian and Bicyclist Volumes at 147th Street at Larch Avenue ............................................... 17 

Table 12: Pedestrian and Bicyclist Volumes at 147th Street at Avis Avenue .................................................. 17 

Table 13: Signal Warrant Analysis Summary ................................................................................................. 19  

List of Appendices 
Appendix A: CAMUTCD Warrant Methodologies 
Appendix B: ADT Traffic Volumes 
Appendix C: Peak-Hour Turning Movement Volumes 
Appendix D: Speed Surveys 
Appendix E: Collision History 

Release Version: 
Release Date Version Prepared by: Reviewed by: 

8/13/2024 Version 1 NP JAD 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

Page | 1 

1. Introduction
ADVANTEC Consulting Engineers (ADVANTEC) was requested by the City of Lawndale to perform a Roadway 
Analysis at 147th Street between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue (project corridor). The purpose 
of this Roadway Analysis is to analyze the existing conditions of the project corridor to enhance the safety 
and visibility of and for motorists, cyclists, and pedestrians travelling on the project corridor. As part of the 
work, ADVANTEC conducted traffic signal warrant analyses at the intersections of 147th Street at Larch 
Avenue and 147th Street at Avis Avenue and safety analyses of the additional three intersections along 147th 
Street between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue. 

This report analyzes the corridor’s existing roadway layout, signage, striping, speeds, intersection control, 
traffic volumes, and collision history. This study also summarizes the results of the analysis and provides 
traffic calming alternatives and recommendations.  

1.1 Study Area 
The project intersections are located in the City of Lawndale in Los Angeles County. 147th Street runs east-
west and the adjacent land use is predominantly residential and commercial. Leuzinger High School is 
located north of the project vicinity. The project corridor consists of analyzing the following five (5) stop-
controlled intersections listed below. 

1. 147th Street at Larch Avenue (School Crossing)
2. 147th Street at Freeman Avenue
3. 147th Street at Eastwood Avenue
4. 147th Street at Osage Avenue
5. 147th Street at Avis Avenue (School Crossing)

Figure 1 illustrates the project limits and locations of the study intersections. 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

Page | 2 

Figure 1: Project Limits 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

Page | 3 

2. Analysis Methodology

2.1 Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis 

An engineering study of traffic conditions, pedestrian characteristics, and physical characteristics of the 
project intersections was performed to determine whether installation of a traffic control signal is justified 
at the intersections of 147th Street at Larch Avenue and 147th Street at Avis Avenue. The requirements set 
forth from the CAMUTCD 2014 edition was used to conduct the signal warrant analysis. There are nine (9) 
different traffic signal warrants per the CAMUTCD, and the installation of a traffic signal should be 
considered if one or more warrants are satisfied. The applicable sections and criteria per the CAMUTCD for 
the signal warrant analyses are provided in Appendix A. The following traffic signal warrant analysis sections 
of the CAMUTCD were evaluated:  

 Section 4C.02 Warrant 1, Eight-Hour Vehicular Volume
 Section 4C.03 Warrant 2, Four-Hour Vehicular Volume
 Section 4C.04 Warrant 3, Peak Hour
 Section 4C.05 Warrant 4, Pedestrian Volume
 Section 4C.06 Warrant 5, School Crossing
 Section 4C.07 Warrant 6, Coordinated Signal System
 Section 4C.08 Warrant 7, Crash Experience
 Section 4C.09 Warrant 8, Roadway Network
 Section 4C.10 Warrant 9, Intersection Near Grade Crossing

3. Existing Conditions
This section presents an overview of the existing study intersections and the roadway characteristics, 
intersection control, traffic volumes, existing speed, and collision history. The following presents a detailed 
assessment of these characteristics. 

3.1 Roadway Description 

147th Street is designated as a “Collector” in the City of Lawndale’s General Plan. This is an east-west four-
lane undivided roadway with street parking allowed along the roadway segment. The posted speed limit is 
35 miles per hour (mph) in both directions. This roadway connects Hawthorne Blvd and Prairie Ave, two 
major arterials. 

3.2 Intersection Geometry and Control 
147th Street at Larch Avenue 
147th Street at Larch Avenue is a four-legged intersection controlled by all-way stop signs. All four legs 
include yellow continental school crosswalks. Larch Avenue is a two-lane north-south roadway and is 
classified as a “collector” in the City of Lawndale’s General Plan. This roadway is one of the primary roads 
that the community uses to access Leuzinger High School. Street parking is allowed on both sides of the 
street along Larch Avenue. Figure 2Figure 2 illustrates the existing intersection geometry, and number of 
lanes along each roadway at this location.  



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

Page | 4 

Figure 2: 147th Street at Larch Avenue— Existing Intersection Geometry and Control 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

Page | 5 

147th Street at Freeman Avenue 
147th Street at Freeman Avenue is a four-legged intersection controlled by all-way stop signs. There are no 
marked crosswalks at any of the intersection legs. Freeman Avenue is a two-lane north-south roadway and 
is classified as a “local street” in the City of Lawndale’s General Plan. Street parking is allowed on both sides 
of the street along Freeman Avenue. Figure 3 illustrates the existing intersection geometry, and number of 
lanes along each roadway at this location.  

Figure 3: 147th Street at Freeman Avenue — Existing Intersection Geometry and Control 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

Page | 6 

147th Street at Eastwood Avenue 
147th Street at Eastwood Avenue is a four-legged intersection controlled by all-way stop signs. There are 
no marked crosswalks at any of the intersection legs. Eastwood Avenue is a two-lane north-south roadway 
and is classified as a “local street” in the City of Lawndale’s General Plan. Street parking is allowed on both 
sides of the street along Eastwood Avenue. Figure 4 illustrates the existing intersection geometry, and 
number of lanes along each roadway at this location.  

Figure 4: 147th Street at Eastwood Avenue — Existing Intersection Geometry and Control 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

Page | 7 

147th Street at Osage Avenue 
147th Street at Osage Avenue is a four-legged intersection controlled by all-way stop signs. There are no 
marked crosswalks at any of the intersection legs. Osage Avenue is a two-lane north-south roadway and is 
classified as a “local street” in the City of Lawndale’s General Plan. Street parking is allowed on both sides 
of the street along Freeman Avenue. Figure 5 illustrates the existing intersection geometry, and number of 
lanes along each roadway at this location.  

Figure 5: 147th Street at Osage Avenue — Existing Intersection Geometry and Control 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

Page | 8 

147th Street at Avis Avenue 
147th Street at Avis Avenue is a four-legged intersection controlled by all-way stop signs. All four legs include 
yellow continental school crosswalks. Avis Avenue is a two-lane north-south roadway and is classified as a 
“local street” in the City of Lawndale’s General Plan. This roadway is one of the primary roads that the 
community uses to access Leuzinger High School. Street parking is allowed on both sides of the street along 
Freeman Avenue. Figure 6 illustrates the existing intersection geometry, and number of lanes along each 
roadway at this location.  

Figure 6: 147th Street at Avis Avenue — Existing Intersection Geometry and Control 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

Page | 9 

3.3 Traffic Volumes 
Existing intersection traffic, pedestrian, and bicycle volumes are some of the primary factors used to 
determine if a traffic signal is warranted. Typically, the traffic volumes are collected on a representative day 
at the project intersection, such as a Tuesday, Wednesday, or Thursday, and include pedestrians and bicycle 
counts. 

ADVANTEC collected average daily traffic (ADT) vehicle counts along the project corridor on Wednesday, 
April 24th, 2024. The weekday ADT traffic counts were collected for 24 continuous hours. The ADT counts 
along 147th Street are provided in Table 1. ADVANTEC also collected peak hour vehicular, pedestrian and 
bicycle volumes on Wednesday, April 24th, 2024, at the intersections of 147th Street at Larch Avenue and 
147th Street at Avis Avenue. The peak hour turning movement volumes provided in Table 2. Detailed 24-
hour traffic count data is contained in Appendix B. The peak hour turning movement volumes, pedestrian 
volumes, and bicycle volumes are contained in Appendix C.  

Table 1: ADT Volumes along 147th Street Between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 

Location 
Posted 
Speed 

Date 
ADT Counts 

EB WB Combined 

147th St between Hawthorne Blvd and Larch Ave 35 mph April 24, 2024 1593 2180 3773 

147th St between Larch Ave and Freeman Ave 35 mph April 24, 2024 1798 1894 3692 

147th St between Freeman Ave and Osage Ave 35 mph April 24, 2024 1847 1891 3738 

147th Street between Osage Ave and Avis Ave 35 mph April 24, 2024 1896 1829 3725 

147th Street between Avis Ave and Prairie Ave 35 mph April 24, 2024 2440 1755 4195 

Table 2: Peak Hour Turning Movement Counts 

Date Peak 
Hour 

Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound 
Major 
Street 

(Total of 
Both 

Directions) 

Minor 
Street 

(Highest 
of Either 

Direction) 
L T R L T R L T R L T R 

147th Street at Larch Avenue 

April 
24, 

2024 

7:45 
AM-
8:45 
AM 

20 116 13 9 288 35 22 34 4 39 59 52 481 150 

April 
24, 

2024 

3:00 
PM-
4:00 
PM 

17 148 16 7 135 23 15 21 16 40 45 34 346 119 

147th Street at Avis Avenue 

April 
24, 

2024 

7:45 
AM-
8:45 
AM 

68 93 4 15 142 103 14 85 22 132 40 132 425 304 

April 
24, 

2024 

3:00 
PM-
4:00 
PM 

31 163 13 21 107 41 9 28 38 95 38 59 376 192 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

Page | 10 

3.4 Speed Data 
Existing vehicle speeds were surveyed by a certified radar operator with a calibrated radar unit in an 
unmarked vehicle. Speed samples taken on the street segment represent a statistically significant sample 
of the current traffic. This data is essential to evaluate the distribution of speeds on a street segment. 

A key element of this evaluation is identifying the 85th percentile speed. The 85th percentile speed is the 
speed at or below which 85% of the traffic travels. This threshold represents what is historically found to be 
a safe and reasonable speed for most drivers based on common roadway conditions. Speed limits are 
typically established at the nearest 5-mile per hour (mph) increment per the 85th percentile speed.  

Another valuable indicator for the speed conditions on a road segment is the 10-mph pace. The 10-mph 
pace is the range of speed at which the majority of vehicles are traveling on a particular stretch of road. 
While the 85th percentile is the maximum speed that 85% of drivers will not exceed, the 10-mph pace is the 
range of speed at which those vehicles are actually moving. 

The 24-hour speed data was collected on April 24, 2024, and is summarized in Table 3. The speed survey 
data is contained in Appendix D. 

Table 3: Radar Speed Survey Results 

Location 147th Street Between Hawthorne Boulevard and Larch Avenue 

Eastbound Westbound Combined 

Number of Vehicles 1723 2255 3978 

Posted Speed Limit 35 mph 35 mph - 

85th Percentile Speed 31 mph 31 mph 31 mph 

Average Speed 26 mph 26 mph 26 mph 

10-mph Pace 21-30 mph 21-30 mph 21-30 mph

% In Pace 66.6% 68.3% 67.6% 

Drivers Over Speed Limit (%) 40 (2.3%) 52 (2.3%) 92 (2.3%) 

Location 147th Street Between Eastwood Avenue and Prairie Avenue 

Eastbound Westbound Combined 

Number of Vehicles 1932 1853 3785 

Posted Speed Limit 35 mph 35 mph - 

85th Percentile Speed 28 mph 24 mph 26 mph 

Average Speed 24 mph 21 mph 22 mph 

10-mph Pace 21-30 mph 16-25 mph 16-25 mph

% In Pace 78.5% 80.0% 71.0% 

Drivers Over Speed Limit (%) 11 (0.57%) 2 (0.11%) 13 (0.34%) 

3.5 Collision History 
The collision history was analyzed along 147th Street between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue. 
The collision history is typically analyzed three to five years from the present. Five-year collision history was 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

Page | 11 

obtained from Statewide Integrated Traffic Records System (SWITRS) and is summarized in Table 4. The 
collision history data is contained in Appendix E. Based on the collision history, the project corridor has had 
9 non-driving-under-the-influence (DUI) collisions within the past five years.  

Table 4: Crash History 

4. Speeding Analysis
The speed survey data summarized in Table 3 indicates that 85% of drivers along 147th Street between 
Hawthorne Boulevard and Larch Avenue are driving at 31 mph, which is under the posted speed limit (35 
mph). The data also shows the majority of vehicles are driving at 21-30 mph at this segment, with the 
average speed being 26 mph. From the 3,978 vehicles that were surveyed, approximately 2.3% of drivers 
were traveling above the posted speed limit.  

The data for the segment between Eastwood Avenue and Prairie Avenue shows that 85% of drivers are 
driving at 26 mph, which is under the posted speed limit (35 mph). The data also shows the majority of 
vehicles are driving at 16-25 mph at this segment, with the average speed being 22 mph. From the 3,785 
vehicles that were surveyed, approximately 0.34% of drivers were traveling above the posted speed limit.  

No. Intersection Date Time 
Distance from 
Intersection 

(feet) 
Direction Type of 

Collision 
Cause 

2019 

1 
Hawthorne 

Blvd 
03/14/19 11:30 290 East Veh/Ped 

Unsafe Lane 
Change 

2 Freeman Ave 05/09/19 20:18 117 East Head-On 
Wrong Side of 

Road 

3 Larch Ave 09/08/19 22:30 33 East Rear End 
Following too 

Closely 

4 Osage Ave 09/25/19 18:35 4 North Other 
Traffic Signals 

and Signs 
2020 

5 Larch Ave 05/01/20 10:59 178 East Other Right-of-Way 

6 Prairie Ave 06/20/20 14:00 0 - Broadside
Traffic Signals 

and Signs 

7 Eastwood Ave 07/01/20 06:41 115 South Rear End 
Improper 
Turning 

8 Prairie Ave 12/10/20 15:55 3 South Veh/Ped Right-of-Way 

2021 

9 Eastwood Ave 03/20/21 17:05 168 South Other 
Unsafe 
Starting 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

Page | 12 

5. Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis
The City of Lawndale requested ADVANTEC to conduct signal warrant analyses along the 147th Street 
corridor between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue in the City of Lawndale. The study locations are 
listed below: 

 147th Street at Larch Avenue
 147th Street at Avis Avenue

5.1 Warrant 1 – Eight-Hour Vehicular Volume 
Tables 5 and 6 summarize the highest traffic volumes per hour (for any eight hours) on the major street 
approach (total of both directions) and minor street approach (highest of both directions) at the 
intersections of 147th Street at Larch Avenue and 147th Street at Avis Avenue. These volumes will be used in 
our analysis. The eight-hour vehicular volume analysis for the study intersections is shown in Tables 7 to 10. 
The tables also specify the amount of vehicular traffic that must be added before meeting the specific 
criteria for Warrant 1. 

Table 5: Highest Traffic Volumes for Eight Hours for 147th Street at Larch Avenue 

# Hour EB WB 
Major St Approach 

Vehicles (Combined) NB SB 
Minor St Approach Vehicles 

(Highest Approach) 
1 7:00 AM 55 138 193 36 116 116 
2 8:00 AM 159 301 460 63 138 138 
3 1:00 PM 91 80 171 35 88 88 
4 2:00 PM 143 150 293 41 129 129 
5 3:00 PM 181 165 346 52 119 119 
6 4:00 PM 133 124 257 53 105 105 
7 5:00 PM 157 150 307 65 122 122 
8 6:00 PM 120 107 227 66 131 131 

Table 6: Highest Traffic Volumes for Eight Hours for 147th Street at Avis Avenue 

# Hour EB WB 
Major St Approach 

Vehicles (Combined) 
NB SB 

Minor St Approach Vehicles 
(Highest Approach) 

1 7:00 AM 67 53 120 59 69 69 
2 8:00 AM 170 86 256 242 294 294 
3 1:00 PM 90 111 201 34 42 42 
4 2:00 PM 160 107 267 67 120 120 
5 3:00 PM 207 203 410 100 192 192 
6 4:00 PM 174 296 470 46 86 86 
7 5:00 PM 173 227 400 63 94 94 
8 6:00 PM 139 238 337 39 66 66 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

Page | 13 

Table 7: Warrant 1; Condition A for 147th Street at Larch Avenue 

Condition A – Minimum 
Vehicular Volume 

Vehicles per hour on major street (total of 
both approaches) 

Vehicles per hour on higher-volume minor-street 
approach (one direction only) 

100%a 80%b 100%a 80%b 
Criteria (2 Lane Major, 
1 Lane Minor) 600 

%Increase 
Required 480 

%Increase 
Required 150 

%Increase 
Required 120 

%Increase 
Required 

7:00 AM 193 211% 193 149% 116 30% 116 4% 

8:00 AM 460 31% 460 5% 138 9% 138 - 

1:00 PM 171 251% 171 181% 88 71% 88 37% 

2:00 PM 293 105% 293 64% 129 17% 129 - 

3:00 PM 346 74% 346 39% 119 27% 119 1% 

4:00 PM 257 134% 257 87% 105 43% 105 15% 

5:00 PM 307 96% 307 57% 122 23% 122 - 

6:00 PM 227 165% 227 112% 131 15% 131 - 
a Basic minimum hourly volume 

b Used for combination of Conditions A and B after adequate trial of other remedial measures 

Table 8: Warrant 1; Condition B for 147th Street at Larch Avenue 

Condition B – 
Interruption of 
Continuous 

Vehicles per hour on major street (total of 
both approaches) 

Vehicles per hour on higher-volume minor-street 
approach (one direction only) 

100%a 80%b 100%a 80%b 
Criteria (2 Lane Major, 
1 Lane Minor) 900 

%Increase 
Required 720 

%Increase 
Required 75 

%Increase 
Required 60 

%Increase 
Required 

7:00 AM 193 367% 193 274% 116 - 116 - 

8:00 AM 460 96% 460 57% 138 - 138 - 

1:00 PM 171 427% 171 322% 88 - 88 - 

2:00 PM 293 208% 293 146% 129 - 129 - 

3:00 PM 346 161% 346 109% 119 - 119 - 

4:00 PM 257 251% 257 181% 105 - 105 - 

5:00 PM 307 194% 307 135% 122 - 122 - 

6:00 PM 227 297% 227 218% 131 - 131 - 
a Basic minimum hourly volume 

b Used for combination of Conditions A and B after adequate trial of other remedial measures 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

Page | 14 

Table 9: Warrant 1; Condition A for 147th Street at Avis Avenue 

Condition A – Minimum 
Vehicular Volume 

Vehicles per hour on major street (total of 
both approaches) 

Vehicles per hour on higher-volume minor-street 
approach (one direction only) 

100%a 80%b 100%a 80%b 
Criteria (2 Lane Major, 
1 Lane Minor) 600 

%Increase 
Required 480 

%Increase 
Required 150 

%Increase 
Required 120 

%Increase 
Required 

7:00 AM 120 400% 120 300% 69 118% 69 74% 
8:00 AM 256 135% 256 88% 294 - 294 - 
1:00 PM 201 199% 201 139% 42 258% 42 186% 
2:00 PM 267 125% 267 80% 120 25% 120 0% 
3:00 PM 410 47% 410 18% 192 - 192 - 
4:00 PM 470 28% 470 3% 86 75% 86 40% 

5:00 PM 400 50% 400 20% 94 60% 94 28% 
6:00 PM 377 60% 377 28% 66 128% 66 82% 
a Basic minimum hourly volume 

b Used for combination of Conditions A and B after adequate trial of other remedial measures 

Table 10: Warrant 1; Condition B for 147th Street at Avis Avenue 

Condition B – 
Interruption of 
Continuous 

Vehicles per hour on major street (total of 
both approaches) 

Vehicles per hour on higher-volume minor-street 
approach (one direction only) 

100%a 80%b 100%a 80%b 
Criteria (2 Lane Major, 
1 Lane Minor) 900 

%Increase  
720 

%Increase 
75 

%Increase 
60 

%Increase 

7:00 AM 120 650% 120 500% 69 9% 69 - 

8:00 AM 256 252% 256 182% 294 - 294 - 

1:00 PM 201 348% 201 259% 42 79% 42 43% 
2:00 PM 267 238% 267 170% 120 - 120 - 

3:00 PM 410 120% 410 76% 192 - 192 - 

4:00 PM 470 92% 470 54% 86 - 86 - 

5:00 PM 400 125% 400 80% 94 - 94 - 

6:00 PM 377 139% 377 91% 66 14% 66 - 
a Basic minimum hourly volume 

b Used for combination of Conditions A and B after adequate trial of other remedial measures 

As shown in Tables 7 to 10, the criteria for Warrant 1 is not met for either Condition A or Condition B at 
either intersection. 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

Page | 15 

5.2 Warrant 2 – Four-Hour Vehicular Volume 
The four-hour vehicular volume analysis is shown in Figures 7 and 8. The four hours used for this analysis 
are the highest four hours in Tables 5 and 6. The figures also show the minimum volume to meet the criteria 
for Warrant 2.  

Figure 7: Figure 4C-1. Warrant 2, Four-Hour Vehicular Volume for 147th Street at Larch Ave 

Figure 8: Figure 4C-1. Warrant 2, Four-Hour Vehicular Volume for 147th Street at Avis Ave 

As shown in Figures 7 and 8, the criteria for Warrant 2 is not met for either study intersection. 

(460,350) 

(460, 138) (346,119) 

(307,122) 

(293,129) 

(470,340) 

(410,192) 

(377,66) 

(400,94) 

(470,86) 

LEGEND: 
- Existing Volume at 

147th Street at 
Larch Avenue 

- Minimum Volume
to meet Warrant 
2 

LEGEND: 
- Existing Volume at 

147th Street at 
Avis Avenue 

- Minimum Volume
to meet Warrant 
2 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

Page | 16 

5.3 Warrant 3 – Peak Hour Vehicular Volume 
The peak-hour vehicular volume analysis is shown in Figures 9 and 10. The peak-hour volumes used for this 
analysis are provided in Table 2. The figures also show the minimum volume to meet the criteria for Warrant 
3.  

Figure 9: Figure 4C-3. Warrant 3, Peak Hour Volume for 147th Street at Larch Avenue 

Figure 10: Figure 4C-3. Warrant 3, Peak Hour Volume for 147th Street at Avis Avenue 

(510,510) 

(481,150) 

(510,510) 

(425,304) 

LEGEND: 
- Existing Volume at 147th Street at Larch Avenue 
- Minimum Volume to meet Warrant 3

LEGEND: 
- Existing Volume at 147th Street at Avis Avenue 
- Minimum Volume to meet Warrant 3



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

Page | 17 

As shown in Figures 9 and 10, the criteria for Warrant 3 is not met for either study intersection. 

5.4 Warrant 4 – Pedestrian Volume  
Warrant 4 analyzes the pedestrian and bicyclist volumes crossing the major street. The highest combined 
pedestrian and bicyclist volumes in a single hour for both study intersections are provided in Tables 11 and 
12. The peak-hour pedestrian volume analysis is shown in Figures 11 and 12. The figures also show the
minimum volume to meet the criteria for Warrant 4.

Table 11: Pedestrian and Bicyclist Volumes at 147th Street at Larch Avenue 

Hour 

147th Street Larch Avenue 

Major Street 
(Total of Both 

Directions) 
Xing Major Street West Leg East Leg North Leg South Leg 

Vehicular Peak-
Hour Counts 

Combined 
Volume Ped+Bike Ped+Bike Ped+Bike Ped+Bike 

7:45 AM to 
8:45 AM 

481 46 14 7 33 13 

Table 12: Pedestrian and Bicyclist Volumes at 147th Street at Avis Avenue 

Hour 

147th Street Avis Avenue 

Major Street 
(Total of Both 

Directions) 
Xing Major Street West Leg East Leg North Leg South Leg 

Vehicular Peak-
Hour Counts 

Combined 
Volume 

Ped+Bike Ped+Bike Ped+Bike Ped+Bike 

7:45 AM to 
8:45 AM 425 81 34 17 65 16 

Figure 11: Figure 4C-7. Warrant 4, Pedestrian Four-Hour Volume for 147th Street at Larch Avenue 

(481,590) 

(481,46) 

LEGEND: 
- Existing Combined Pedestrian Volume at 

147th Street at Larch Avenue 
- Minimum Volume to meet Warrant 4



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

Page | 18 

Figure 12: Figure 4C-7. Warrant 4, Pedestrian Four-Hour Volume for 147th Street at Avis Avenue 

As shown in Figures 11 and 12, the criteria for Warrant 4 is not met for either study intersection. 

5.5 Warrant 5 – School Crossing 
Warrant 5 is for application in areas where school children cross the major roadway. The warrant is based 
on the number of gaps in the traffic stream and the number and size of the groups of children crossing the 
major roadway. A minimum of 20 students must cross the major roadway during a period in which the 
number of adequate crossing gaps is less than the number of minutes in the same period.  

147th Street within the project area has school crossings at Larch Avenue and Avis Avenue. The intersection 
of Avis Avenue at 147th Street is within 300 feet of the signalized intersection of Prairie Avenue at 147th 
Street, which makes Warrant 5 inapplicable. For the intersection of Larch Avenue at 147th Street, based on 
the peak hour volumes, there are more adequate crossing gaps than the number of minutes in the same 
period. Warrant 5 states, “before a decision is made to install a traffic control signal, consideration shall be 
given to the implementation of other remedial measures, such as warning signs and flashers, school speed 
zones, school crossing guards, or a grade-separated crossing.” 

5.6 Warrant 6 – Coordinated Signal System 
Warrant 6 applies in situations where installing a traffic signal is needed in order to maintain proper 
platooning of vehicles along the primary corridor. The need for a traffic control signal shall be considered if 
an engineering study finds that one of the following criteria is met: 

A. On a one-way street or a street that has traffic predominantly in one direction, the adjacent
traffic control signals are so far apart that they do not provide the necessary degree of vehicular
platooning.
B. On a two-way street, adjacent traffic control signals do not provide the necessary degree of
platooning and the proposed and adjacent traffic control signals will collectively provide a
progressive operation.

(425,625) 

(425,81) 

LEGEND: 
- Existing Combined Pedestrian Volume at 

147th Street at Avis Avenue 
- Minimum Volume to meet Warrant 4



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

Page | 19 

Since the Larch Avenue and Avis Avenue intersections are not contained in a coordinated traffic signal 
system and do not need to provide a necessary degree of vehicle platooning, it is determined that Warrant 
6 is not applicable.  

5.7 Warrant 7 – Crash Experience 
Warrant 7 is satisfied if adequate countermeasures have been installed and have failed to reduce the crash 
frequency and five or more crashes susceptible to correction by a traffic signal have occurred within a 1-
year period. Furthermore, for 8-hours of an average day, traffic volumes must exceed a minimum value 
determined primarily by the lane configuration of intersection approaches.  

Fewer than five crashes have occurred within a 1-year period at both study intersections and therefore 
Warrant 7 is not met. 

5.8 Warrant 8 – Roadway Network 
Warrant 8 is applicable at intersections of two or more major routes. A major route is defined as being part 
of a street and/or highway system, and is a major route on an official city, county or state transportation 
plan.  

Since the study intersections do not serve as a common intersection of two major routes, Warrant 8 is not 
applicable.  

5.9 Warrant 9 – Intersection Near Grade Crossing 
Warrant 9 is intended for use at a location where none of the conditions described in the other eight traffic 
signal warrants are met, but the proximity to the intersection of a grade crossing on an intersection 
approach controlled by a STOP or YIELD sign is the principal reason to consider installing a traffic control 
signal.  

Since there is not a nearby grade crossing near this intersection, Warrant 9 is not applicable. 

5.10 Summary of Analysis and Results 
The intersections of 147th Street/Larch Ave and 147th Street/Avis Ave were analyzed to determine if traffic 
signals would be warranted per 2014 edition MUTCD Section 4 Warrants 1 through 9. Based on the results 
of this analysis, the intersections do not meet the criteria to install traffic signals at this time. ADVANTEC 
recommends City staff to continue monitoring this intersection for potential increase in volumes (vehicles, 
pedestrians, and bicyclists).  

Table 13 summarizes the results from the signal warrant analysis. An “No” indicates a warrant that was not 
satisfied. 

Table 13: Signal Warrant Analysis Summary 

Intersection Location 
Warrant Satisfied 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 
147th Street at Larch 
Avenue 

No No No No No No No No 

147th Street at Avis 
Avenue No No No No No No No No 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

Page | 20 

As shown in Table 13, the intersections of 147th Street at Larch Avenue and 147th Street at Avis Avenue do 
not warrant traffic signal control. 

6. Proposed Recommendations
Based on our analysis of existing conditions, traffic volumes, speed surveys, and collision history on 147 th 
Street between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue, this section provides recommended 
improvements to enhance the safety of motorists, pedestrians, and cyclists travelling through the corridor.  

6.1 Summary of Analysis  
The summary of the analysis and results are as follows for 147th Street between Hawthorne Boulevard and 
Prairie Avenue: 

 Speeding Analysis
o The 85th percentile speed along 147th Street between Hawthorne Boulevard and Larch

Avenue is 31 mph, which is under the posted speed limit (35 mph). From the 3,978 vehicles
that were surveyed, approximately 2.3% of drivers were traveling above the posted speed
limit.

o The 85th percentile speed along 147th Street between Eastwood Avenue and Prairie Avenue
is 26 mph, which is under the posted speed limit (35 mph). From the 3,785 vehicles that
were surveyed, approximately 0.34% of drivers were traveling above the posted speed limit.

 Collision History
o Nine collisions occurred along 147th Street between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie

Avenue within the past 5 years. However, none of the project intersections had five or more
collisions within the past 5 years.

 Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis
o 147th Street at Larch Avenue

 The intersection does not meet any of the 9 traffic signal warrant criteria.
o 147th Street at Avis Avenue

 The intersection does not meet any of the 9 traffic signal warrant criteria.

6.2 Recommended Alternative Improvements 
As summarized in Section 6.1, the 85th percentile speed for vehicles is under the posted speed limit of 35 
mph, the project intersections do not have over 5 collisions within the past 5 years, and the project 
intersections with existing school crosswalks were found to not meet the traffic signal warrant criteria. 
However, ADVANTEC recommends the following general improvements to improve safety for pedestrians, 
bicyclists, and motorists along the study area. ADVANTEC has also prepared four alternative road diet 
striping improvements for the study area. 

6.2.1 General Improvements 
 Install SW24-3(CA) signs 200 feet east and west from the crosswalks at 147th Street

at Larch Avenue and 147th Street at Avis Avenue.
 Install SW24-2(CA) signs at the east and west crosswalks at 147th Street at Larch

Avenue and 147th Street at Avis Avenue.



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

Page | 21 

 Install a SR4-1(CA) sign 300 feet west of the intersection of 147th Street at
Larch Avenue for eastbound traffic.

 Install a SR4-1(CA) sign 200 feet east of the intersection of 147th Street at
Avis Avenue for westbound traffic.

 Install yellow retroreflective continental crosswalks at the intersections of
Freeman Avenue at 147th Street, Eastman Avenue at 147th Street, and Osage Avenue
at 147th Street.

6.2.2 Alternative 1 Road Diet Improvements 
The section summarizes Alternative 1 road diet improvements, which consists of a parking lane, a bike lane, 
a bike buffer zone, and one travel lane in each direction, along with a two-way left-turn lane. This would 
reduce the number of lanes along 147th Street from two lanes in each direction to one lane in each direction 
with a two-way left-turn lane, while adding a bike lane and bike buffer zone. The cross-section for 
Alternative 1 is shown below. 

The recommended improvements are illustrated in Figures 13 to 16. 

6.2.3 Alternative 2 Road Diet Improvements 
The section summarizes Alternative 2 road diet improvements, which consists of a parking lane, a buffer 
zone, a bike lane, an additional buffer zone, and one travel lane in each direction. This would reduce the 
number of lanes along 147th Street from two lanes in each direction to one lane in each direction, while 
adding a bike lane and bike buffer zone for moving vehicles and the parking lane. The cross-section for 
Alternative 2 is shown below. 

The recommended improvements are illustrated in Figures 17 to 20. 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

Page | 22 

6.2.4 Alternative 3 Road Diet Improvements 
The section summarizes Alternative 3 road diet improvements, which consists of a parking lane, a buffer 
zone, a bike lane, an additional buffer zone, and one travel lane in each direction, along with a two-way left-
turn lane. This would reduce the number of lanes along 147th Street from two lanes in each direction to one 
lane in each direction with a two-way left-turn lane, while adding a bike lane and bike buffer zone for moving 
vehicles and the parking lane. The cross-section for Alternative 3 is shown below. 

The recommended improvements are illustrated in Figures 21 to 24. 

6.2.5 Alternative 4 Road Diet Improvements 
The section summarizes Alternative 4 road diet improvements, which consists of an outer bike lane, a buffer 
zone, a parking lane, an additional buffer zone, and one travel lane in each direction. This would reduce the 
number of lanes along 147th Street from two lanes in each direction to one lane in each direction, while 
adding an outer bike lane and bike buffer zone for moving vehicles and the parking lane. The cross-section 
for Alternative 4 is shown below. 

The recommended improvements are illustrated in Figures 25 to 28. 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

Page | 23 

Figure 13: Alternative 1 Improvements 1/4 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

   Page | 24 

Figure 14: Alternative 1 Improvements 2/4 

 
  



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

   Page | 25 

Figure 15: Alternative 1 Improvements 3/4 

  
  



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

   Page | 26 

Figure 16: Alternative 1 Improvements 4/4 

  



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

   Page | 27 

Figure 17: Alternative 2 Improvements 1/4 

 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

   Page | 28 

Figure 18: Alternative 2 Improvements 2/4 

 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

   Page | 29 

Figure 19: Alternative 2 Improvements 3/4 

 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

   Page | 30 

Figure 20: Alternative 2 Improvements 4/4 

 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

   Page | 31 

Figure 21: Alternative 3 Improvements 1/4 

 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

   Page | 32 

Figure 22: Alternative 3 Improvements 2/4 

 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

   Page | 33 

Figure 23: Alternative 3 Improvements 3/4 

 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

   Page | 34 

Figure 24: Alternative 3 Improvements 4/4 

 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

   Page | 35 

Figure 25: Alternative 4 Improvements 1/4 

  



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

   Page | 36 

Figure 26: Alternative 4 Improvements 2/4 

  



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

   Page | 37 

Figure 27: Alternative 4 Improvements 3/4 

  



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

   Page | 38 

Figure 28: Alternative 4 Improvements 4/4 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

   Page | 39 

6.2.6 Traffic Circle Improvements 
In addition to the road diet alternative 
improvements, traffic circle intersection 
design may be incorporated at the 
intersections along the project corridor. 
Traffic circles lower speeds at minor 
intersection crossings and are an ideal 
treatment for uncontrolled intersections. 
Traffic circles would eliminate left-turning 
movement conflicts at the intersection by 
creating a flow of counter-clockwise 
movement. Trafic circles are 
recommended for roadways with a 
posted speed limit of 35 mph or lower, 
with ADT volumes of 7,500 vehicles or 
lower, which applies to the project 
corridor. Implementation of a traffic circle 
would require road diet striping with one through in each direction only, due to physical constraints of the 
intersection dimensions.  

The potential locations to consider traffic circle improvements include: 

 Alternative 2 
o Larch Avenue at 147th Street 
o Freeman Avenue at 147th Street 
o Eastman Avenue at 147th Street 
o Osage Avenue at 147th Street 
o Avis Avenue at 147th Street 

 Alternative 4 
o Larch Avenue at 147th Street 
o Freeman Avenue at 147th Street 
o Eastman Avenue at 147th Street 
o Osage Avenue at 147th Street 
o Avis Avenue at 147th Street 

 Alternative 2 
o Freeman Avenue at 147th Street 
o Eastman Avenue at 147th Street 
o Osage Avenue at 147th Street 

 Alternative 4 

or

o Freeman Avenue at 147th Street 
o Eastman Avenue at 147th Street 
o Osage Avenue at 147th Street 

or



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

   Page | 40 

Bulb-Out Improvements 
Bulb-outs may also be incorporated into the road diet 
alternative improvements. Bulb-outs visually and physically 
narrow the roadway, creating safer and shorter crossings for 
pedestrians. Bulb-outs are recommended for roadways with 
a posted speed limit of 35 mph or lower, with ADT volumes 
of 20,000 vehicles or lower, which allies to the project 
corridor. Bulb-outs would be applicable for road diet 
improvements or the existing striping conditions where the 
parking lane is adjacent to the curb. 

The potential locations to consider bulb-out improvements include: 

 Alternative 1 (along 147th Street) 
o Larch Avenue at 147th Street 
o Freeman Avenue at 147th Street 
o Eastman Avenue at 147th Street 
o Osage Avenue at 147th Street 
o Avis Avenue at 147th Street 

 Alternative 2 (along 147th Street) 
o Larch Avenue at 147th Street 
o Freeman Avenue at 147th Street 
o Eastman Avenue at 147th Street 
o Osage Avenue at 147th Street 
o Avis Avenue at 147th Street 

 Alternative 3 (along 147th Street) 
o Larch Avenue at 147th Street 
o Freeman Avenue at 147th Street 
o Eastman Avenue at 147th Street 
o Osage Avenue at 147th Street 
o Avis Avenue at 147th Street 

6.2.7 Final Recommendations 
The four road diet alternatives are all similar improvements that would reduce the number of lanes, add a 
bike lane, and add parking lane striping in each direction. Based on our evaluation for the four alternatives, 
it is recommended to select Alternatives 1 or 2, depending on if the City would prefer a two-way left-turn 
lane. 

Bulb-out improvements are recommended at each intersection within the project corridor and may be 
implemented with both Alternative road diet improvements at crosswalks crossing 147th Street. 

The costs for implementing the road diet alternatives would be approximately the same, as they are all 
signing and striping related improvements. If the City decides to implement bulb-out improvements, the 
costs would rise. 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

   Page | 41 

If the City would like to consider a phased implementation, it is recommended to install the signing and 
striping as "Phase 1" improvements, and construction of the bulb-outs as "Phase 2" improvements. The cost 
for Phase 2 improvements will be considerably higher than Phase 1 improvements.  As another option, the 
City may also consider constructing bulb-outs at selected locations. ADVANTEC recommends the City to 
implement these improvements based on their resources and available funding including the costs to 
procure and install the recommended improvements shown.  



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

    

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A 
CAMUTCD WARRANT METHODOLOGIES 

  



Section 4C.02 Warrant 1, Eight-Hour Vehicular Volume  
Support: 
01The Minimum Vehicular Volume, Condition A, is intended for application at locations where a large 
volume of intersecting traffic is the principal reason to consider installing a traffic control signal. 
02The Interruption of Continuous Traffic, Condition B, is intended for application at locations where 
Condition A is not satisfied and where the traffic volume on a major street is so heavy that traffic on a 
minor intersecting street suffers excessive delay or conflict in entering or crossing the major street. 
03It is intended that Warrant 1 be treated as a single warrant. If Condition A is satisfied, then Warrant 1 
is satisfied and analyses of Condition B and the combination of Conditions A and B are not needed. 
Similarly, if Condition B is satisfied, then Warrant 1 is satisfied and an analysis of the combination of 
Conditions A and B is not needed. 
Standard: 
04The need for a traffic control signal shall be considered if an engineering study finds that one of the 
following conditions exist for each of any 8 hours of an average day: 

A. The vehicles per hour given in both of the 100 percent columns of Condition A in Table 4C-1 
exist on the major-street and the higher-volume minor-street approaches, respectively, to the 
intersection; or 

B. The vehicles per hour given in both of the 100 percent columns of Condition B in Table 4C-1 
exist on the major-street and the higher-volume minor-street approaches, respectively, to the 
intersection. 

In applying each condition the major-street and minor-street volumes shall be for the same 8 hours. 
On the minor street, the higher volume shall not be required to be on the same approach during each 
of these 8 hours. 
Option: 
05If the posted or statutory speed limit or the 85th-percentile speed on the major street exceeds 40 
mph, or if the intersection lies within the built-up area of an isolated community having a population of 
less than 10,000, the traffic volumes in the 70 percent columns in Table 4C-1 may be used in place of the 
100 percent columns. 
Guidance: 
06The combination of Conditions A and B is intended for application at locations where Condition A is not 
satisfied and Condition B is not satisfied and should be applied only after an adequate trial of other 
alternatives that could cause less delay and inconvenience to traffic has failed to solve the traffic 
problems. 
Standard: 
07The need for a traffic control signal shall be considered if an engineering study finds that both of the 
following conditions exist for each of any 8 hours of an average day: 

A. The vehicles per hour given in both of the 80 percent columns of Condition A in Table 4C-1 
exist on the major-street and the higher-volume minor-street approaches, respectively, to the 
intersection; and 



B. The vehicles per hour given in both of the 80 percent columns of Condition B in Table 4C-1 
exist on the major-street and the higher-volume minor-street approaches, respectively, to the 
intersection.  

These major-street and minor-street volumes shall be for the same 8 hours for each condition; 
however, the 8 hours satisfied in Condition A shall not be required to be the same 8 hours satisfied in 
Condition B. On the minor street, the higher volume shall not be required to be on the same approach 
during each of the 8 hours. 
Option: 
08If the posted or statutory speed limit or the 85th-percentile speed on the major street exceeds 40 
mph, or if the intersection lies within the built-up area of an isolated community having a population of 
less than 10,000, the traffic volumes in the 56 percent columns in Table 4C-1 may be used in place of the 
80 percent columns. 
 

Section 4C.03 Warrant 2, Four-Hour Vehicular Volume 
Support: 
01The Four-Hour Vehicular Volume signal warrant conditions are intended to be applied where the 
volume of intersecting traffic is the principal reason to consider installing a traffic control signal. 
Standard: 
02The need for a traffic control signal shall be considered if an engineering study finds that, for each of 
any 4 hours of an average day, the plotted points representing the vehicles per hour on the major 
street (total of both approaches) and the corresponding vehicles per hour on the higher-volume 
minor-street approach (one direction only) all fall above the applicable curve in Figure 4C-1 for the 
existing combination of approach lanes. On the minor street, the higher volume shall not be required 
to be on the same approach during each of these 4 hours. 
Option: 
03If the posted or statutory speed limit or the 85th-percentile speed on the major street exceeds 40 
mph, or if the intersection lies within the built-up area of an isolated community having a population of 
less than 10,000, Figure 4C-2 may be used in place of Figure 4C-1. 
 

Section 4C.04 Warrant 3, Peak Hour 
Support: 
01The Peak Hour signal warrant is intended for use at a location where traffic conditions are such that for 
a minimum of 1 hour of an average day, the minor-street traffic suffers undue delay when entering or 
crossing the major street. 
Standard: 
02This signal warrant shall be applied only in unusual cases, such as office complexes, manufacturing 
plants, industrial complexes, or high-occupancy vehicle facilities that attract or discharge large 
numbers of vehicles over a short time. 
03The need for a traffic control signal shall be considered if an engineering study finds that the criteria 
in either of the following two categories are met: 



A. If all three of the following conditions exist for the same 1 hour (any four consecutive 15-
minute periods) of an average day: 
1. The total stopped time delay experienced by the traffic on one minor-street approach 

(one direction only) controlled by a STOP sign equals or exceeds: 4 vehicle-hours for a one-
lane approach or 5 vehicle-hours for a two-lane approach; and 

2. The volume on the same minor-street approach (one direction only) equals or exceeds 100 
vehicles per hour for one moving lane of traffic or 150 vehicles per hour for two moving 
lanes; and 

3. The total entering volume serviced during the hour equals or exceeds 650 vehicles per 
hour for intersections with three approaches or 800 vehicles per hour for intersections 
with four or more approaches. 

B. The plotted point representing the vehicles per hour on the major street (total of both 
approaches) and the corresponding vehicles per hour on the higher-volume minor-street 
approach (one direction only) for 1 hour (any four consecutive 15-minute periods) of an 
average day falls above the applicable curve in Figure 4C-3 for the existing combination of 
approach lanes. 

Option: 
04If the posted or statutory speed limit or the 85th-percentile speed on the major street exceeds 40 
mph, or if the intersection lies within the built-up area of an isolated community having a population of 
less than 10,000, Figure 4C-4 may be used in place of Figure 4C-3 to evaluate the criteria in the second 
category of the Standard. 
05If this warrant is the only warrant met and a traffic control signal is justified by an engineering study, 
the traffic control signal may be operated in the flashing mode during the hours that the volume criteria 
of this warrant are not met. 
Guidance: 
06If this warrant is the only warrant met and a traffic control signal is justified by an engineering study, 
the traffic control signal should be traffic-actuated. 
 

Section 4C.05 Warrant 4, Pedestrian Volume 
Support: 
01The Pedestrian Volume signal warrant is intended for application where the traffic volume on a major 
street is so heavy that pedestrians experience excessive delay in crossing the major street. 
Standard: 
02The need for a traffic control signal at an intersection or midblock crossing shall be considered if an 
engineering study finds that one of the following criteria is met: 

A. For each of any 4 hours of an average day, the plotted points representing the vehicles per 
hour on the major street (total of both approaches) and the corresponding pedestrians per 
hour crossing the major street (total of all crossings) all fall above the curve in Figure 4C-5; or 

B. For 1 hour (any four consecutive 15-minute periods) of an average day, the plotted point 
representing the vehicles per hour on the major street (total of both approaches) and the 



corresponding pedestrians per hour crossing the major street (total of all crossings) falls above 
the curve in Figure 4C-7. 

Option: 
03If the posted or statutory speed limit or the 85th-percentile speed on the major street exceeds 35 
mph, or if the intersection lies within the built-up area of an isolated community having a population of 
less than 10,000, Figure 4C-6 may be used in place of Figure 4C-5 to evaluate Criterion A in Paragraph 2, 
and Figure 4C-8 may be used in place of Figure 4C-7 to evaluate Criterion B in Paragraph 2. 
Standard: 
04The Pedestrian Volume signal warrant shall not be applied at locations where the distance to the 
nearest traffic control signal or STOP sign controlling the street that pedestrians desire to cross is less 
than 300 feet, unless the proposed traffic control signal will not restrict the progressive movement of 
traffic. 
05If this warrant is met and a traffic control signal is justified by an engineering study, the traffic 
control signal shall be equipped with pedestrian signal heads complying with the provisions set forth 
in Chapter 4E. 
Guidance: 
06If this warrant is met and a traffic control signal is justified by an engineering study, then: 

A. If it is installed at an intersection or major driveway location, the traffic control signal should also 
control the minor-street or driveway traffic, should be traffic-actuated, and should include 
pedestrian detection. 

B. If it is installed at a non-intersection crossing, the traffic control signal should be installed at least 
100 feet from side streets or driveways that are controlled by STOP or YIELD signs, and should be 
pedestrian-actuated. If the traffic control signal is installed at a non-intersection crossing, at 
least one of the signal faces should be over the traveled way for each approach, parking and 
other sight obstructions should be prohibited for at least 100 feet in advance of and at least 20 
feet beyond the crosswalk or site accommodations should be made through curb extensions or 
other techniques to provide adequate sight distance, and the installation should include suitable 
standard signs and pavement markings. 

C. Furthermore, if it is installed within a signal system, the traffic control signal should be 
coordinated. 

Option: 
07The criterion for the pedestrian volume crossing the major street may be reduced as much as 50 
percent if the 15th-percentile crossing speed of pedestrians is less than 3.5 feet per second. 
08A traffic control signal may not be needed at the study location if adjacent coordinated traffic control 
signals consistently provide gaps of adequate length for pedestrians to cross the street. 
 

Section 4C.06 Warrant 5, School Crossing  
Support: 
01 The School Crossing signal warrant is intended for application where the fact that schoolchildren cross 
the major street is the principal reason to consider installing a traffic control signal. For the purposes of 
this warrant, the word “schoolchildren” includes elementary through high school students. 
 



Standard: 
02 The need for a traffic control signal shall be considered when an engineering study of the frequency 
and adequacy of gaps in the vehicular traffic stream as related to the number and size of groups of 
schoolchildren at an established school crossing across the major street shows that the number of 
adequate gaps in the traffic stream during the period when the schoolchildren are using the crossing is 
less than the number of minutes in the same period (see Section 7A.03) and there are a minimum of 
20 schoolchildren during the highest crossing hour. 
03 Before a decision is made to install a traffic control signal, consideration shall be given to the 
implementation of other remedial measures, such as warning signs and flashers, school speed zones, 
school crossing guards, or a grade-separated crossing. 
04 The School Crossing signal warrant shall not be applied at locations where the distance to the 
nearest traffic control signal along the major street is less than 300 feet, unless the proposed traffic 
control signal will not restrict the progressive movement of traffic. 
Guidance: 
05 If this warrant is met and a traffic control signal is justified by an engineering study, then: 

A. If it is installed at an intersection or major driveway location, the traffic control signal should 
also control the minor-street or driveway traffic, should be traffic-actuated, and should include 
pedestrian detection. 
B. If it is installed at a non-intersection crossing, the traffic control signal should be installed at 
least 100 feet from side streets or driveways that are controlled by STOP or YIELD signs, and 
should be pedestrian actuated. 
If the traffic control signal is installed at a non-intersection crossing, at least one of the signal 
faces should be over the traveled way for each approach, parking and other sight obstructions 
should be 
prohibited for at least 100 feet in advance of and at least 20 feet beyond the crosswalk or site 
accommodations should be made through curb extensions or other techniques to provide 
adequate sight 
distance, and the installation should include suitable standard signs and pavement markings. 
C. Furthermore, if it is installed within a signal system, the traffic control signal should be 
coordinated. 

 

Section 4C.07 Warrant 6, Coordinated Signal System 
Support: 
01 Progressive movement in a coordinated signal system sometimes necessitates installing traffic control 
signals at intersections where they would not otherwise be needed in order to maintain proper 
platooning of vehicles. 
Standard: 
02 The need for a traffic control signal shall be considered if an engineering study finds that one of the 
following criteria is met: 
A. On a one-way street or a street that has traffic predominantly in one direction, the adjacent traffic 
control signals are so far apart that they do not provide the necessary degree of vehicular platooning. 
B. On a two-way street, adjacent traffic control signals do not provide the necessary degree of 
platooning and the proposed and adjacent traffic control signals will collectively provide a progressive 
operation. 
Guidance:  
03 The Coordinated Signal System signal warrant should not be applied where the resultant spacing of 
traffic control signals would be less than 1,000 feet. 



Section 4C.08 Warrant 7, Crash Experience 
Support: 
01 The Crash Experience signal warrant conditions are intended for application where the severity and 
frequency of crashes are the principal reasons to consider installing a traffic control signal. 
Standard: 
02 The need for a traffic control signal shall be considered if an engineering study finds that all of the 
following criteria are met: 

A. Adequate trial of alternatives with satisfactory observance and enforcement has failed to 
reduce the crash frequency; and 
B. Five or more reported crashes, of types susceptible to correction by a traffic control signal, 
have occurred within a 12-month period, each crash involving personal injury or property 
damage apparently exceeding the applicable requirements for a reportable crash; and 
C. For each of any 8 hours of an average day, the vehicles per hour (vph) given in both of the 
80 percent columns of Condition A in Table 4C-1 (see Section 4C.02), or the vph in both of the 
80 percent columns of Condition B in Table 4C-1 exists on the major-street and the higher-
volume minor-street approach, respectively, to the intersection, or the volume of pedestrian 
traffic is not less than 80 percent of the requirements specified in the Pedestrian Volume 
warrant. These major-street and minor-street volumes shall be for the same 8 hours. On the 
minor street, the higher volume shall not be required to be on the same approach during each 
of the 8 hours. 

Option: 
03 If the posted or statutory speed limit or the 85th-percentile speed on the major street exceeds 40 
mph, or if the intersection lies within the built-up area of an isolated community having a population of 
less than 10,000, the traffic volumes in the 56 percent columns in Table 4C-1 may be used in place of the 
80 percent columns. 
 

Section 4C.09 Warrant 8, Roadway Network 
Support 
01 Installing a traffic control signal at some intersections might be justified to encourage concentration 
and organization of traffic flow on a roadway network. 
Standard: 
02 The need for a traffic control signal shall be considered if an engineering study finds that the 
common intersection of two or more major routes meets one or both of the following criteria: 

A. The intersection has a total existing, or immediately projected, entering volume of at least 
1,000 vehicles per hour during the peak hour of a typical weekday and has 5-year projected 
traffic volumes, based on an engineering study, that meet one or more of Warrants 1, 2, and 3 
during an average weekday; or 
B. The intersection has a total existing or immediately projected entering volume of at least 
1,000 vehicles per hour for each of any 5 hours of a non-normal business day (Saturday or 
Sunday). 

03 A major route as used in this signal warrant shall have at least one of the following characteristics: 
A. It is part of the street or highway system that serves as the principal roadway network for 
through traffic flow.  
B. It includes rural or suburban highways outside, entering, or traversing a city.  
C. It appears as a major route on an official plan, such as a major street plan in an urban area 
traffic and transportation study.  



 

Section 4C.10 Warrant 9, Intersection Near a Grade Crossing 
Support 
01 The Intersection Near a Grade Crossing signal warrant is intended for use at a location where none of 
the conditions described in the other eight traffic signal warrants are met, but the proximity to the 
intersection of a  grade crossing on an intersection approach controlled by a STOP or YIELD sign is the 
principal reason to consider installing a traffic control signal. 
Guidance: 
02 This signal warrant should be applied only after adequate consideration has been given to other 
alternatives or after a trial of an alternative has failed to alleviate the safety concerns associated with 
the grade crossing. Among the alternatives that should be considered or tried are: 

A. Providing additional pavement that would enable vehicles to clear the track or that would 
provide space for an evasive maneuver, or 
B. Reassigning the stop controls at the intersection to make the approach across the track a non-
stopping approach. 

Standard: 
03 The need for a traffic control signal shall be considered if an engineering study finds that both of the 
following criteria are met: 

A. A grade crossing exists on an approach controlled by a STOP or YIELD sign and the center of 
the track nearest to the intersection is within 140 feet of the stop line or yield line on the 
approach; and 
B. During the highest traffic volume hour during which rail traffic uses the crossing, the 
plotted point representing the vehicles per hour on the major street (total of both 
approaches) and the corresponding vehicles per hour on the minor-street approach that 
crosses the track (one direction only, approaching the intersection) falls above the applicable 
curve in Figure 4C-9 or 4C-10 for the existing combination of approach lanes over the track and 
the distance D, which is the clear storage distance as defined in Section 1A.13.  

Guidance:  
04 The following considerations apply when plotting the traffic volume data on Figure 4C-9 or 4C-10: 

A. Figure 4C-9 should be used if there is only one lane approaching the intersection at the track 
crossing location and Figure 4C-10 should be used if there are two or more lanes approaching 
the intersection at the track crossing location. 
B. After determining the actual distance D, the curve for the distance D that is nearest to the 
actual distance D should be used. For example, if the actual distance D is 95 feet, the plotted 
point should be compared to the curve for D = 90 feet.  
C. If the rail traffic arrival times are unknown, the highest traffic volume hour of the day should 
be used.  

Option: 
05 The minor-street approach volume may be multiplied by up to three adjustment factors as provided in 
Paragraphs 6 through 8. 
06 Because the curves are based on an average of four occurrences of rail traffic per day, the vehicles per 
hour on the minor-street approach may be multiplied by the adjustment factor shown in Table 4C-2 for 
the appropriate number of occurrences of rail traffic per day. 
07 Because the curves are based on typical vehicle occupancy, if at least 2% of the vehicles crossing the 
track 



are buses carrying at least 20 people, the vehicles per hour on the minor-street approach may be 
multiplied by the adjustment factor shown in Table 4C-3 for the appropriate percentage of high-
occupancy buses. 
08 Because the curves are based on tractor-trailer trucks comprising 10% of the vehicles crossing the 
track, the vehicles per hour on the minor-street approach may be multiplied by the adjustment factor 
shown in Table 4C-4 for the appropriate distance and percentage of tractor-trailer trucks. 
Standard: 
09 If this warrant is met and a traffic control signal at the intersection is justified by an engineering 
study, then: 

A. The traffic control signal shall have actuation on the minor street; 
B. Preemption control shall be provided in accordance with Sections 4D.27, 8C.09, and 8C.10; 
and 
C. The grade crossing shall have flashing-light signals (see Chapter 8C). 

Guidance: 
10 If this warrant is met and a traffic control signal at the intersection is justified by an engineering study, 
the grade crossing should have automatic gates (see Chapter 8C). 
 



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX B 
ADT TRAFFIC VOLUMES 

  



Page 1 
 
City of Lawndale
Larch Avenue
N/ 147th Street
24 Hour Directional Volume Count

 
 
 

LND001
Site Code: 141-24363

 
 
 
 

Counts Unlimited, Inc.
PO Box 1178

Corona, CA 92878
Phone: (951) 268-6268

email: counts@countsunlimited.com

 
Start 4/24/2024 Northbound Hour Totals Southbound Hour Totals Combined Totals
Time Wed Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon

12:00 1 11 5 19
12:15 0 11 4 12
12:30 1 14 4 17
12:45 1 9 3 45 3 26 16 74 19 119
01:00 0 12 2 10
01:15 2 7 2 26
01:30 1 15 2 27
01:45 1 11 4 45 2 25 8 88 12 133
02:00 0 18 2 31
02:15 1 15 0 35
02:30 2 21 0 33
02:45 0 9 3 63 1 30 3 129 6 192
03:00 0 17 0 27
03:15 1 17 2 29
03:30 1 9 0 32
03:45 3 18 5 61 2 31 4 119 9 180
04:00 1 18 0 21
04:15 1 15 2 31
04:30 3 22 2 21
04:45 2 21 7 76 2 32 6 105 13 181
05:00 2 26 0 37
05:15 2 17 4 28
05:30 0 10 4 23
05:45 3 20 7 73 6 34 14 122 21 195
06:00 1 16 4 49
06:15 4 18 6 33
06:30 6 16 14 31
06:45 6 11 17 61 14 18 38 131 55 192
07:00 6 16 18 32
07:15 7 10 35 29
07:30 9 12 30 24
07:45 14 8 36 46 33 12 116 97 152 143
08:00 23 4 43 21
08:15 35 11 38 19
08:30 17 12 36 19
08:45 21 16 96 43 21 8 138 67 234 110
09:00 13 10 13 11
09:15 3 2 23 10
09:30 7 8 19 12
09:45 6 6 29 26 18 14 73 47 102 73
10:00 6 1 18 7
10:15 7 5 14 4
10:30 11 6 22 9
10:45 10 2 34 14 9 11 63 31 97 45
11:00 8 3 10 5
11:15 4 3 9 7
11:30 9 4 14 3
11:45 4 2 25 12 27 5 60 20 85 32
Total  266 565 266 565 539 1030 539 1030 805 1595

Combined
Total

 831 831 1569 1569 2400

AM Peak - 08:00 - - - 07:45 - - - - -
Vol. - 96 - - - 150 - - - - -

P.H.F.  0.686    0.872      
PM Peak - - 04:30 - - - 05:45 - - - -

Vol. - - 86 - - - 147 - - - -
P.H.F.   0.827    0.750     

 
Percentag

e
 32.0% 68.0%   34.4% 65.6%     

ADT/AADT ADT 2,400 AADT 2,400



Page 1 
 
City of Lawndale
Larch Avenue
S/ 147th Street
24 Hour Directional Volume Count

 
 
 

LND002
Site Code: 141-24363

 
 
 
 

Counts Unlimited, Inc.
PO Box 1178

Corona, CA 92878
Phone: (951) 268-6268

email: counts@countsunlimited.com

 
Start 4/24/2024 Northbound Hour Totals Southbound Hour Totals Combined Totals
Time Wed Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon

12:00 0 12 1 8
12:15 0 6 3 11
12:30 0 7 3 14
12:45 0 8 0 33 3 20 10 53 10 86
01:00 0 9 1 8
01:15 1 5 2 17
01:30 2 10 2 17
01:45 0 11 3 35 1 11 6 53 9 88
02:00 1 13 0 21
02:15 1 12 0 13
02:30 1 10 2 16
02:45 0 6 3 41 1 18 3 68 6 109
03:00 0 14 0 14
03:15 0 13 1 17
03:30 0 10 0 19
03:45 2 15 2 52 1 18 2 68 4 120
04:00 0 11 1 11
04:15 0 12 0 17
04:30 2 15 2 5
04:45 1 15 3 53 1 16 4 49 7 102
05:00 1 19 0 19
05:15 2 18 2 19
05:30 0 10 4 14
05:45 3 18 6 65 5 19 11 71 17 136
06:00 0 13 3 28
06:15 2 21 3 15
06:30 3 19 4 22
06:45 3 13 8 66 7 9 17 74 25 140
07:00 10 14 9 16
07:15 6 10 23 14
07:30 9 11 14 13
07:45 11 5 36 40 16 11 62 54 98 94
08:00 16 3 23 14
08:15 24 8 18 13
08:30 9 16 24 13
08:45 14 16 63 43 10 8 75 48 138 91
09:00 10 10 7 6
09:15 1 5 15 8
09:30 4 5 13 10
09:45 5 1 20 21 8 5 43 29 63 50
10:00 7 0 11 4
10:15 3 4 9 4
10:30 9 4 17 3
10:45 14 2 33 10 11 4 48 15 81 25
11:00 14 0 15 1
11:15 3 1 6 4
11:30 8 0 10 1
11:45 6 3 31 4 14 4 45 10 76 14
Total  208 463 208 463 326 592 326 592 534 1055

Combined
Total

 671 671 918 918 1589

AM Peak - 08:00 - - - 07:45 - - - - -
Vol. - 63 - - - 81 - - - - -

P.H.F.  0.656    0.844      
PM Peak - - 05:45 - - - 05:45 - - - -

Vol. - - 71 - - - 84 - - - -
P.H.F.   0.845    0.750     

 
Percentag

e
 31.0% 69.0%   35.5% 64.5%     

ADT/AADT ADT 1,589 AADT 1,589



Page 1 
 
City of Lawndale
147th Street
E/ Larch Avenue
24 Hour Directional Volume Count

 
 
 

LND003
Site Code: 141-24363

 
 
 
 

Counts Unlimited, Inc.
PO Box 1178

Corona, CA 92878
Phone: (951) 268-6268

email: counts@countsunlimited.com

 
Start 4/24/2024 Eastbound Hour Totals Westbound Hour Totals Combined Totals
Time Wed Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon

12:00 2 28 4 17
12:15 0 12 2 24
12:30 1 21 2 23
12:45 1 26 4 87 2 32 10 96 14 183
01:00 0 25 0 20
01:15 1 26 0 19
01:30 0 21 1 16
01:45 2 19 3 91 2 25 3 80 6 171
02:00 2 30 1 26
02:15 0 39 0 43
02:30 1 43 3 49
02:45 0 40 3 152 1 32 5 150 8 302
03:00 0 41 1 29
03:15 1 48 1 48
03:30 2 65 1 53
03:45 1 50 4 204 2 35 5 165 9 369
04:00 0 37 3 30
04:15 3 44 2 35
04:30 1 44 4 31
04:45 2 43 6 168 4 28 13 124 19 292
05:00 3 44 7 43
05:15 1 45 4 41
05:30 3 42 5 31
05:45 2 56 9 187 11 35 27 150 36 337
06:00 2 47 7 29
06:15 6 45 10 33
06:30 4 35 15 23
06:45 7 23 19 150 21 22 53 107 72 257
07:00 9 28 19 20
07:15 12 27 29 24
07:30 22 22 27 19
07:45 23 18 66 95 63 15 138 78 204 173
08:00 42 19 96 10
08:15 46 16 92 11
08:30 48 23 81 8
08:45 30 14 166 72 32 12 301 41 467 113
09:00 11 13 25 11
09:15 12 16 16 9
09:30 15 17 31 10
09:45 19 9 57 55 23 8 95 38 152 93
10:00 16 10 18 12
10:15 14 7 24 7
10:30 21 9 24 3
10:45 18 10 69 36 25 3 91 25 160 61
11:00 26 5 23 2
11:15 13 5 22 2
11:30 10 5 22 5
11:45 19 12 68 27 14 9 81 18 149 45
Total  474 1324 474 1324 822 1072 822 1072 1296 2396

Combined
Total

 1798 1798 1894 1894 3692

AM Peak - 08:00 - - - 07:45 - - - - -
Vol. - 166 - - - 332 - - - - -

P.H.F.  0.865    0.865      
PM Peak - - 03:00 - - - 03:15 - - - -

Vol. - - 204 - - - 166 - - - -
P.H.F.   0.785    0.783     

 
Percentag

e
 26.4% 73.6%   43.4% 56.6%     

ADT/AADT ADT 3,692 AADT 3,692



Page 1 
 
City of Lawndale
147th Street
W/ Larch Avenue
24 Hour Directional Volume Count

 
 
 

LND004
Site Code: 141-24363

 
 
 
 

Counts Unlimited, Inc.
PO Box 1178

Corona, CA 92878
Phone: (951) 268-6268

email: counts@countsunlimited.com

 
Start 4/24/2024 Eastbound Hour Totals Westbound Hour Totals Combined Totals
Time Wed Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon

12:00 0 17 5 18
12:15 0 15 3 23
12:30 0 17 1 15
12:45 0 26 0 75 0 37 9 93 9 168
01:00 0 26 1 20
01:15 2 28 0 28
01:30 0 20 2 20
01:45 3 17 5 91 3 37 6 105 11 196
02:00 0 32 2 33
02:15 0 31 0 54
02:30 1 43 0 55
02:45 1 37 2 143 2 38 4 180 6 323
03:00 0 35 1 33
03:15 1 40 1 48
03:30 2 57 0 59
03:45 0 49 3 181 1 44 3 184 6 365
04:00 1 30 2 26
04:15 1 29 1 31
04:30 2 39 4 35
04:45 2 35 6 133 4 30 11 122 17 255
05:00 2 34 5 44
05:15 2 37 7 43
05:30 2 37 4 35
05:45 1 49 7 157 11 41 27 163 34 320
06:00 1 38 6 38
06:15 6 33 11 42
06:30 5 29 23 29
06:45 6 20 18 120 24 30 64 139 82 259
07:00 7 26 30 32
07:15 11 17 39 29
07:30 19 18 40 25
07:45 18 14 55 75 72 9 181 95 236 170
08:00 38 18 105 15
08:15 49 17 104 15
08:30 44 22 81 17
08:45 28 15 159 72 34 13 324 60 483 132
09:00 11 11 28 14
09:15 13 14 23 12
09:30 10 20 29 12
09:45 15 9 49 54 28 12 108 50 157 104
10:00 8 9 18 13
10:15 16 8 27 7
10:30 21 5 27 3
10:45 17 5 62 27 26 5 98 28 160 55
11:00 33 4 31 2
11:15 12 5 23 3
11:30 14 5 29 3
11:45 16 10 75 24 26 9 109 17 184 41
Total  441 1152 441 1152 944 1236 944 1236 1385 2388

Combined
Total

 1593 1593 2180 2180 3773

AM Peak - 08:00 - - - 07:45 - - - - -
Vol. - 159 - - - 362 - - - - -

P.H.F.  0.811    0.862      
PM Peak - - 03:00 - - - 03:00 - - - -

Vol. - - 181 - - - 184 - - - -
P.H.F.   0.794    0.780     

 
Percentag

e
 27.7% 72.3%   43.3% 56.7%     

ADT/AADT ADT 3,773 AADT 3,773



Page 1 
 
City of Lawndale
147th Street
B/ Freeman Avenue - Osage Aveue
24 Hour Directional Volume Count

 
 
 

LND009
Site Code: 141-24363

 
 
 
 

Counts Unimited, Inc.
PO Box 1178

Corona, CA 92878
(951) 268-6268

email: counts@countsunlimited.com

 
Start 4/24/24 Eastbound Hour Totals Westbound Hour Totals Combined Totals
Time Wed Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon

12:00 2 26 1 17
12:15 0 16 2 23
12:30 1 22 2 23
12:45 5 27 8 91 2 28 7 91 15 182
01:00 3 24 2 19
01:15 2 26 0 22
01:30 3 18 2 18
01:45 4 23 12 91 2 25 6 84 18 175
02:00 1 31 1 28
02:15 0 40 1 47
02:30 2 46 0 44
02:45 3 41 6 158 1 30 3 149 9 307
03:00 0 42 0 33
03:15 1 54 1 44
03:30 1 62 2 53
03:45 0 49 2 207 0 41 3 171 5 378
04:00 4 43 1 32
04:15 0 44 2 36
04:30 3 46 2 32
04:45 1 39 8 172 2 27 7 127 15 299
05:00 1 48 1 35
05:15 5 37 3 42
05:30 5 48 9 36
05:45 9 48 20 181 7 33 20 146 40 327
06:00 4 42 5 30
06:15 7 46 12 35
06:30 6 36 12 26
06:45 8 22 25 146 28 22 57 113 82 259
07:00 8 28 14 25
07:15 9 24 23 22
07:30 14 22 28 23
07:45 27 22 58 96 67 15 132 85 190 181
08:00 43 17 90 17
08:15 49 17 88 14
08:30 33 21 72 9
08:45 23 17 148 72 32 12 282 52 430 124
09:00 17 15 21 15
09:15 14 20 17 13
09:30 23 18 26 12
09:45 18 12 72 65 23 9 87 49 159 114
10:00 17 12 18 11
10:15 16 6 21 7
10:30 22 9 20 6
10:45 20 9 75 36 22 4 81 28 156 64
11:00 24 7 23 6
11:15 15 7 25 7
11:30 14 4 24 6
11:45 20 7 73 25 13 7 85 26 158 51
Total  507 1340 507 1340 770 1121 770 1121 1277 2461

Combined
Total

 1847 1847 1891 1891 3738

AM Peak - 07:45 - - - 07:45 - - - - -
Vol. - 152 - - - 317 - - - - -

P.H.F.  0.776    0.881      
PM Peak - - 03:15 - - - 03:00 - - - -

Vol. - - 208 - - - 171 - - - -
P.H.F.   0.839    0.807     

 
Percentag

e
 27.4% 72.6%   40.7% 59.3%     

ADT/AADT ADT 3,738 AADT 3,738



Page 1 
 
City of Lawndale
Avis Avenue
N/ 147th Street
24 Hour Directional Volume Count

 
 
 

LND005
Site Code: 141-24363

 
 
 
 

Counts Unlimited, Inc.
PO Box 1178

Corona, CA 92878
Phone: (951) 268-6268

email: counts@countsunlimited.com

 
Start 4/24/2024 Northbound Hour Totals Southbound Hour Totals Combined Totals
Time Wed Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon

12:00 1 4 0 10
12:15 2 8 1 9
12:30 1 9 2 7
12:45 0 10 4 31 0 12 3 38 7 69
01:00 1 11 1 14
01:15 1 12 0 8
01:30 0 7 0 11
01:45 1 4 3 34 0 9 1 42 4 76
02:00 1 9 1 17
02:15 0 24 0 55
02:30 2 14 0 34
02:45 0 20 3 67 0 14 1 120 4 187
03:00 0 17 0 26
03:15 0 39 0 44
03:30 1 33 1 89
03:45 0 11 1 100 0 33 1 192 2 292
04:00 2 11 0 20
04:15 1 15 1 22
04:30 0 12 0 31
04:45 0 8 3 46 1 13 2 86 5 132
05:00 0 19 1 26
05:15 6 12 1 21
05:30 1 11 3 22
05:45 8 21 15 63 2 25 7 94 22 157
06:00 3 15 3 25
06:15 3 11 2 11
06:30 5 6 7 15
06:45 11 7 22 39 11 15 23 66 45 105
07:00 6 7 9 10
07:15 10 6 11 13
07:30 13 7 18 14
07:45 30 8 59 28 29 6 67 43 126 71
08:00 75 9 62 8
08:15 110 8 95 6
08:30 41 8 118 5
08:45 16 8 242 33 19 9 294 28 536 61
09:00 9 9 7 8
09:15 9 9 6 6
09:30 6 4 10 8
09:45 7 2 31 24 13 4 36 26 67 50
10:00 8 8 10 7
10:15 4 6 10 5
10:30 8 4 8 3
10:45 8 1 28 19 7 1 35 16 63 35
11:00 10 1 12 4
11:15 5 1 11 2
11:30 9 2 14 0
11:45 5 2 29 6 5 1 42 7 71 13
Total  440 490 440 490 512 758 512 758 952 1248

Combined
Total

 930 930 1270 1270 2200

AM Peak - 07:45 - - - 07:45 - - - - -
Vol. - 256 - - - 304 - - - - -

P.H.F.  0.582    0.644      
PM Peak - - 02:45 - - - 03:00 - - - -

Vol. - - 109 - - - 192 - - - -
P.H.F.   0.699    0.539     

 
Percentag

e
 47.3% 52.7%   40.3% 59.7%     

ADT/AADT ADT 2,200 AADT 2,200



Page 1 
 
City of Lawndale
Avis Avenue
S/ 147th Street
24 Hour Directional Volume Count

 
 
 

LND006
Site Code: 141-24363

 
 
 
 

Counts Unlimited, Inc.
PO Box 1178

Corona, CA 92878
Phone: (951) 268-6268

email: counts@countsunlimited.com

 
Start 4/24/2024 Northbound Hour Totals Southbound Hour Totals Combined Totals
Time Wed Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon

12:00 0 4 0 6
12:15 4 10 0 4
12:30 0 9 1 6
12:45 1 6 5 29 0 5 1 21 6 50
01:00 0 9 1 10
01:15 0 10 0 8
01:30 0 8 0 2
01:45 1 8 1 35 0 5 1 25 2 60
02:00 0 8 0 6
02:15 0 21 0 17
02:30 2 12 0 10
02:45 0 14 2 55 0 7 0 40 2 95
03:00 2 20 0 15
03:15 0 26 0 16
03:30 1 20 1 31
03:45 0 9 3 75 0 10 1 72 4 147
04:00 1 12 0 7
04:15 0 16 0 9
04:30 1 12 0 8
04:45 1 15 3 55 4 3 4 27 7 82
05:00 0 20 0 15
05:15 3 18 1 5
05:30 1 15 2 9
05:45 5 17 9 70 1 7 4 36 13 106
06:00 1 20 1 9
06:15 2 18 3 6
06:30 1 10 5 9
06:45 9 5 13 53 7 5 16 29 29 82
07:00 1 8 3 2
07:15 11 14 9 5
07:30 12 10 7 11
07:45 15 9 39 41 8 1 27 19 66 60
08:00 39 5 11 6
08:15 52 10 17 4
08:30 15 8 23 5
08:45 17 2 123 25 6 2 57 17 180 42
09:00 11 7 5 1
09:15 6 6 5 3
09:30 4 5 5 2
09:45 5 5 26 23 6 4 21 10 47 33
10:00 7 2 4 4
10:15 9 2 5 5
10:30 12 1 7 5
10:45 8 1 36 6 0 1 16 15 52 21
11:00 5 1 7 2
11:15 2 3 4 0
11:30 10 4 6 0
11:45 9 1 26 9 6 0 23 2 49 11
Total  286 476 286 476 171 313 171 313 457 789

Combined
Total

 762 762 484 484 1246

AM Peak - 08:00 - - - 07:45 - - - - -
Vol. - 123 - - - 59 - - - - -

P.H.F.  0.591    0.641      
PM Peak - - 02:45 - - - 03:00 - - - -

Vol. - - 80 - - - 72 - - - -
P.H.F.   0.769    0.581     

 
Percentag

e
 37.5% 62.5%   35.3% 64.7%     

ADT/AADT ADT 1,246 AADT 1,246



Page 1 
 
City of Lawndale
147th Street
E/ Avis Avenue
24 Hour Directional Volume Count

 
 
 

LND007
Site Code: 141-24363

 
 
 
 

Counts Unlimited, Inc.
PO Box 1178

Corona, CA 92878
Phone: (951) 268-6268

email: counts@countsunlimited.com

 
Start 4/24/2024 Eastbound Hour Totals Westbound Hour Totals Combined Totals
Time Wed Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon

12:00 2 34 3 22
12:15 3 24 1 19
12:30 1 27 4 26
12:45 1 26 7 111 2 19 10 86 17 197
01:00 3 26 1 20
01:15 2 27 1 27
01:30 1 20 2 15
01:45 1 34 7 107 5 23 9 85 16 192
02:00 2 37 2 25
02:15 0 59 0 34
02:30 1 61 2 30
02:45 1 46 4 203 3 32 7 121 11 324
03:00 1 54 0 35
03:15 0 83 0 47
03:30 1 99 1 48
03:45 0 60 2 296 2 39 3 169 5 465
04:00 5 64 0 34
04:15 2 54 0 32
04:30 5 63 2 26
04:45 7 46 19 227 5 20 7 112 26 339
05:00 3 73 3 36
05:15 1 46 4 39
05:30 3 67 4 38
05:45 8 52 15 238 7 29 18 142 33 380
06:00 4 53 6 27
06:15 6 60 12 37
06:30 20 45 10 27
06:45 23 27 53 185 16 20 44 111 97 296
07:00 16 31 18 25
07:15 17 35 22 18
07:30 29 27 15 27
07:45 24 30 86 123 42 12 97 82 183 205
08:00 51 17 84 28
08:15 83 24 96 19
08:30 89 20 38 11
08:45 36 24 259 85 24 15 242 73 501 158
09:00 21 22 17 19
09:15 17 24 10 17
09:30 18 23 19 11
09:45 23 17 79 86 17 9 63 56 142 142
10:00 19 11 15 10
10:15 25 8 15 13
10:30 29 8 17 13
10:45 24 7 97 34 14 5 61 41 158 75
11:00 20 8 20 7
11:15 17 12 25 11
11:30 27 5 25 7
11:45 26 2 90 27 15 6 85 31 175 58
Total  718 1722 718 1722 646 1109 646 1109 1364 2831

Combined
Total

 2440 2440 1755 1755 4195

AM Peak - 08:00 - - - 07:45 - - - - -
Vol. - 259 - - - 260 - - - - -

P.H.F.  0.728    0.677      
PM Peak - - 03:15 - - - 03:00 - - - -

Vol. - - 306 - - - 169 - - - -
P.H.F.   0.773    0.880     

 
Percentag

e
 29.4% 70.6%   36.8% 63.2%     

ADT/AADT ADT 4,195 AADT 4,195



Page 1 
 
City of Lawndale
147th Street
W/ Avis Avenue
24 Hour Directional Volume Count

 
 
 

LND008
Site Code: 141-24363

 
 
 
 

Counts Unlimited, Inc.
PO Box 1178

Corona, CA 92878
Phone: (951) 268-6268

email: counts@countsunlimited.com

 
Start 4/24/2024 Eastbound Hour Totals Westbound Hour Totals Combined Totals
Time Wed Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon Morning Afternoon

12:00 2 24 2 16
12:15 1 19 2 21
12:30 0 23 3 23
12:45 0 27 3 93 2 23 9 83 12 176
01:00 3 22 0 18
01:15 3 26 1 24
01:30 1 15 2 20
01:45 1 27 8 90 5 24 8 86 16 176
02:00 2 31 2 29
02:15 0 40 0 50
02:30 1 48 2 39
02:45 1 41 4 160 3 28 7 146 11 306
03:00 0 42 1 37
03:15 0 60 0 39
03:30 1 58 1 52
03:45 0 47 1 207 2 47 4 175 5 382
04:00 6 49 0 33
04:15 2 44 0 36
04:30 4 47 2 33
04:45 7 34 19 174 3 25 5 127 24 301
05:00 2 52 3 27
05:15 2 28 2 43
05:30 3 53 5 41
05:45 7 40 14 173 4 31 14 142 28 315
06:00 5 36 7 31
06:15 7 47 11 36
06:30 19 36 7 28
06:45 20 20 51 139 15 21 40 116 91 255
07:00 11 27 14 30
07:15 10 21 18 20
07:30 23 21 19 27
07:45 23 26 67 95 47 14 98 91 165 186
08:00 45 14 93 23
08:15 50 17 83 16
08:30 47 18 65 9
08:45 28 20 170 69 30 12 271 60 441 129
09:00 18 17 18 19
09:15 18 24 9 17
09:30 18 18 22 13
09:45 23 14 77 73 22 9 71 58 148 131
10:00 17 13 18 9
10:15 18 5 18 6
10:30 23 9 16 9
10:45 21 7 79 34 18 5 70 29 149 63
11:00 22 8 22 9
11:15 16 8 28 11
11:30 18 3 25 7
11:45 20 1 76 20 12 5 87 32 163 52
Total  569 1327 569 1327 684 1145 684 1145 1253 2472

Combined
Total

 1896 1896 1829 1829 3725

AM Peak - 08:00 - - - 07:45 - - - - -
Vol. - 170 - - - 288 - - - - -

P.H.F.  0.850    0.774      
PM Peak - - 03:15 - - - 03:00 - - - -

Vol. - - 214 - - - 175 - - - -
P.H.F.   0.892    0.841     

 
Percentag

e
 30.0% 70.0%   37.4% 62.6%     

ADT/AADT ADT 3,725 AADT 3,725



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

    

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX C 
PEAK-HOUR TURNING MOVEMENT VOLUMES 

  



File Name : 01_LND_Larch_147th AM
Site Code : 14124363
Start Date : 4/24/2024
Page No : 1

City of Lawndale
N/S: Larch Avenue
E/W: W 147th Street
Weather: Clear

Groups Printed- Total Volume
Larch Avenue
Southbound

W 147th Street
Westbound

Larch Avenue
Northbound

W 147th Street
Eastbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

07:00 AM 2 9 7 18 0 18 1 19 5 4 1 10 1 6 0 7 54
07:15 AM 9 18 8 35 0 27 2 29 4 2 0 6 3 3 5 11 81
07:30 AM 6 12 12 30 0 23 4 27 5 3 1 9 2 15 2 19 85
07:45 AM 9 12 12 33 3 56 4 63 4 7 0 11 3 14 1 18 125

Total 26 51 39 116 3 124 11 138 18 16 2 36 9 38 8 55 345

08:00 AM 12 14 17 43 4 79 13 96 9 7 0 16 3 30 5 38 193
08:15 AM 7 15 16 38 1 80 11 92 8 15 1 24 9 38 2 49 203
08:30 AM 11 18 7 36 1 73 7 81 1 5 3 9 5 34 5 44 170
08:45 AM 7 8 6 21 1 25 6 32 3 10 1 14 5 22 1 28 95

Total 37 55 46 138 7 257 37 301 21 37 5 63 22 124 13 159 661

Grand Total 63 106 85 254 10 381 48 439 39 53 7 99 31 162 21 214 1006
Apprch % 24.8 41.7 33.5  2.3 86.8 10.9  39.4 53.5 7.1  14.5 75.7 9.8   

Total % 6.3 10.5 8.4 25.2 1 37.9 4.8 43.6 3.9 5.3 0.7 9.8 3.1 16.1 2.1 21.3

Larch Avenue
Southbound

W 147th Street
Westbound

Larch Avenue
Northbound

W 147th Street
Eastbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 07:00 AM to 08:45 AM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 07:45 AM

07:45 AM 9 12 12 33 3 56 4 63 4 7 0 11 3 14 1 18 125
08:00 AM 12 14 17 43 4 79 13 96 9 7 0 16 3 30 5 38 193
08:15 AM 7 15 16 38 1 80 11 92 8 15 1 24 9 38 2 49 203

08:30 AM 11 18 7 36 1 73 7 81 1 5 3 9 5 34 5 44 170
Total Volume 39 59 52 150 9 288 35 332 22 34 4 60 20 116 13 149 691
% App. Total 26 39.3 34.7  2.7 86.7 10.5  36.7 56.7 6.7  13.4 77.9 8.7   

PHF .813 .819 .765 .872 .563 .900 .673 .865 .611 .567 .333 .625 .556 .763 .650 .760 .851

Counts Unlimited, Inc.
PO Box 1178

Corona, CA 92878
(951) 268-6268



File Name : 01_LND_Larch_147th AM
Site Code : 14124363
Start Date : 4/24/2024
Page No : 2

City of Lawndale
N/S: Larch Avenue
E/W: W 147th Street
Weather: Clear

 Larch Avenue 

 W
 1

4
7
th

 S
tr

e
e
t 

 W
 1

4
7
th

 S
tre

e
t 

 Larch Avenue 

Right
52 

Thru
59 

Left
39 

InOut Total
89 150 239 

R
ig

h
t

3
5
 

T
h
ru

2
8
8
 

L
e
ft9

 

O
u
t

T
o
ta

l
In

1
5
9
 

3
3
2
 

4
9
1
 

Left
22 

Thru
34 

Right
4 

Out TotalIn
81 60 141 

L
e
ft2
0
 

T
h
ru1
1
6
 

R
ig

h
t

1
3
 

T
o
ta

l
O

u
t

In
3
6
2
 

1
4
9
 

5
1
1
 

Peak Hour Begins at 07:45 AM
 
Total Volume

Peak Hour Data

North

Peak Hour Analysis From 07:00 AM to 08:45 AM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Each Approach Begins at:

07:45 AM 07:45 AM 08:00 AM 08:00 AM

+0 mins. 9 12 12 33 3 56 4 63 9 7 0 16 3 30 5 38
+15 mins. 12 14 17 43 4 79 13 96 8 15 1 24 9 38 2 49

+30 mins. 7 15 16 38 1 80 11 92 1 5 3 9 5 34 5 44
+45 mins. 11 18 7 36 1 73 7 81 3 10 1 14 5 22 1 28

Total Volume 39 59 52 150 9 288 35 332 21 37 5 63 22 124 13 159
% App. Total 26 39.3 34.7  2.7 86.7 10.5  33.3 58.7 7.9  13.8 78 8.2  

PHF .813 .819 .765 .872 .563 .900 .673 .865 .583 .617 .417 .656 .611 .816 .650 .811

Counts Unlimited, Inc.
PO Box 1178

Corona, CA 92878
(951) 268-6268



File Name : 01_LND_Larch_147th MD
Site Code : 14124363
Start Date : 4/24/2024
Page No : 1

City of Lawndale
N/S: Larch Avenue
E/W: W 147th Street
Weather: Clear

Groups Printed- Total Volume
Larch Avenue
Southbound

W 147th Street
Westbound

Larch Avenue
Northbound

W 147th Street
Eastbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

01:00 PM 2 5 3 10 2 13 5 20 4 4 1 9 3 22 1 26 65
01:15 PM 2 13 11 26 0 16 3 19 1 3 1 5 1 23 4 28 78
01:30 PM 5 13 9 27 3 9 4 16 2 5 3 10 6 13 1 20 73
01:45 PM 8 8 9 25 0 23 2 25 5 5 1 11 4 10 3 17 78

Total 17 39 32 88 5 61 14 80 12 17 6 35 14 68 9 91 294

02:00 PM 6 13 12 31 4 19 3 26 2 8 3 13 7 21 4 32 102
02:15 PM 14 6 15 35 1 38 4 43 1 5 6 12 6 19 6 31 121
02:30 PM 8 11 14 33 3 39 7 49 2 7 1 10 7 34 2 43 135
02:45 PM 9 13 8 30 0 29 3 32 1 1 4 6 5 27 5 37 105

Total 37 43 49 129 8 125 17 150 6 21 14 41 25 101 17 143 463

03:00 PM 9 7 11 27 4 20 5 29 2 8 4 14 4 28 3 35 105
03:15 PM 10 13 6 29 1 38 9 48 4 5 4 13 3 34 3 40 130
03:30 PM 10 14 8 32 0 48 5 53 3 1 6 10 3 49 5 57 152
03:45 PM 11 11 9 31 2 29 4 35 6 7 2 15 7 37 5 49 130

Total 40 45 34 119 7 135 23 165 15 21 16 52 17 148 16 181 517

04:00 PM 9 10 2 21 0 22 8 30 2 5 4 11 5 24 1 30 92
04:15 PM 16 9 6 31 5 25 5 35 0 7 5 12 3 23 3 29 107
04:30 PM 11 1 9 21 2 22 7 31 4 8 3 15 7 30 2 39 106
04:45 PM 11 13 8 32 2 21 5 28 1 10 4 15 6 28 1 35 110

Total 47 33 25 105 9 90 25 124 7 30 16 53 21 105 7 133 415

05:00 PM 16 13 8 37 2 35 6 43 1 16 2 19 4 26 4 34 133
05:15 PM 10 10 8 28 3 30 8 41 5 7 6 18 2 29 6 37 124
05:30 PM 8 8 7 23 1 27 3 31 1 6 3 10 1 31 5 37 101
05:45 PM 13 12 9 34 3 25 7 35 7 9 2 18 4 41 4 49 136

Total 47 43 32 122 9 117 24 150 14 38 13 65 11 127 19 157 494

06:00 PM 12 22 15 49 1 22 6 29 1 8 4 13 2 31 5 38 129
06:15 PM 16 9 8 33 3 28 2 33 6 15 0 21 1 29 3 33 120
06:30 PM 6 17 8 31 2 16 5 23 5 9 5 19 2 24 3 29 102
06:45 PM 4 6 8 18 1 18 3 22 4 4 5 13 4 14 2 20 73

Total 38 54 39 131 7 84 16 107 16 36 14 66 9 98 13 120 424

Grand Total 226 257 211 694 45 612 119 776 70 163 79 312 97 647 81 825 2607
Apprch % 32.6 37 30.4  5.8 78.9 15.3  22.4 52.2 25.3  11.8 78.4 9.8   

Total % 8.7 9.9 8.1 26.6 1.7 23.5 4.6 29.8 2.7 6.3 3 12 3.7 24.8 3.1 31.6

Counts Unlimited, Inc.
PO Box 1178

Corona, CA 92878
(951) 268-6268



File Name : 01_LND_Larch_147th MD
Site Code : 14124363
Start Date : 4/24/2024
Page No : 2

City of Lawndale
N/S: Larch Avenue
E/W: W 147th Street
Weather: Clear

Larch Avenue
Southbound

W 147th Street
Westbound

Larch Avenue
Northbound

W 147th Street
Eastbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 01:00 PM to 06:45 PM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 03:00 PM

03:00 PM 9 7 11 27 4 20 5 29 2 8 4 14 4 28 3 35 105
03:15 PM 10 13 6 29 1 38 9 48 4 5 4 13 3 34 3 40 130
03:30 PM 10 14 8 32 0 48 5 53 3 1 6 10 3 49 5 57 152

03:45 PM 11 11 9 31 2 29 4 35 6 7 2 15 7 37 5 49 130
Total Volume 40 45 34 119 7 135 23 165 15 21 16 52 17 148 16 181 517
% App. Total 33.6 37.8 28.6  4.2 81.8 13.9  28.8 40.4 30.8  9.4 81.8 8.8   

PHF .909 .804 .773 .930 .438 .703 .639 .778 .625 .656 .667 .867 .607 .755 .800 .794 .850

 Larch Avenue 

 W
 1

4
7

th
 S

tr
e

e
t 

 W
 1

4
7

th
 S

tre
e

t 

 Larch Avenue 

Right
34 

Thru
45 

Left
40 

InOut Total
61 119 180 

R
ig

h
t

2
3

 
T

h
ru

1
3

5
 

L
e

ft7
 

O
u

t
T

o
ta

l
In

2
0

4
 

1
6

5
 

3
6

9
 

Left
15 

Thru
21 

Right
16 

Out TotalIn
68 52 120 

L
e

ft1
7

 
T

h
ru1
4

8
 

R
ig

h
t

1
6

 

T
o

ta
l

O
u

t
In

1
8

4
 

1
8

1
 

3
6

5
 

Peak Hour Begins at 03:00 PM
 
Total Volume

Peak Hour Data

North

Counts Unlimited, Inc.
PO Box 1178

Corona, CA 92878
(951) 268-6268



File Name : 01_LND_Larch_147th MD
Site Code : 14124363
Start Date : 4/24/2024
Page No : 3

City of Lawndale
N/S: Larch Avenue
E/W: W 147th Street
Weather: Clear

Larch Avenue
Southbound

W 147th Street
Westbound

Larch Avenue
Northbound

W 147th Street
Eastbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 01:00 PM to 06:45 PM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Each Approach Begins at:

05:45 PM 03:15 PM 05:45 PM 03:00 PM

+0 mins. 13 12 9 34 1 38 9 48 7 9 2 18 4 28 3 35
+15 mins. 12 22 15 49 0 48 5 53 1 8 4 13 3 34 3 40
+30 mins. 16 9 8 33 2 29 4 35 6 15 0 21 3 49 5 57

+45 mins. 6 17 8 31 0 22 8 30 5 9 5 19 7 37 5 49
Total Volume 47 60 40 147 3 137 26 166 19 41 11 71 17 148 16 181
% App. Total 32 40.8 27.2  1.8 82.5 15.7  26.8 57.7 15.5  9.4 81.8 8.8  

PHF .734 .682 .667 .750 .375 .714 .722 .783 .679 .683 .550 .845 .607 .755 .800 .794

 Larch Avenue 

 W
 1

4
7

th
 S

tr
e

e
t 

 W
 1

4
7

th
 S

tre
e

t 

 Larch Avenue 

Right
40 

Thru
60 

Left
47 

In - Peak Hour: 05:45 PM
147 

R
ig

h
t

2
6

 
T

h
ru

1
3

7
 

L
e

ft3
 

In
 - P

e
a

k H
o

u
r: 0

3
:1

5
 P

M
1

6
6

 

Left
19 

Thru
41 

Right
11 

In - Peak Hour: 05:45 PM
71 

L
e

ft1
7

 
T

h
ru1
4

8
 

R
ig

h
t

1
6

 

In
 -

 P
e

a
k 

H
o

u
r:

 0
3

:0
0

 P
M

1
8

1
 

Total Volume

Peak Hour Data

North

Counts Unlimited, Inc.
PO Box 1178

Corona, CA 92878
(951) 268-6268



Location: Date: 4/24/2024
N/S: Day: Wednesday
E/W:

North Leg East Leg South Leg West Leg
Larch Avenue 147th Street Larch Avenue 147th Street
Pedestrians Pedestrians Pedestrians Pedestrians

1 2 0 2 5
0 2 1 1 4
3 1 1 6 11
7 2 0 1 10
7 2 2 4 15
3 2 4 6 15
5 1 3 3 12
1 1 2 0 4
27 13 13 23 76

North Leg East Leg South Leg West Leg
Larch Avenue 147th Street Larch Avenue 147th Street
Pedestrians Pedestrians Pedestrians Pedestrians

2 1 2 2 7
5 2 5 4 16
3 0 3 1 7
1 0 2 2 5
2 0 1 1 4
3 2 6 4 15
7 2 1 2 12
2 1 6 3 12
25 8 26 19 78

Lawndale
Larch Avenue
147th Street

PEDESTRIANS

7:00 AM
7:15 AM
7:30 AM

TOTAL VOLUMES:

7:45 AM
8:00 AM
8:15 AM
8:30 AM
8:45 AM

1:00 PM
1:15 PM
1:30 PM
1:45 PM
2:00 PM
2:15 PM
2:30 PM
2:45 PM

TOTAL VOLUMES:

Counts Unlimited, Inc.
PO Box 1178

Corona, CA 92878
951-268-6268



Location: Date: 4/24/2024
N/S: Day: Wednesday
E/W:

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right
0 0 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 1 4 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 6
0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 4
0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 4
0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
0 1 2 1 11 0 1 0 0 1 4 0 21

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right
0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 2
0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 2
0 1 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 5
0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1
0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
0 1 0 0 8 1 2 0 0 0 3 0 15

147th Street
Larch Avenue
Lawndale

BICYCLES

7:30 AM

7:00 AM
7:15 AM

Eastbound

7:45 AM

Southbound Westbound Northbound
Larch Avenue 147th Street Larch Avenue

8:00 AM
8:15 AM
8:30 AM
8:45 AM

147th Street

TOTAL VOLUMES:

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound
Larch Avenue 147th Street Larch Avenue 147th Street

1:00 PM

TOTAL VOLUMES:

1:15 PM
1:30 PM
1:45 PM
2:00 PM
2:15 PM
2:30 PM
2:45 PM

Counts Unlimited, Inc.
PO Box 1178

Corona, CA 92878
951-268-6268



File Name : 02_LND_Avis_147th AM
Site Code : 14124363
Start Date : 4/24/2024
Page No : 1

City of Lawndale
N/S: Avis Avenue
E/W: W 147th Street
Weather: Clear

Groups Printed- Total Volume
Avis Avenue
Southbound

W 147th Street
Westbound

Avis Avenue
Northbound

W 147th Street
Eastbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

07:00 AM 6 2 1 9 1 13 4 18 0 0 1 1 2 9 0 11 39
07:15 AM 3 6 2 11 3 14 5 22 2 4 5 11 1 9 0 10 54
07:30 AM 7 3 8 18 3 9 3 15 2 7 3 12 3 19 1 23 68
07:45 AM 8 2 19 29 6 27 9 42 1 13 1 15 8 15 0 23 109

Total 24 13 30 67 13 63 21 97 5 24 10 39 14 52 1 67 270

08:00 AM 25 9 28 62 1 59 24 84 6 27 6 39 24 20 1 45 230
08:15 AM 49 10 36 95 5 41 50 96 6 39 7 52 21 27 2 50 293
08:30 AM 50 19 49 118 3 15 20 38 1 6 8 15 15 31 1 47 218
08:45 AM 8 3 8 19 1 19 4 24 3 9 5 17 3 23 2 28 88

Total 132 41 121 294 10 134 98 242 16 81 26 123 63 101 6 170 829

Grand Total 156 54 151 361 23 197 119 339 21 105 36 162 77 153 7 237 1099
Apprch % 43.2 15 41.8  6.8 58.1 35.1  13 64.8 22.2  32.5 64.6 3   

Total % 14.2 4.9 13.7 32.8 2.1 17.9 10.8 30.8 1.9 9.6 3.3 14.7 7 13.9 0.6 21.6

Avis Avenue
Southbound

W 147th Street
Westbound

Avis Avenue
Northbound

W 147th Street
Eastbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 07:00 AM to 08:45 AM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 07:45 AM

07:45 AM 8 2 19 29 6 27 9 42 1 13 1 15 8 15 0 23 109
08:00 AM 25 9 28 62 1 59 24 84 6 27 6 39 24 20 1 45 230
08:15 AM 49 10 36 95 5 41 50 96 6 39 7 52 21 27 2 50 293

08:30 AM 50 19 49 118 3 15 20 38 1 6 8 15 15 31 1 47 218
Total Volume 132 40 132 304 15 142 103 260 14 85 22 121 68 93 4 165 850
% App. Total 43.4 13.2 43.4  5.8 54.6 39.6  11.6 70.2 18.2  41.2 56.4 2.4   

PHF .660 .526 .673 .644 .625 .602 .515 .677 .583 .545 .688 .582 .708 .750 .500 .825 .725

Counts Unlimited, Inc.
PO Box 1178

Corona, CA 92878
(951) 268-6268



File Name : 02_LND_Avis_147th AM
Site Code : 14124363
Start Date : 4/24/2024
Page No : 2

City of Lawndale
N/S: Avis Avenue
E/W: W 147th Street
Weather: Clear

 Avis Avenue 

 W
 1

4
7
th

 S
tr

e
e
t 

 W
 1

4
7
th

 S
tre

e
t 

 Avis Avenue 

Right
132 

Thru
40 

Left
132 

InOut Total
256 304 560 

R
ig

h
t

1
0
3
 

T
h
ru

1
4
2
 

L
e
ft1
5
 

O
u
t

T
o
ta

l
In

2
4
7
 

2
6
0
 

5
0
7
 

Left
14 

Thru
85 

Right
22 

Out TotalIn
59 121 180 

L
e
ft6
8
 

T
h
ru9

3
 

R
ig

h
t4
 

T
o
ta

l
O

u
t

In
2
8
8
 

1
6
5
 

4
5
3
 

Peak Hour Begins at 07:45 AM
 
Total Volume

Peak Hour Data

North

Peak Hour Analysis From 07:00 AM to 08:45 AM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Each Approach Begins at:

07:45 AM 07:45 AM 08:00 AM 08:00 AM

+0 mins. 8 2 19 29 6 27 9 42 6 27 6 39 24 20 1 45
+15 mins. 25 9 28 62 1 59 24 84 6 39 7 52 21 27 2 50

+30 mins. 49 10 36 95 5 41 50 96 1 6 8 15 15 31 1 47
+45 mins. 50 19 49 118 3 15 20 38 3 9 5 17 3 23 2 28

Total Volume 132 40 132 304 15 142 103 260 16 81 26 123 63 101 6 170
% App. Total 43.4 13.2 43.4  5.8 54.6 39.6  13 65.9 21.1  37.1 59.4 3.5  

PHF .660 .526 .673 .644 .625 .602 .515 .677 .667 .519 .813 .591 .656 .815 .750 .850

Counts Unlimited, Inc.
PO Box 1178

Corona, CA 92878
(951) 268-6268



File Name : 02_LND_Avis_147th MD
Site Code : 14124363
Start Date : 4/24/2024
Page No : 1

City of Lawndale
N/S: Avis Avenue
E/W: W 147th Street
Weather: Clear

Groups Printed- Total Volume
Avis Avenue
Southbound

W 147th Street
Westbound

Avis Avenue
Northbound

W 147th Street
Eastbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

01:00 PM 5 6 3 14 2 15 3 20 0 7 2 9 1 19 2 22 65
01:15 PM 2 4 2 8 1 19 7 27 3 3 4 10 2 21 3 26 71
01:30 PM 5 0 6 11 2 12 1 15 2 3 3 8 3 12 0 15 49
01:45 PM 3 2 4 9 2 19 2 23 1 1 6 8 1 25 1 27 67

Total 15 12 15 42 7 65 13 85 6 14 15 35 7 77 6 90 252

02:00 PM 6 4 7 17 2 22 1 25 0 5 3 8 3 28 0 31 81
02:15 PM 21 8 26 55 6 22 6 34 2 8 11 21 10 27 3 40 150
02:30 PM 15 7 12 34 1 23 6 30 4 3 5 12 5 41 2 48 124
02:45 PM 7 3 4 14 3 21 8 32 3 6 5 14 6 34 1 41 101

Total 49 22 49 120 12 88 21 121 9 22 24 55 24 130 6 160 456

03:00 PM 8 9 9 26 4 26 5 35 2 8 10 20 4 36 2 42 123
03:15 PM 27 6 11 44 6 24 17 47 4 9 13 26 13 43 4 60 177
03:30 PM 45 17 27 89 9 23 16 48 2 8 10 20 9 44 5 58 215
03:45 PM 15 6 12 33 2 34 3 39 1 3 5 9 5 40 2 47 128

Total 95 38 59 192 21 107 41 169 9 28 38 75 31 163 13 207 643

04:00 PM 12 4 4 20 2 28 4 34 1 5 6 12 2 46 1 49 115
04:15 PM 8 4 10 22 3 23 6 32 3 5 8 16 4 38 2 44 114
04:30 PM 14 7 10 31 0 23 3 26 0 5 7 12 4 42 1 47 116
04:45 PM 7 0 6 13 3 16 1 20 3 5 7 15 2 32 0 34 82

Total 41 15 30 86 8 90 14 112 7 20 28 55 12 158 4 174 427

05:00 PM 15 7 4 26 7 23 6 36 0 8 12 20 5 46 1 52 134
05:15 PM 9 4 8 21 1 34 4 39 1 6 11 18 2 26 0 28 106
05:30 PM 10 3 9 22 5 31 2 38 1 3 11 15 6 46 1 53 128
05:45 PM 11 5 9 25 2 22 5 29 0 6 11 17 10 30 0 40 111

Total 45 19 30 94 15 110 17 142 2 23 45 70 23 148 2 173 479

06:00 PM 9 5 11 25 3 20 4 27 0 7 13 20 4 31 1 36 108
06:15 PM 7 2 2 11 2 33 2 37 1 8 9 18 1 44 2 47 113
06:30 PM 4 8 3 15 1 24 2 27 1 2 7 10 2 34 0 36 88
06:45 PM 8 1 6 15 3 15 2 20 0 3 2 5 2 17 1 20 60

Total 28 16 22 66 9 92 10 111 2 20 31 53 9 126 4 139 369

Grand Total 273 122 205 600 72 552 116 740 35 127 181 343 106 802 35 943 2626
Apprch % 45.5 20.3 34.2  9.7 74.6 15.7  10.2 37 52.8  11.2 85 3.7   

Total % 10.4 4.6 7.8 22.8 2.7 21 4.4 28.2 1.3 4.8 6.9 13.1 4 30.5 1.3 35.9

Counts Unlimited, Inc.
PO Box 1178

Corona, CA 92878
(951) 268-6268



File Name : 02_LND_Avis_147th MD
Site Code : 14124363
Start Date : 4/24/2024
Page No : 2

City of Lawndale
N/S: Avis Avenue
E/W: W 147th Street
Weather: Clear

Avis Avenue
Southbound

W 147th Street
Westbound

Avis Avenue
Northbound

W 147th Street
Eastbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 01:00 PM to 06:45 PM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 03:00 PM

03:00 PM 8 9 9 26 4 26 5 35 2 8 10 20 4 36 2 42 123
03:15 PM 27 6 11 44 6 24 17 47 4 9 13 26 13 43 4 60 177
03:30 PM 45 17 27 89 9 23 16 48 2 8 10 20 9 44 5 58 215

03:45 PM 15 6 12 33 2 34 3 39 1 3 5 9 5 40 2 47 128
Total Volume 95 38 59 192 21 107 41 169 9 28 38 75 31 163 13 207 643
% App. Total 49.5 19.8 30.7  12.4 63.3 24.3  12 37.3 50.7  15 78.7 6.3   

PHF .528 .559 .546 .539 .583 .787 .603 .880 .563 .778 .731 .721 .596 .926 .650 .863 .748

 Avis Avenue 

 W
 1

4
7

th
 S

tr
e

e
t 

 W
 1

4
7

th
 S

tre
e

t 

 Avis Avenue 

Right
59 

Thru
38 

Left
95 

InOut Total
100 192 292 

R
ig

h
t

4
1

 
T

h
ru

1
0

7
 

L
e

ft2
1

 

O
u

t
T

o
ta

l
In

2
9

6
 

1
6

9
 

4
6

5
 

Left
9 

Thru
28 

Right
38 

Out TotalIn
72 75 147 

L
e

ft3
1

 
T

h
ru1
6

3
 

R
ig

h
t

1
3

 

T
o

ta
l

O
u

t
In

1
7

5
 

2
0

7
 

3
8

2
 

Peak Hour Begins at 03:00 PM
 
Total Volume

Peak Hour Data

North

Counts Unlimited, Inc.
PO Box 1178

Corona, CA 92878
(951) 268-6268



File Name : 02_LND_Avis_147th MD
Site Code : 14124363
Start Date : 4/24/2024
Page No : 3

City of Lawndale
N/S: Avis Avenue
E/W: W 147th Street
Weather: Clear

Avis Avenue
Southbound

W 147th Street
Westbound

Avis Avenue
Northbound

W 147th Street
Eastbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 01:00 PM to 06:45 PM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Each Approach Begins at:

03:00 PM 03:00 PM 02:45 PM 03:15 PM

+0 mins. 8 9 9 26 4 26 5 35 3 6 5 14 13 43 4 60
+15 mins. 27 6 11 44 6 24 17 47 2 8 10 20 9 44 5 58
+30 mins. 45 17 27 89 9 23 16 48 4 9 13 26 5 40 2 47
+45 mins. 15 6 12 33 2 34 3 39 2 8 10 20 2 46 1 49

Total Volume 95 38 59 192 21 107 41 169 11 31 38 80 29 173 12 214
% App. Total 49.5 19.8 30.7  12.4 63.3 24.3  13.8 38.8 47.5  13.6 80.8 5.6  

PHF .528 .559 .546 .539 .583 .787 .603 .880 .688 .861 .731 .769 .558 .940 .600 .892

 Avis Avenue 

 W
 1

4
7

th
 S

tr
e

e
t 

 W
 1

4
7

th
 S

tre
e

t 

 Avis Avenue 

Right
59 

Thru
38 

Left
95 

In - Peak Hour: 03:00 PM
192 

R
ig

h
t

4
1

 
T

h
ru

1
0

7
 

L
e

ft2
1

 

In
 - P

e
a

k H
o

u
r: 0

3
:0

0
 P

M
1

6
9

 

Left
11 

Thru
31 

Right
38 

In - Peak Hour: 02:45 PM
80 

L
e

ft2
9

 
T

h
ru1
7

3
 

R
ig

h
t

1
2

 

In
 -

 P
e

a
k 

H
o

u
r:

 0
3

:1
5

 P
M

2
1

4
 

Total Volume

Peak Hour Data

North

Counts Unlimited, Inc.
PO Box 1178

Corona, CA 92878
(951) 268-6268



Location: Date: 4/24/2024
N/S: Day: Wednesday
E/W:

North Leg East Leg South Leg West Leg
Avis Avenue 147th Street Avis Avenue 147th Street
Pedestrians Pedestrians Pedestrians Pedestrians

1 1 0 1 3
0 3 5 2 10
4 1 2 2 9
7 3 3 1 14

23 3 1 9 36
23 6 5 14 48
6 3 3 6 18
2 2 1 1 6
66 22 20 36 144

North Leg East Leg South Leg West Leg
Avis Avenue 147th Street Avis Avenue 147th Street
Pedestrians Pedestrians Pedestrians Pedestrians

5 0 2 3 10
5 0 2 0 7
2 0 2 2 6
3 0 3 0 6
5 3 1 0 9
8 1 2 9 20
7 0 2 6 15
1 0 1 1 3
36 4 15 21 76

Lawndale
Avis Avenue
147th Street

PEDESTRIANS

7:00 AM
7:15 AM
7:30 AM

TOTAL VOLUMES:

7:45 AM
8:00 AM
8:15 AM
8:30 AM
8:45 AM

1:00 PM
1:15 PM
1:30 PM
1:45 PM
2:00 PM
2:15 PM
2:30 PM
2:45 PM

TOTAL VOLUMES:

Counts Unlimited, Inc.
PO Box 1178

Corona, CA 92878
951-268-6268



Location: Date: 4/24/2024
N/S: Day: Wednesday
E/W:

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 3
1 0 3 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5
0 0 0 0 0 3 0 2 0 0 0 0 5
0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 2 1 1 5
0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
1 0 3 0 5 3 0 2 1 2 2 2 21

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right
0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 3
0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 3
0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1
0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
0 0 3 0 5 2 0 0 0 0 3 0 13

147th Street
Avis Avenue
Lawndale

BICYCLES

7:30 AM

7:00 AM
7:15 AM

Eastbound

7:45 AM

Southbound Westbound Northbound
Avis Avenue 147th Street Avis Avenue

8:00 AM
8:15 AM
8:30 AM
8:45 AM

147th Street

TOTAL VOLUMES:

Southbound Westbound Northbound Eastbound
Avis Avenue 147th Street Avis Avenue 147th Street

1:00 PM

TOTAL VOLUMES:

1:15 PM
1:30 PM
1:45 PM
2:00 PM
2:15 PM
2:30 PM
2:45 PM

Counts Unlimited, Inc.
PO Box 1178

Corona, CA 92878
951-268-6268



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX D 
SPEED SURVEYS 

  



Page 1 
 
City of Lawndale
147th Street
B/ Hawthorne Boulevard - Larch Avenue
24 Hour Directional Speed Survey

 
 
 

LND015
Site Code: 141-24363

 
 
 
 

Counts Unimited, Inc.
PO Box 1178

Corona, CA 92878
(951) 268-6268

email: counts@countsunlimited.com

 
Eastbound

Start 1 16 21 26 31 36 41 46 51 56 61 66 71 76  
Time 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60 65 70 75 999 Total

04/24/24 1 0 3 6 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11
01:00 2 1 1 3 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9
02:00 2 0 1 5 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11
03:00 0 0 2 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5
04:00 0 1 1 2 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
05:00 0 0 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
06:00 2 3 2 5 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 17
07:00 5 5 8 14 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 40
08:00 10 10 34 52 23 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 132
09:00 6 4 19 25 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 63
10:00 9 10 20 35 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 84
11:00 5 4 20 30 6 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 68

12 PM 6 7 13 38 21 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 86
13:00 7 10 31 58 20 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 131
14:00 4 8 31 57 30 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 133
15:00 4 9 30 75 38 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 158
16:00 3 4 44 55 42 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 153
17:00 5 7 41 73 38 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 170
18:00 9 7 29 59 27 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 134
19:00 5 7 35 35 15 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 98
20:00 5 9 36 29 10 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 91
21:00 1 3 14 26 8 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 54
22:00 3 3 13 15 5 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 41
23:00 1 1 8 10 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25
Total 95 113 437 710 328 38 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1723

  
Grand

Total
95 113 437 710 328 38 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1723

  
15th Percentile : 20 MPH
50th Percentile : 26 MPH
85th Percentile : 31 MPH
95th Percentile : 34 MPH

  
Statistics Mean Speed(Average) : 26 MPH

10  MPH Pace Speed : 21-30  MPH
Number in Pace : 1147
Percent in Pace : 66.6%

Number of Vehicles > 55  MPH : 0
Percent of Vehicles > 55  MPH : 0.0%



Page 2 
 
City of Lawndale
147th Street
B/ Hawthorne Boulevard - Larch Avenue
24 Hour Directional Speed Survey

 
 
 

LND015
Site Code: 141-24363

 
 
 
 

Counts Unimited, Inc.
PO Box 1178

Corona, CA 92878
(951) 268-6268

email: counts@countsunlimited.com

 
Westbound

Start 1 16 21 26 31 36 41 46 51 56 61 66 71 76  
Time 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60 65 70 75 999 Total

04/24/24 2 1 0 4 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9
01:00 1 0 1 3 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8
02:00 0 0 2 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5
03:00 0 1 1 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5
04:00 0 0 3 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9
05:00 4 1 4 6 8 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 24
06:00 1 6 24 23 10 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 65
07:00 6 21 31 67 24 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 157
08:00 6 24 84 161 63 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 343
09:00 4 4 29 53 17 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 108
10:00 6 16 26 31 17 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 97
11:00 13 8 13 39 18 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 93

12 PM 5 3 34 74 28 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 148
13:00 5 8 26 55 33 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 132
14:00 3 7 39 62 34 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 147
15:00 5 8 57 82 40 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 195
16:00 6 5 40 64 37 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 158
17:00 4 5 46 57 23 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 137
18:00 6 10 42 47 22 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 130
19:00 5 12 29 31 14 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 94
20:00 4 3 23 26 9 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 66
21:00 0 2 14 39 12 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 69
22:00 2 1 11 14 8 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 37
23:00 1 1 4 10 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 19
Total 89 147 583 958 426 48 3 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2255

  
Grand

Total
89 147 583 958 426 48 3 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2255

  
15th Percentile : 20 MPH
50th Percentile : 26 MPH
85th Percentile : 31 MPH
95th Percentile : 34 MPH

  
Statistics Mean Speed(Average) : 26 MPH

10  MPH Pace Speed : 21-30  MPH
Number in Pace : 1541
Percent in Pace : 68.3%

Number of Vehicles > 55  MPH : 0
Percent of Vehicles > 55  MPH : 0.0%



Page 3 
 
City of Lawndale
147th Street
B/ Hawthorne Boulevard - Larch Avenue
24 Hour Directional Speed Survey

 
 
 

LND015
Site Code: 141-24363

 
 
 
 

Counts Unimited, Inc.
PO Box 1178

Corona, CA 92878
(951) 268-6268

email: counts@countsunlimited.com

 
Eastbound, Westbound

Start 1 16 21 26 31 36 41 46 51 56 61 66 71 76  
Time 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60 65 70 75 999 Total

04/24/24 3 1 3 10 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20
01:00 3 1 2 6 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 17
02:00 2 0 3 8 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 16
03:00 0 1 3 3 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10
04:00 0 1 4 8 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15
05:00 4 1 5 7 9 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 27
06:00 3 9 26 28 15 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 82
07:00 11 26 39 81 32 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 197
08:00 16 34 118 213 86 7 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 475
09:00 10 8 48 78 26 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 171
10:00 15 26 46 66 27 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 181
11:00 18 12 33 69 24 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 161

12 PM 11 10 47 112 49 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 234
13:00 12 18 57 113 53 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 263
14:00 7 15 70 119 64 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 280
15:00 9 17 87 157 78 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 353
16:00 9 9 84 119 79 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 311
17:00 9 12 87 130 61 7 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 307
18:00 15 17 71 106 49 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 264
19:00 10 19 64 66 29 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 192
20:00 9 12 59 55 19 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 157
21:00 1 5 28 65 20 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 123
22:00 5 4 24 29 13 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 78
23:00 2 2 12 20 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 44
Total 184 260 1020 1668 754 86 5 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3978

  
Grand

Total
184 260 1020 1668 754 86 5 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3978

  
15th Percentile : 20 MPH
50th Percentile : 26 MPH
85th Percentile : 31 MPH
95th Percentile : 34 MPH

  
Statistics Mean Speed(Average) : 26 MPH

10  MPH Pace Speed : 21-30  MPH
Number in Pace : 2688
Percent in Pace : 67.6%

Number of Vehicles > 55  MPH : 0
Percent of Vehicles > 55  MPH : 0.0%



Page 1 
 
City of Lawndale
147th Street
B/ Eastwood Avenue - Prairie Avenue
24 Hour Directional Speed Survey

 
 
 

LND016
Site Code: 141-24363

 
 
 
 

Counts Unimited, Inc.
PO Box 1178

Corona, CA 92878
(951) 268-6268

email: counts@countsunlimited.com

 
Eastbound

Start 1 16 21 26 31 36 41 46 51 56 61 66 71 76  
Time 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60 65 70 75 999 Total

04/24/24 1 0 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5
01:00 0 1 9 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 13
02:00 0 1 6 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8
03:00 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
04:00 0 2 7 8 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 19
05:00 0 2 6 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11
06:00 4 13 20 14 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 52
07:00 4 11 32 21 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 68
08:00 10 39 87 31 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 167
09:00 1 19 37 13 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 72
10:00 7 18 28 15 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 70
11:00 11 15 40 13 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 81

12 PM 3 21 42 27 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 96
13:00 5 9 65 35 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 117
14:00 5 8 62 46 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 129
15:00 9 36 123 53 6 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 228
16:00 3 15 96 70 4 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 192
17:00 0 16 97 71 7 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 192
18:00 6 10 54 56 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 136
19:00 2 6 39 36 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 90
20:00 2 9 36 25 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 75
21:00 2 6 22 18 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50
22:00 1 2 14 8 3 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 31
23:00 0 3 16 8 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 28
Total 76 262 942 575 66 10 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1932

  
Grand

Total
76 262 942 575 66 10 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1932

  
15th Percentile : 19 MPH
50th Percentile : 23 MPH
85th Percentile : 28 MPH
95th Percentile : 29 MPH

  
Statistics Mean Speed(Average) : 24 MPH

10  MPH Pace Speed : 21-30  MPH
Number in Pace : 1517
Percent in Pace : 78.5%

Number of Vehicles > 55  MPH : 0
Percent of Vehicles > 55  MPH : 0.0%



Page 2 
 
City of Lawndale
147th Street
B/ Eastwood Avenue - Prairie Avenue
24 Hour Directional Speed Survey

 
 
 

LND016
Site Code: 141-24363

 
 
 
 

Counts Unimited, Inc.
PO Box 1178

Corona, CA 92878
(951) 268-6268

email: counts@countsunlimited.com

 
Westbound

Start 1 16 21 26 31 36 41 46 51 56 61 66 71 76  
Time 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60 65 70 75 999 Total

04/24/24 0 4 6 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 14
01:00 0 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8
02:00 0 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
03:00 1 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
04:00 0 0 4 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
05:00 1 1 5 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9
06:00 6 8 20 5 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 40
07:00 2 10 51 15 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 79
08:00 21 110 126 20 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 279
09:00 7 17 55 15 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 96
10:00 12 27 35 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 82
11:00 25 27 21 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 74

12 PM 10 27 41 13 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 92
13:00 12 37 44 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 98
14:00 1 39 73 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 125
15:00 6 52 86 18 3 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 166
16:00 10 35 71 25 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 141
17:00 4 24 78 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 126
18:00 8 25 55 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 108
19:00 3 27 50 8 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 89
20:00 3 31 44 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 83
21:00 6 18 26 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 57
22:00 2 13 28 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 47
23:00 2 11 12 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 26
Total 142 547 936 215 11 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1853

  
Grand

Total
142 547 936 215 11 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1853

  
15th Percentile : 16 MPH
50th Percentile : 21 MPH
85th Percentile : 24 MPH
95th Percentile : 28 MPH

  
Statistics Mean Speed(Average) : 21 MPH

10  MPH Pace Speed : 16-25  MPH
Number in Pace : 1483
Percent in Pace : 80.0%

Number of Vehicles > 55  MPH : 0
Percent of Vehicles > 55  MPH : 0.0%



Page 3 
 
City of Lawndale
147th Street
B/ Eastwood Avenue - Prairie Avenue
24 Hour Directional Speed Survey

 
 
 

LND016
Site Code: 141-24363

 
 
 
 

Counts Unimited, Inc.
PO Box 1178

Corona, CA 92878
(951) 268-6268

email: counts@countsunlimited.com

 
Eastbound, Westbound

Start 1 16 21 26 31 36 41 46 51 56 61 66 71 76  
Time 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60 65 70 75 999 Total

04/24/24 1 4 9 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 19
01:00 0 3 11 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 21
02:00 0 3 8 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12
03:00 1 0 2 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
04:00 0 2 11 9 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25
05:00 1 3 11 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20
06:00 10 21 40 19 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 92
07:00 6 21 83 36 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 147
08:00 31 149 213 51 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 446
09:00 8 36 92 28 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 168
10:00 19 45 63 23 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 152
11:00 36 42 61 14 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 155

12 PM 13 48 83 40 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 188
13:00 17 46 109 40 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 215
14:00 6 47 135 58 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 254
15:00 15 88 209 71 9 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 394
16:00 13 50 167 95 4 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 333
17:00 4 40 175 91 7 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 318
18:00 14 35 109 76 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 244
19:00 5 33 89 44 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 179
20:00 5 40 80 30 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 158
21:00 8 24 48 25 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 107
22:00 3 15 42 12 3 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 78
23:00 2 14 28 9 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 54
Total 218 809 1878 790 77 11 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3785

  
Grand

Total
218 809 1878 790 77 11 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3785

  
15th Percentile : 17 MPH
50th Percentile : 22 MPH
85th Percentile : 26 MPH
95th Percentile : 29 MPH

  
Statistics Mean Speed(Average) : 22 MPH

10  MPH Pace Speed : 16-25  MPH
Number in Pace : 2687
Percent in Pace : 71.0%

Number of Vehicles > 55  MPH : 0
Percent of Vehicles > 55  MPH : 0.0%



147th Street Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Boulevard and Prairie Avenue 
 City of Lawndale 

    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX E 
COLLISION HISTORY 



https://tims.berkeley.edu/

2024/07/11 TIMS - Transportation Injury Mapping System

Crash Details for: Case ID 8845405
Crash Information

Parties: 3

Map View

Street View

County Los Angeles

City Lawndale

Date & Time (M/D/Y) 03/14/2019 11:30

Location (Intersection) 147th St & Hawthorn Bl

Dist. & Dir. from
Intersection

290.00 ft East

State Highway No

Geocoded Location 33.8982735, -118.351799 

Type of Crash G - Vehicle/Pedestrian

Motor Vehicle Involved
With

B - Pedestrian

Crash Severity 3 - Injury (Other Visible)

PCF Violation Category 07 - Unsafe Lane Change

Weather B - Cloudy

Alcohol Involved No

Pedestrian Crash Yes Bicycle Crash No

Motorcycle Crash No Truck Crash No

Party
Number

Party Type Statewide Vehicle Type At
Fault

Party
Direction

Movement Preceding
Collision

1 1 - Driver (including Hit and
Run)

A - Passenger Car/Station Wagon Yes East B - Proceeding Straight

2 2 - Pedestrian N - Pedestrian No North - - Not Stated

3 2 - Pedestrian N - Pedestrian No North - - Not Stated

Victims: 2
Party Number Victim Role Victim Gender Victim Age Victim Degree of Injury

2 3 - Pedestrian M - Male 39 6 - Suspected Minor Injury

3 3 - Pedestrian M - Male 38 6 - Suspected Minor Injury



https://tims.berkeley.edu/

2024/07/11 TIMS - Transportation Injury Mapping System

Crash Details for: Case ID 8875319
Crash Information

Parties: 2

Map View

Street View

County Los Angeles

City Lawndale

Date & Time (M/D/Y) 05/09/2019 20:18

Location (Intersection) 147th St & Freeman Av

Dist. & Dir. from
Intersection

117.00 ft East

State Highway No

Geocoded Location 33.8982811, -118.3485489 

Type of Crash A - Head-On

Motor Vehicle Involved
With

C - Other Motor Vehicle

Crash Severity 4 - Injury (Complaint of Pain)

PCF Violation Category 05 - Wrong Side of Road

Weather A - Clear

Alcohol Involved No

Pedestrian Crash No Bicycle Crash No

Motorcycle Crash No Truck Crash No

Party
Number

Party Type Statewide Vehicle Type At
Fault

Party
Direction

Movement Preceding
Collision

1 1 - Driver (including Hit and
Run)

A - Passenger Car/Station Wagon Yes East Q - Traveling Wrong
Way

2 1 - Driver (including Hit and
Run)

A - Passenger Car/Station Wagon No West M - Other Unsafe
Turning

Victims: 3
Party Number Victim Role Victim Gender Victim Age Victim Degree of Injury

1 1 - Driver M - Male 19 7 - Possible Injury

1 2 - Passenger F - Female 21 7 - Possible Injury

2 1 - Driver F - Female 20 7 - Possible Injury



https://tims.berkeley.edu/

2024/07/11 TIMS - Transportation Injury Mapping System

Crash Details for: Case ID 8982701
Crash Information

Parties: 2

Map View

Street View

County Los Angeles

City Lawndale

Date & Time (M/D/Y) 09/08/2019 22:30

Location (Intersection) 147th St & Larch Av

Dist. & Dir. from
Intersection

33.00 ft East

State Highway No

Geocoded Location 33.8982811, -118.3501892 

Type of Crash C - Rear End

Motor Vehicle Involved
With

C - Other Motor Vehicle

Crash Severity 3 - Injury (Other Visible)

PCF Violation Category 04 - Following Too Closely

Weather A - Clear

Alcohol Involved No

Pedestrian Crash No Bicycle Crash No

Motorcycle Crash No Truck Crash No

Party
Number

Party Type Statewide Vehicle Type At
Fault

Party
Direction

Movement Preceding
Collision

1 1 - Driver (including Hit and
Run)

D - Pickup or Panel Truck Yes West B - Proceeding Straight

2 1 - Driver (including Hit and
Run)

A - Passenger Car/Station Wagon No West A - Stopped

Victims: 1
Party Number Victim Role Victim Gender Victim Age Victim Degree of Injury

2 1 - Driver M - Male 24 6 - Suspected Minor Injury



https://tims.berkeley.edu/

2024/07/11 TIMS - Transportation Injury Mapping System

Crash Details for: Case ID 8983838
Crash Information

Parties: 2

Map View

Street View

County Los Angeles

City Lawndale

Date & Time (M/D/Y) 09/25/2019 18:35

Location (Intersection) Osage Av & 147th St

Dist. & Dir. from
Intersection

4.00 ft North

State Highway No

Geocoded Location 33.8982697, -118.3461685 

Type of Crash H - Other

Motor Vehicle Involved
With

G - Bicycle

Crash Severity 3 - Injury (Other Visible)

PCF Violation Category 12 - Traffic Signals and Signs

Weather A - Clear

Alcohol Involved No

Pedestrian Crash No Bicycle Crash Yes

Motorcycle Crash No Truck Crash No

Party
Number

Party Type Statewide Vehicle Type At
Fault

Party
Direction

Movement Preceding
Collision

1 1 - Driver (including Hit and
Run)

A - Passenger Car/Station Wagon Yes West D - Making Right Turn

2 4 - Bicyclist L - Bicycle No East B - Proceeding Straight

Victims: 1
Party Number Victim Role Victim Gender Victim Age Victim Degree of Injury

2 4 - Bicyclist M - Male 17 6 - Suspected Minor Injury



https://tims.berkeley.edu/

2024/07/11 TIMS - Transportation Injury Mapping System

Crash Details for: Case ID 9058271
Crash Information

Parties: 2

Map View

Street View

County Los Angeles

City Lawndale

Date & Time (M/D/Y) 05/01/2020 10:59

Location (Intersection) 147th St & Larch Av

Dist. & Dir. from
Intersection

178.00 ft East

State Highway No

Geocoded Location 33.8982811, -118.3497162 

Type of Crash H - Other

Motor Vehicle Involved
With

G - Bicycle

Crash Severity 3 - Injury (Other Visible)

PCF Violation Category 09 - Automobile Right of Way

Weather A - Clear

Alcohol Involved No

Pedestrian Crash No Bicycle Crash Yes

Motorcycle Crash No Truck Crash No

Party
Number

Party Type Statewide Vehicle Type At
Fault

Party
Direction

Movement Preceding
Collision

1 1 - Driver (including Hit and
Run)

D - Pickup or Panel Truck No West B - Proceeding Straight

2 4 - Bicyclist L - Bicycle Yes South L - Entering Traffic

Victims: 1
Party Number Victim Role Victim Gender Victim Age Victim Degree of Injury

2 4 - Bicyclist M - Male 8 6 - Suspected Minor Injury



https://tims.berkeley.edu/

2024/07/11 TIMS - Transportation Injury Mapping System

Crash Details for: Case ID 9123516
Crash Information

Parties: 3

Map View

Street View

County Los Angeles

City Lawndale

Date & Time (M/D/Y) 07/01/2020 06:41

Location (Intersection) Eastwood Av & 147th St

Dist. & Dir. from
Intersection

115.00 ft South

State Highway No

Geocoded Location 33.8979645, -118.3475494 

Type of Crash C - Rear End

Motor Vehicle Involved
With

E - Parked Motor Vehicle

Crash Severity 3 - Injury (Other Visible)

PCF Violation Category 08 - Improper Turning

Weather B - Cloudy

Alcohol Involved No

Pedestrian Crash No Bicycle Crash No

Motorcycle Crash No Truck Crash No

Party
Number

Party Type Statewide Vehicle Type At
Fault

Party
Direction

Movement Preceding
Collision

1 1 - Driver (including Hit and
Run)

A - Passenger Car/Station Wagon Yes South B - Proceeding Straight

2 3 - Parked Vehicle D - Pickup or Panel Truck No - O - Parked

3 3 - Parked Vehicle A - Passenger Car/Station Wagon No - O - Parked

Victims: 2
Party Number Victim Role Victim Gender Victim Age Victim Degree of Injury

1 2 - Passenger F - Female 3 0 - No Injury

1 1 - Driver F - Female 42 6 - Suspected Minor Injury



https://tims.berkeley.edu/

2024/07/11 TIMS - Transportation Injury Mapping System

Crash Details for: Case ID 9125227
Crash Information

Parties: 2

Map View

Street View

County Los Angeles

City Lawndale

Date & Time (M/D/Y) 06/20/2020 14:00

Location (Intersection) 147th St & Prairie Av

Dist. & Dir. from
Intersection

At Intersection

State Highway No

Geocoded Location 33.8982811, -118.3438492 

Type of Crash D - Broadside

Motor Vehicle Involved
With

C - Other Motor Vehicle

Crash Severity 3 - Injury (Other Visible)

PCF Violation Category 12 - Traffic Signals and Signs

Weather A - Clear

Alcohol Involved No

Pedestrian Crash No Bicycle Crash No

Motorcycle Crash No Truck Crash No

Party
Number

Party Type Statewide Vehicle Type At
Fault

Party
Direction

Movement Preceding
Collision

1 1 - Driver (including Hit and
Run)

A - Passenger Car/Station Wagon No South B - Proceeding Straight

2 1 - Driver (including Hit and
Run)

A - Passenger Car/Station Wagon No East B - Proceeding Straight

Victims: 3
Party Number Victim Role Victim Gender Victim Age Victim Degree of Injury

1 1 - Driver M - Male 81 6 - Suspected Minor Injury

2 2 - Passenger F - Female 46 0 - No Injury

2 2 - Passenger - - Not Stated 998 0 - No Injury



https://tims.berkeley.edu/

2024/07/11 TIMS - Transportation Injury Mapping System

Crash Details for: Case ID 9219013
Crash Information

Parties: 2

Map View

Street View

County Los Angeles

City Lawndale

Date & Time (M/D/Y) 12/10/2020 15:55

Location (Intersection) Prairie Av & W 147th St

Dist. & Dir. from
Intersection

3.00 ft South

State Highway No

Geocoded Location 33.8982735, -118.3438492 

Type of Crash G - Vehicle/Pedestrian

Motor Vehicle Involved
With

B - Pedestrian

Crash Severity 3 - Injury (Other Visible)

PCF Violation Category 10 - Pedestrian Right of Way

Weather A - Clear

Alcohol Involved No

Pedestrian Crash Yes Bicycle Crash No

Motorcycle Crash No Truck Crash No

Party
Number

Party Type Statewide Vehicle Type At
Fault

Party
Direction

Movement Preceding
Collision

1 1 - Driver (including Hit and
Run)

A - Passenger Car/Station Wagon Yes South E - Making Left Turn

2 2 - Pedestrian N - Pedestrian No East - - Not Stated

Victims: 1
Party Number Victim Role Victim Gender Victim Age Victim Degree of Injury

2 3 - Pedestrian M - Male 40 6 - Suspected Minor Injury



https://tims.berkeley.edu/

2024/07/11 TIMS - Transportation Injury Mapping System

Crash Details for: Case ID 9258684
Crash Information

Parties: 3

Map View

Street View

County Los Angeles

City Lawndale

Date & Time (M/D/Y) 03/20/2021 17:05

Location (Intersection) Eastwood Av & 147th St

Dist. & Dir. from
Intersection

168.00 ft South

State Highway No

Geocoded Location 33.8978195, -118.3475494 

Type of Crash H - Other

Motor Vehicle Involved
With

C - Other Motor Vehicle

Crash Severity 3 - Injury (Other Visible)

PCF Violation Category 21 - Unsafe Starting or Backing

Weather A - Clear

Alcohol Involved No

Pedestrian Crash Yes Bicycle Crash No

Motorcycle Crash No Truck Crash No

Party
Number

Party Type Statewide Vehicle Type At
Fault

Party
Direction

Movement Preceding
Collision

1 1 - Driver (including Hit and
Run)

A - Passenger Car/Station Wagon Yes West G - Backing

2 1 - Driver (including Hit and
Run)

A - Passenger Car/Station Wagon No South A - Stopped

3 2 - Pedestrian N - Pedestrian No South - - Not Stated

Victims: 5
Party Number Victim Role Victim Gender Victim Age Victim Degree of Injury

1 2 - Passenger M - Male 23 0 - No Injury

1 2 - Passenger M - Male 1 0 - No Injury



Party Number Victim Role Victim Gender Victim Age Victim Degree of Injury

2 2 - Passenger M - Male 11 0 - No Injury

2 2 - Passenger M - Male 1 0 - No Injury

3 3 - Pedestrian M - Male 36 6 - Suspected Minor Injury



CITY OF LAWNDALE
14717 BURIN AVENUE, LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA 90260

PHONE (310) 973-3200 ♦ www.lawndalecity.org

 

DATE:    April 21, 2025

TO:   Honorable Mayor and City Council

FROM: Dr. Sean M. Moore, City Manager

PREPARED BY: Lucho Rodriguez, Public Works Director

SUBJECT: Consideration to Terminate Metro Right-of-Way Maintenance License
 

BACKGROUND

The City of Lawndale and the Atchison, Topeka and Santa Fe Railroad Company (Santa Fe) entered into an
agreement (license) beginning June 1, 1977, for the premises to be used exclusively as a site for landscaping
from Artesia Boulevard to 159th Street.   The agreement is still in effect and can be terminated by either
party upon a 30-day written notice. (Attachment 1.)

Effective June 30, 1993, all contracts and licenses authorizing the use of the Santa Fe property were assigned
to the Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transportation Authority following the sale of the Harbor
Subdivision Corridor Railroad Line to Metro.

STAFF REVIEW

At the April 7, 2025 City Council meeting, City Council requested staff to review the Agreement between
City and Santa Fe for consideration to terminate the said agreement. 

City's landscaping contractor, Mariposa, maintains the landscaping between 159th Street and 173rd Street on
a weekly basis, as well as tree trimming annually. Public Works crews pick up trash and illegal dumping in
the area between Artesia Blvd. and 159th Street on a weekly basis, in addition to maintaining the chain link
fencing in the area and removing graffiti from the walls in the ROW when notified.

Attachment 2 is a draft letter of termination of the Agreement between the City of Lawndale and current
owner Metro, in the event that City Council chooses to move in that direction.

While the agreement does not explicitly grant access to City crews to maintain the area, it states on item 7
that, Licensee (City) shall Maintain the premises and Improvements in such safe, sanitary and sightly
condition and shall  be satisfactory to Licensor (Metro), and, if required by Licensor, shall paint the
Improvements with paints of colors approved by Metro.

It is possible that terminating the agreement at this time may bring the area to more disarray and
abandonment, and City crews may not be able to access the area to clean graffiti or pickup illegal dumping
when notified.

At the April 7, 2025 Council meeting, council requested for staff to reach out to BNSF (Santa Fe) to  have
them present at this Council meeting to discuss the agreement.  Staff reached out to BNSF's representatives
via phone call and e-mail.  BNSF did not respond to the City's enquiries.

LEGAL REVIEW

City Attorney has reviewed the agreement and this staff report.



FISCAL IMPACT

There are associated costs to the City for maintaining the area designated in the agreement.  Terminating the
agreement would imply a reduction of monthly costs.

RECOMMENDATION

Staff Recommends City Council to discuss the possible termination of the License agreement and provide
direction to staff for next steps.

 

Attachments

Attachment 1 - Metro Landscape License.pdf
Attachment 2 - Letter to Metro Cancelling ROW Agreement LAW10129.pdf

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67f6b1effda1b900464f14ce%2FMetro%20Landscape%20License.pdf?alt=media&token=ec20f81c-e8d8-42db-ba65-913930b971bb
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67f6b1effda1b900464f14ce%2FMetro%20Landscape%20License.pdf?alt=media&token=ec20f81c-e8d8-42db-ba65-913930b971bb
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67f6b1effda1b900464f14ce%2FMetro%20Landscape%20License.pdf?alt=media&token=ec20f81c-e8d8-42db-ba65-913930b971bb
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67f6b1effda1b900464f14ce%2FLetter%20to%20Metro%20Cancelling%20ROW%20Agreement%20LAW10129.pdf?alt=media&token=f44f97f9-8961-4d7b-a5f6-46a573fcb5c1
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67f6b1effda1b900464f14ce%2FLetter%20to%20Metro%20Cancelling%20ROW%20Agreement%20LAW10129.pdf?alt=media&token=f44f97f9-8961-4d7b-a5f6-46a573fcb5c1
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67f6b1effda1b900464f14ce%2FLetter%20to%20Metro%20Cancelling%20ROW%20Agreement%20LAW10129.pdf?alt=media&token=f44f97f9-8961-4d7b-a5f6-46a573fcb5c1


ATTACHMENT 1



















ATTACHMENT 2



14717 BURIN AVENUE, LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA 90260 
PHONE (310) 973-3200, FAX (310) 644-4556 

www.lawndalecity.org 

April 15, 2025 

Real Estate Manager 
Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transportation Authority 
818 West Seventh Street, Suite 110 
Los Angeles, CA  90017-4606 

Dear current Real Estate Manager, 

On behalf of the City of Lawndale, this letter serves as formal notice of the City’s intent to 
terminate the License Agreement for Landscaping purposes (Contract No. RHBR010129), 
effective May 30, 2025. 

As outlined in Section 14 of the agreement: 
“This license may be terminated at any time by either party upon thirty (30) days’ notice in 
writing to be served upon the other party, stating therein the date that such termination shall 
take place, and upon the expiration of the time specified in such notice this license and all rights 
of Licensee hereunder shall absolutely cease and determine, but upon any such termination, 
Licensee shall be entitled to a refund from Licensor of a proportionate part of any compensation 
paid in advance.” 

Please confirm receipt of this notice by email at lrodriguez@lawndalecity.org. Should you have 
any questions or require additional information, you may contact me directly at (310) 973-3266. 

Sincerely, 

Lucho Rodriguez 
Director of Public Works/City Engineer 

C: Sean M. Moore, City Manager 
Gregory Murphy, City Attorney 
File 



CITY OF LAWNDALE
14717 BURIN AVENUE, LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA 90260

PHONE (310) 973-3200 ♦ www.lawndalecity.org

 

DATE:    April 21, 2025

TO:   Honorable Mayor and City Council

FROM: Dr. Sean M. Moore, City Manager

PREPARED BY: Hrant Manuelian, Finance Director/City Treasurer

SUBJECT: Quarterly Investment Report for the Quarter Ended March 31, 2025
 

BACKGROUND

The attached Quarterly Investment Report for the quarter ended March 31, 2025, is provided to City Council
per the City of Lawndale’s Investment Policy and State of California’s Government Code Section 53646.

STAFF REVIEW

As of March 31, 2025, the City had total cash and investments (cost basis) of $60,823,970 plus $2,038,680
cash with fiscal agent held in a trust for the Lawndale Redevelopment Agency’s Tax Allocation Bond 2009
issue, $1,150 in petty cash and $760,486 maintained in two retirement enhancement plans for PARS.
 
The Federal reserve has held interest rates steady and has not made any adjustments since last year.  The
State Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) had an interest rate of 4.22% on March 31, 2024, and has
slightly increased to 4.313% as of March 31, 2025.  Rates going forward are generally expected to gradually
decrease, however at a slower pace.  Inflation continues to remain high at over 3%.  We continue to maintain
a majority of cash in LAIF and the City’s checking account.  For the quarter ended March 31, 2025, the City
has remained very liquid with 74.93% of our portfolio in on-demand accounts.  The remainder of the
portfolio includes 7.09% short-term (maturing in less than one year), 8.13% mid-term (one to three years
maturity), and 9.86% long-term (maturing from three to five years) investments. 
 
As interest rates have started to slowly come down, we look for opportunities to maximize returns on City
funds.  More recently there has been policy change initiated by the President of the United States regarding
tariffs, and this has caused a lot of volatility in the markets especially with equities.  This volatility has also
caused the bond markets to fluctuate as well with prices and rates moving in either direction.  The City’s
investments continue to remain intact and have not been affected by this volatility.  We do not expect there to
be any significant changes to our investments as we only purchase securities that we know we can hold on to
until maturity at which time we will receive the full amount of the principal back from the issuer.  As the
market continues to change we will keep a close watch and take advantage of any upcoming investments. 
Cash in bank will be monitored and is expected that more will be used to purchase either bonds or CD’s to
take advantage of interest to the extent possible.  The goal is to maintain a healthy balance of cash while
maximizing returns.   
 
The investment program provides sufficient liquidity to meet six months of estimated expenditures.  All
investments are in compliance with California state code 503600 and the City of Lawndale Investment
policy.
 



LEGAL REVIEW

The City Attorney’s office has reviewed this staff report and has approved it as to form. 

FISCAL IMPACT

Not Applicable.

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends that the City Council receive and file the Quarterly Investment Report for the quarter
ended March 31, 2025.

 

Attachments

Quarterly Investments Q3 24-25 Attachment.pdf

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67f54fabfda1b900464b5002%2FQuarterly%20Investments%20Q3%2024-25%20Attachment.pdf?alt=media&token=9b6899f9-ca01-4c67-a9e2-f64e86b2482d
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67f54fabfda1b900464b5002%2FQuarterly%20Investments%20Q3%2024-25%20Attachment.pdf?alt=media&token=9b6899f9-ca01-4c67-a9e2-f64e86b2482d
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67f54fabfda1b900464b5002%2FQuarterly%20Investments%20Q3%2024-25%20Attachment.pdf?alt=media&token=9b6899f9-ca01-4c67-a9e2-f64e86b2482d


 

 

ATTACHMENT A 



r

Cash 19,883,789

Investments 40,940,181

Cash w/Fiscal Agent 2,038,680

Petty Cash 1,150

Public Agency Retirement Services 
(PARS)- Retirement Enhancement 
Plan 746,427

PARS/ City of Lawndale Excess 
Benefit Trust - US Bank 14,059 760,486

Total Cash and Investments 63,624,285

CITY OF LAWNDALE 
TREASURY REPORT

For Quarter Ended March 31, 2025

H:\Investments\Investment reports\24-25\Q3 FY 24-25  Investments 3-31-25



Investment Type Market Value

Checking Account 19,883,789
Certificate of Deposit 9,244,553
US Government Agency Securities 6,002,153
LAIF State Pool 25,689,181
 

TOTAL 60,819,676

Portfolio Statistics

For Quarter Ended March 31, 2025

Portfolio  Composition

CITY OF LAWNDALE 
INVESTMENT REPORT

Checking 
Account

33%

Certificate of 
Deposit

15%

US Government 
Agency 

Securities
10%

LAIF State Pool
42%

Checking Account Certificate of Deposit

US Government Agency Securities LAIF State Pool

H:\Investments\Investment reports\24-25\Q3 FY 24-25  Investments 3-31-25



 

Par Value Coupon Rate
Moody's/ S&P 

Rating Purchase Date
Maturity/ 

Called Date
Days to 
Maturity

Yield to 
Maturity Cost Basis Category total

(memo only) 
Market Value

On Call Deposits

Checking Account- Wells Fargo 19,117,720 N/A N/A Demand 1 None 19,117,720 19,117,720
Municipal Investment Account - US Bank 766,069 N/A N/A Demand 1 None 766,069 766,069
Local Agency Investment Fund- City of 
Lawndale 25,687,591 N/A N/A Demand 1 0.20% 25,687,591 25,687,591
Local Agency Investment Fund- Lawndale 
Housing Authority 1,590 N/A N/A Demand 1 0.20% 1,590 1,590

   On Call Deposits 45,572,970 45,572,970 45,572,970

Short-Term Investments (1 Year or Less)
Time Deposits:   

Libertyone CR UN Dallas 248,000         5.05% FDIC 4/24 4/17/2025 107 5.05% 248,000         248,074
TBK Bank SSB CD 237,000         5.05% FDIC 4/24 4/17/2025 107 5.05% 237,000         237,082
Bank of Lexington 237,000         5.05% FDIC 4/24 4/17/2025 107 5.05% 237,000         237,071
Charles Schwab Bank 237,000         5.40% FDIC 6/24 6/12/2025 163 5.40% 237,000         237,447
Merchantile Bank 237,000         5.35% FDIC 6/24 6/13/2025 164 5.35% 237,000         237,429
Comerica Bk 237,000         5.35% FDIC 6/24 6/26/2025 177 5.35% 237,000         237,500
Discover Bank 246,000         3.25% FDIC 7/22 7/14/2025 195 3.25% 246,000         245,223
Connexus Credit Union 248,000         5.20% FDIC 7/23 7/14/2025 195 5.20% 248,000         248,619
Goldman Sachs 245,000         4.00% FDIC 8/24 8/13/2025 225 4.00% 245,000         244,639
Toyota Financial Savings CD 247,000         0.70% FDIC 8/21 8/26/2025 238 0.70% 247,000         243,364
California Credit Union 240,000         5.40% FDIC 8/23 8/28/2025 240 5.40% 240,000         241,138
BNY Mellon NA INSTL CTF DEP 243,000         4.95% FDIC 4/24 10/15/2025 288 4.95% 243,000         243,858
First State Bank 179,000         5.00% FDIC 4/24 10/20/2025 293 5.00% 179,000         179,737
Keypoint Credit Union 249,000         4.35% FDIC 10/24 10/30/2025 303 4.35% 249,000         249,064
Preferred Bk 248,000         5.10% FDIC 6/24 12/5/2025 339 5.10% 248,000         249,461
Western Alliance Bank 243,000         5.20% FDIC 6/24 12/19/2025 353 5.20% 243,000         244,742
Numerica Cr Un 249,000         4.75% FDIC 2/24 3/2/2026 426 4.75% 249,000         250,428
First GTY Bk 244,000         4.15% FDIC 9/24 3/6/2026 430 4.15% 244,000         243,943

4,314,000      4,314,000      4,318,821     

US Government Agency Securities:
-                     -                 -                
-                     -                 -                

   Short-Term Investments (1 Year or Less) 4,314,000 4,314,000 4,318,821

Medium-Term Investments (1 to 3 Years)
Time Deposits:
Eaglebank 248,000         5.05% FDIC 6/24 6/25/2026 541 5.05% 248,000 250,833
Customers Bank CD 245,000         4.00% FDIC 8/24 8/17/2026 594 4.00% 245,000 244,687
Rize FCU CD 249,000         4.15% FDIC 8/24 8/20/2026 597 4.15% 249,000 249,167

CITY OF LAWNDALE 
DETAIL OF INVESTMENTS

For Quarter Ended March 31, 2025

H:\Investments\Investment reports\24-25\Q3 FY 24-25  Investments 3-31-25



Synchrony Bank Draper UT CD 247,000         0.90% FDIC 8/21 8/27/2026 604 0.90% 247,000 236,634
Chartway Federal Credit Union 240,000         5.30% FDIC 8/23 8/28/2026 605 5.30% 240,000 244,017
Medallion Bank UT CD 247,000         0.85% FDIC 8/21 8/31/2026 608 0.85% 247,000 235,930
UBS Bank USA CD 247,000         0.95% FDIC 9/21 9/9/2026 617 0.95% 247,000 236,089
Bank of America 245,000         3.95% FDIC 9/24 9/11/2026 619 3.95% 245,000 244,404
First Fndtn Bank 243,000         5.00% FDIC 6/24 12/14/2026 713 5.00% 243,000 246,659
Austin Telco Fed Cr 249,000         4.30% FDIC 2/25 2/16/2027 777 4.30% 249,000 249,925
Valley Natl Bk 247,000         4.45% FDIC 2/24 2/22/2027 783 4.45% 247,000 248,740
Spokane Teachers CR UN CD 248,000         4.75% FDIC 4/24 4/15/2027 835 4.75% 248,000 251,220
Wexford Community Credit Union 248,000         4.75% FDIC 6/24 6/28/2027 909 4.75% 248,000 251,513
First Technology FCU CD 249,000         4.10% FDIC 8/24 8/20/2027 962 4.10% 249,000 249,020
First Merchants Bank 245,000         3.75% FDIC 9/24 9/10/2027 983 3.75% 245,000 242,917
American Express Natl BK 245,000         3.85% FDIC 9/24 9/13/2027 986 3.85% 245,000 243,571

3,942,000      3,942,000      3,925,325     

US Government Agency Securities:

Federal Home Loan Banks 1,000,000      5.000% Aaa/AA+ 6/24 4/15/2027 745 5.000% 1,000,000      1,001,224     
1,000,000      1,000,000      1,001,224     

   Medium-Term Investments (1 - 3 Years) 4,942,000 4,942,000      4,926,549

Long-Term Investments (3 to 5 Years)
Time Deposits:
Empower Fed Cr Union 248,000 4.75% FDIC 6/24 6/26/2028 1,273 4.75% 248,000         252,708
USAlliance Fed CU 249,000 4.15% FDIC 1/25 1/31/2029 1,492 4.75% 249,000         249,260
Baxter Credit Union 249,000 4.20% FDIC 2/25 2/22/2029 1,514 4.75% 249,000         249,688
Truxton Tr Co Nashville Tenn 249,000 4.10% FDIC 2/25 2/14/2030 1,871 4.75% 249,000         248,751

995,000         995,000         1,000,407     

US Government Agency Securities:
Federal Farm Cr Bks 1,000,000      4.96% Aaa/AA+ 1/25 1/22/2029 1,483 4.96% 1,000,000      1,003,183     
Federal Farm Cr Bks 1,000,000      5.42% Aaa/AA+ 4/24 4/16/2029 1,567 5.420% 1,000,000      1,000,929     
Federal Natl Mtg Assn 1,000,000      5.63% Aaa/AA+ 4/24 4/16/2029 1,567 5.625% 1,000,000      1,000,054     
Federal Home Loan Banks 1,000,000      4.20% Aaa/AA+ 10/24 10/9/2029 1,743 4.200% 1,000,000      992,449        
Federal Home Loan Banks 1,000,000      4.65% Aaa/AA+ 2/25 2/26/2030 1,883 4.650% 1,000,000      1,004,314     

5,000,000      5,000,000      5,000,930     

Long-Term Investments (3 to 5 Years) 5,995,000      5,995,000      6,001,337     

Total Cash and Investments 60,823,970 60,823,970 60,819,676

H:\Investments\Investment reports\24-25\Q3 FY 24-25  Investments 3-31-25



CITY OF LAWNDALE
14717 BURIN AVENUE, LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA 90260

PHONE (310) 973-3200 ♦ www.lawndalecity.org

 

DATE:    April 21, 2025

TO:   Honorable Mayor and City Council

FROM: Dr. Sean M. Moore, City Manager

PREPARED BY: Jason Minter, Community Services Director

SUBJECT: Approve an Agreement for the Purchase and Installation of Shade Covers at
Charles B. Hopper Park

 
BACKGROUND
 
As part of the 2024-2025 Fiscal Year budget, a line item was included for the purchase and installation of
replacement shade covers at Charles B. Hopper Park. There are three (3) structures that were originally
installed when the park was constructed. Of the three (3) shade structures, one of the shade covers was
removed, another has a large tear, and the third will need to be replaced soon. Fortunately the structures
themselves are in good condition, so the replacement will only require new fabric and cabling to the existing
mounting poles and brackets.
 
STAFF REVIEW
 
Staff sent out the structure specifications to three separate companies, including USA Shade, Miracle
Playgoround Sales, and Van Nuys Awning. Proposals were received from all three companies. Unfortunately
the original specifications did not include the requirement that proposals be quoted with prevailing wages.
When the three proposals were received, the quote for Van Nuys Awning was significantly less than the other
two proposals. Staff contacted Van Nuys Awning to confirm whether or not the proposal included prevailing
wages, as required by the California Labor Code (1771). The sales representative shared that it was not
quoted as prevailing wage, and that their policy was to not bid on prevailing wage projects.
 
The three (3) proposals are listed in the table below:
 

Bidder Name Bid
Amount

Van Nuys Awning* $16,160.49
USA Shade $24,985.13
Miracle Playground
Sales

$26,314.97

 
*This proposal is disqualified as it does not include prevailing wage
 
Staff have informed all three vendors of the intent to approve an agreement with USA Shade given their
proposal is the lowest qualifying proposal (Attachment A). With the approval of the City Council, USA
Shade can being the manufacturing of the three (3) shade covers and related cabling/hardware. Currently
there is a six to eight week lead time once the order is placed.
 



After the order is submitted, staff will be working with the vendor to arrange an installation date for all three
(3) shade covers. The installation should be completed in one working day, and staff will work with the
Public Works Department to close the north end of the park while the crew is onsite for the removal and
installation. The removal and disposal of the two existing shade covers is also included in this proposal. 
 
LEGAL REVIEW
 
The City Attorney has reviewed this staff report and approves it as to form. 
 
FISCAL REVIEW
 
There is currently $20,000 budgeted for this item from ARPA funds in account 285-320-700.153 Hopper
Park Shade Equipment.  Therefore, a budget amendment of $4,985.13 will be needed to account for the
updated cost of the project.  This additional funding will come from  the interest accrued in the ARPA fund.  
 
RECOMMENDATION
 
Staff recommend that the City Council approve an agreement with USA Shade for an amount not-to-exceed
$24,985.13 for the purchase and installation of three (3) shade covers at Charles B. Hopper Park.

 

Attachments

Attachment A_ USA Shade Quote - Hopper Park - Fabric Hardware Replacement.pdf

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67f3fba8fda1b90046485b50%2FAttachment%20A_%20USA%20Shade%20Quote%20-%20Hopper%20Park%20-%20Fabric%20%20Hardware%20Replacement.pdf?alt=media&token=036c07be-c9b9-46b3-8cab-09b0b3214f81
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67f3fba8fda1b90046485b50%2FAttachment%20A_%20USA%20Shade%20Quote%20-%20Hopper%20Park%20-%20Fabric%20%20Hardware%20Replacement.pdf?alt=media&token=036c07be-c9b9-46b3-8cab-09b0b3214f81
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67f3fba8fda1b90046485b50%2FAttachment%20A_%20USA%20Shade%20Quote%20-%20Hopper%20Park%20-%20Fabric%20%20Hardware%20Replacement.pdf?alt=media&token=036c07be-c9b9-46b3-8cab-09b0b3214f81


 

 

 

ATTACHMENT A 



 
 

www.usa-shade.com 800-966-5005 
AZ: 289388 CA: 989458 LA: 61718 NV: 78724 NV:78724 NM: 383826 TN: 68712 DIR: 1000003533 

 

Fabric Replacement Proposal 
3/14/2025 

Pricing Valid for 15 Days 
Project Information: Sales Information: 

Purchaser: City of Lawndale Contact: Minter, Jason Sales 
Rep: Stayton, Tracy 

Project 
Name: 

City of Lawndale - Hopper 
Park - Fabric Recovers Phone: (310) 973-3272 Phone: (949) 446-3346 

Quote No: CA0225TS19961 Email: jminter@lawndalecity.o
rg Email: Tracy.Stayton@USA-

Shade.com 

Billing Address Information: Shipping Address Information: Jobsite Information: 

Name: City of Lawndale Name: Southern California Name: Charles Hopper Park 

Address: 14717 Burin Avenue Address: 1085 N. Main Street, 
Suite C Orange Address: 4418 W. 162nd Street 

City: Lawndale City: Orange City: Lawndale 

State: CA State: CA State: CA 

Zip Code: 90260 Zip Code: 92867 Zip Code: 90260 

Contact: Minter, Jason Contact: Luis Araujo Contact: Minter, Jason 

Email: jminter@lawndalecity.org Email: luis.araujo@usa-
shade.com Email: jminter@lawndalecity.org 

Phone: (310) 973-3272 Phone: (714) 920-5309 Phone: (310) 973-3272 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NOTE: This message is intended only for the use of the individual to whom it is addressed, and contains information 
that is privileged, confidential, and exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If you are not the intended recipient, 
or the employee or agent responsible for delivering this message to the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that 
any unauthorized disclosure, distribution, or copying of this communication is strictly prohibited. If you have received 
this communication in error, please notify us immediately by phone and return the original message to the applicable 
address above. 

CORPORATE ADDRESS: 

2580 Esters Blvd., Suite 100 DFW 
Airport, TX 75261 

MAILING ADDRESS:  

P.O. Box 3467 Coppel, TX 75019 

REMITTANCE ADDRESS:  

P.O. Box 734158 Dallas, TX 75373-
4158 

SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA: 

1085 N. Main Street, Suite C 
Orange, CA 92867 

ARIZONA: 

2415 S. 18th Place 
Phoenix, AZ 85024 

 

LAS VEGAS: 

3111 So. Valley View Blvd. Suite B-117 
Las Vegas, NV  89102 

  

 

      
   

 



 
 

www.usa-shade.com 800-966-5005 
AZ: 289388 CA: 989458 LA: 61718 NV: 78724 NV:78724 NM: 383826 TN: 68712 DIR: 1000003533 

 

PRODUCTS 
DESCRIPTION DETAILS UNIT PRICE TOTAL 

Fabric and Hardware 
Replacement Model Number Dimensions Entry Height 

See Below See Below 

QTY Structure1  Custom Varied Varied 

3 
Tops 

 

Fabric Type Fabric Color Reinforcements 

Colourshade_FR TBD Included 

Structure 2 Corner/Attachment Detail 

  
UNIT TOTAL: See Below 

PRICING TOTALS: PAYMENT TERMS 

Unit Total See Below Payment terms subject to credit evaluation and approval 

Shipping/Handling  
*Subject to market fluctuation Included ENGINEERING REQUIREMENTS 

SUBTOTAL See Below Building Code Wind Loads Snow Loads 

Sales Tax (10.25%) Included CBC 2022 115 5 

Engineering Included ENGINEERING NOTES 

Installation Included 
 

TOTAL PRICE $24,985.13 

SCOPE OF WORK/NOTES 

Fabric and Hardware Replacement Only 
Quote based on clear access for installation 

INCLUSIONS / EXCLUSIONS 
INCLUDED / 
EXCLUDED ENGINEERING REQUIREMENTS INCLUDED / EXCLUDED INSTALLATION - MISCELLANEOUS 

Excluded Sealed Drawings & Calculations Included Prevailing Wage / Certified Payroll 

Excluded Permit Fee Excluded Union Wages 

Excluded Payment and Performance Bonds Excluded Fencing 

  Excluded Water and Electrical 

 



 
 

www.usa-shade.com 800-966-5005 
AZ: 289388 CA: 989458 LA: 61718 NV: 78724 NV:78724 NM: 383826 TN: 68712 DIR: 1000003533 

Construction Assumptions 

1) The designated area for our structures will be accessible by drive-up for unloading of our 
trucks and equipment, including personnel man-lifts, forklifts, etc. Should a crane be required 
and direct access not available, additional costs for such will be submitted by a Change Order. 
 

2) Our pricing is based on the ability to perform all of our work with clear, sequential, and 
continuous access without interruption during normal daytime working hours. We have 
assumed one mobilization for the installation of foundations, steel and fabric; if additional 
mobilizations are required, there will be an additional charge. We will require exclusive access 
to the area for our work during the construction process. 
 

3) Our pricing does not include daily site delays accessing the work areas. USA SHADE will 
submit a Change Order for any delays caused by other trades which interfere or cause us to 
stop working. 
 

4) We will require site sanitary facilities and refuse containers by others within 200 feet of our 
work. 
 

5) USA SHADE will leave its work and materials in a clean condition at the conclusion of our work. 
 

6) Barricades and public security requirements are not included. 
 

7) Unless specifically included in this proposal, this agreement does not include, and Company 
will not provide, services, labor, or materials for any of the following work: (a) removal and 
disposal of any materials containing asbestos or any hazardous materials as defined by the 
EPA; (b) moving Owner’s property around the installation site; (c) repair or replacement of any 
Purchaser or Owner-supplied materials; or (d) repair of damage to existing surfaces that may 
occur when construction equipment and vehicles are being used in the normal course of 
construction. 
 

8) Pricing for foundation design is based on drilled pier footings. In the event the geotechnical 
report requires an alternate configuration, any additional costs incurred will be submitted to 
the client by a Change Order. 
 

9) Digging of our foundations will not be constrained by any existing concrete or utilities. USA 
SHADE will not be responsible for moving or repairing any underground utility lines such as 
electrical, telephone, gas, water, or sprinkler lines that may be encountered during installation. 
 

10) Any additional costs incurred as a result of hard rock conditions requiring extra equipment, 
utility removal or repair, resulting in delay, will result in additional charges unless they are 
detailed on as-built site drawings provided to USA SHADE or marked on the ground and 
communicated to USA SHADE in writing prior to installation. 

 

 



 
 

www.usa-shade.com 800-966-5005 
AZ: 289388 CA: 989458 LA: 61718 NV: 78724 NV:78724 NM: 383826 TN: 68712 DIR: 1000003533 

 

 

GENERAL TERMS & CONDITIONS AND WARRANTY 

 

1) Proposal: The above proposal is valid for 15 days from the date first set forth above. After 15 
days, we reserve the right to increase prices due to the rise in cost of raw materials, fuel, or 
other cost increases. When applicable, USA SHADE & Fabric Structures reserves the right to 
implement a surcharge for significant increases in raw materials, including, but not limited to; 
fuel, steel, and concrete. Due to the duration of time between proposals, contracts, and final 
installation, USA SHADE & Fabric Structures reserves the right to implement this surcharge, 
when applicable. 

 
2) Purchase: By executing this proposal, or submitting a purchase order pursuant to this 

proposal (which shall incorporate the terms of this agreement specifically by reference) which 
is accepted by USA SHADE & Fabric Structures (the “Company”), the purchaser identified 
above (“you” or the “Purchaser”) agrees to purchase Shade Structures brand shade structures 
(“Structures”) and the services to be provided by the Company, as detailed in the “Structure 
Pricing” and “General Scope of Work” sections of this agreement, above, or in the relevant 
purchase order accepted by the Company, for use by Purchaser or for installation by Company 
or Purchaser on behalf of a third-party who will be the ultimate owner of the Structures (the 
ultimate owner of a Structure, whether Purchaser or a third-party, being the “Owner”). 
 

3) Short Ship Claims: Purchaser has 15 days from receipt of the structures to file a short ship 
report in writing to its sales representative. Company will not honor claims made after this 
time. 
 

4) Short Ship Claims: Purchaser has 15 days from receipt of the structures to file a short ship 
report in writing to its sales representative. Company will not honor claims made after this 
time. 
 

5) Bonding Guidelines: If Purchaser will use or provide the Structures and Services for an Owner 
other than Purchaser (including, without limitation, as a subcontractor of Purchaser), 
Purchaser will include the following statement in Purchaser’s contract with Owner:  
 

“The manufacturer’s warranty for the Shade Structures brand shade structures is a 
separate document between USA SHADE & Fabric Structures and the ultimate owner 
of the Shade Structures brand shade structures, which will be provided to the ultimate 
owner at the time of completion of the installation and other services to be provided by 
USA SHADE & Fabric Structures. Due to surety requirements, any performance and/or 
payment bond will cover only the first year of the USA SHADE & Fabric Structures 
warranty.” 
 

6) Insurance Requirements: Company is not required to provide any insurance coverage in 
excess of Company’s standard insurance. A copy of theCompany’s standard insurance is 
available for your review prior to acceptance of the Company’s proposal. 



 
 

www.usa-shade.com 800-966-5005 
AZ: 289388 CA: 989458 LA: 61718 NV: 78724 NV:78724 NM: 383826 TN: 68712 DIR: 1000003533 

 
7) Payment: Terms of payment are defined in the “Pricing Details” section and are specific to 

this contract. For purposes of this agreement, “Completion” is defined as being the point at 
which the Structure is suitable for its intended use, the issue of occupancy consent, or a final 
building department approval is issued, whichever occurs first. Progress billing and payment 
will be required. All payments must be made to Shade Structures, Inc., P.O. Box 734158, 
Dallas, TX 75373-4158. Company may use all remedies available to it under current laws 
including, but not limited to, filing of liens against the property and using a collection agency or 
the courts to secure the collection of the outstanding debt. 
 

8) Lien Releases: Upon request by Owner, Company will issue appropriate partial lien releases 
as corresponding payments are received from Purchaser, but prior to receiving final payment 
from Purchaser or Owner. Company will provide a full release of liens upon receipt of final 
payment. In accordance with state laws, Company reserves the right to place a lien on the 
property if final payment has not been received 10 days prior to the filing deadline for liens. 
 

9) Site Plan Approval, Permit/s, Permit Fees, Plans, Engineering Drawings, and Surveying: 
Site plan approval, permits, permit fees, plans, engineering drawings, and surveying are 
specifically excluded from this agreement and the Services unless specified under the 
“General Scope of Work”. The Company does not in any way warrant or represent that a 
permit or site plan approval for construction will be obtained. Sealed engineered drawings that 
are required but not included in the “General Scope of Work” will result in an additional cost to 
Purchaser. 
 

10) Manufacturing & Delivery: Manufacturing lead-time from Company’s receipt of the “Notice 
To Proceed” is approximately 6 to 8 weeks for standard structures, and 8 to 12 weeks for 
custom structures. Delivery is approximately 1 week thereafter. Delivery of structures may be 
prior to or at start of assembly. Please note that these timelines do not include approval or 
permitting timeframes. 
 

11) Return Policy for USA Shade: At USA Shade, we strive to provide high-quality shade 
structures that are built to order and tailored to meet the unique needs of our customers. Due 
to the nature of our business and the customization involved, we have implemented the 
following return policy: 
 

1. No Cancellations or Changes: Once an order has been released for 
production, we cannot accept any cancellations or changes to the order. It is 
crucial for customers to review their order details carefully before finalizing the 
purchase. 

2. No Returns: Due to the customized nature of our shade structures, we do not 
accept returns. Once the order has been delivered and installed, it is 
considered a final sale. We encourage customers to thoroughly assess their 
requirements and specifications before ordering. 

3. Product Quality Assurance: We take pride in delivering high-quality shade 
structures that meet industry standards. Our products undergo rigorous quality 
control measures to ensure they meet or exceed customer expectations. In the 
unlikely event that there is a manufacturing defect or an issue with the product, 
please get in touch with our customer service department immediately for 
assistance. 



 
 

www.usa-shade.com 800-966-5005 
AZ: 289388 CA: 989458 LA: 61718 NV: 78724 NV:78724 NM: 383826 TN: 68712 DIR: 1000003533 

4. Warranty Coverage: Our shade structures are backed by a warranty against 
manufacturing defects or material faults. If you encounter any issues the 
warranty covers, please take a look at our warranty policy for more instructions 
on how to proceed. 

5. Customer Support: We are committed to providing excellent customer service 
throughout your purchasing journey. If you have any questions or concerns or 
need help with your order, our dedicated customer support team is here to 
help. Don’t hesitate to contact us via phone, email, or our website's contact 
form, and we will gladly assist you. 

 
It is essential for customers to understand and acknowledge these terms and conditions before 
placing an order with USA Shade. Customers agree to abide by this return policy by proceeding 
with a purchase. 

 
 

12) Concealed Conditions: ”Concealed conditions” include, without limitation, water, gas, 
sprinkler, electrical and sewage lines, post tension cables, and steel rebar. This agreement is 
based solely on observations the Company was able to make either by visual inspection or by 
drawings and/or plans submitted by Owner at the time this agreement was bid. If additional 
Concealed Conditions are discovered once work has commenced, which were not visible at 
the time this proposal was bid, Company will stop work and indicate these unforeseen 
Concealed Conditions to Purchaser or Owner so that Purchaser and Company can execute a 
Change Order for any additional work. In any event, any damage caused by or to unforeseen 
Concealed Conditions is the sole responsibility of the Purchaser and Company shall not be 
held liable for any such damage. Soil conditions are assumed to be soil that does not contain 
any water, hard rock (such as limestone, caliche, etc.), rocks larger than 4 inches in diameter, 
or any other condition that will require additional labor, equipment and/or materials not 
specified by the Purchaser or Owner in the bidding process. Any condition requiring additional 
labor, equipment, and/or materials to complete the drilling or concrete operations will require 
a Change Order before Company will complete the process. Price quotes are based on a 
drilled pier footing. Any variation will incur additional charges (i.e. spread footings, concrete 
mat, sand, water, landfill, etc.). Costs for footing and installation do not include any allowance 
for extending below frost lines (the additional costs for which vary by geographical region) 
 

13) Changes in the Work: During the course of this project, Purchaser may order changes in the 
work (both additions and deletions). Additionally, an approving agency may require changes in 
the work from the original design or engineering quoted and provided by the Company (both 
additions and deletions.) The cost of these changes will be determined by the Company, and a 
Change Order form must be completed and signed by both the Purchaser and the Company, 
which will detail the “General Scope of the Change Order”. Should any Change Order be 
essential to the completion of the project, and the Purchaser refuses to authorize such Change 
Order, then Company will be deemed to have performed its part of the project, and the project 
and services will be terminated. Upon such termination, Company will submit a final billing to 
Purchaser for payment, less a labor allowance for work not performed but including additional 
charges incurred due to the stoppage. No credit will be allowed for materials sold and 
supplied, which will remain the property of the Purchaser. 
 

14) Indemnification: To the fullest extent permitted by law, Purchaser shall indemnify, defend, 
and hold harmless the Company and its consultants, agents, and employees or any of them 



 
 

www.usa-shade.com 800-966-5005 
AZ: 289388 CA: 989458 LA: 61718 NV: 78724 NV:78724 NM: 383826 TN: 68712 DIR: 1000003533 

from and against claims, damages, losses and expenses, including, but not limited to, 
attorneys’ fees related to the installation of the Structure or performance of the services, 
provided that such claim, damage, loss, or expense is attributable to bodily injury to, sickness, 
disease, or death of a person, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property, but only to the 
extent caused by the negligent acts or omissions of the Purchaser or its agents, employees, or 
subcontractors, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by them or anyone for whose acts 
they may be liable, regardless of whether or not such claim, damage, loss, or expense is 
caused in part by a party indemnified hereunder. Such obligation shall not be construed to 
negate, abridge, or reduce other rights or obligations of indemnity that would otherwise exist 
as to a party or person described in Section 15. 
 

15) Statement of Limited Warranty: 
 

• The structural integrity of all supplied steel is warranted for ten years. 
• If assembly is provided by the Company, workmanship of the structure is covered for 

one year, including labor for the removal of any failed part, disassembly (if necessary), 
cost of shipping, and reassembly. 

• All steel surface finishes are warranted for one year. 
• Shadesure™, Colourshade® FR, eXtreme 32™, Commercial 95™, SaFRshade™, and 

Monotec 370™ fabrics all carry a ten year limited manufacturer’s warranty against 
failure from significant fading, deterioration, breakdown, outdoor heat, cold, or 
discoloration. Should the fabric need to be replaced under the warranty, the Company 
will manufacture and ship a new replacement fabric at no charge for the first six years, 
thereafter pro-rated at 20% per year over the remaining four years. The following are 
exceptions to the preceding warranty terms: 

o Shadesure™ fabrics in Red, Yellow, Atomic Orange, Electric Purple, 
Zesty Lime, Cinnamon, Olive, and Mulberry carry a five year pro-rated 

o Fabric tops attached to Coolbrella™ structures carry a three year 
warranty; 

o Individual fabric tops measuring greater than 40’ in length are covered 
by a non-prorated five year warranty; 

o Precontraint 502™ waterproof membrane is subject to an eight year pro-
rated warranty. 
 

• Sewing thread is warranted for ten years. 
 

• These limited warranties are effective from the date of sale, or, if assembly is provided 
by the Company, upon receipt by Company from Purchaser of a completed and signed 
“Customer Checklist and Sign-off” form. 

 
• In its sole discretion, the Company will repair and or/replace defective structures, 

products or workmanship, or refund that portion of the price related to the defective 
product, labor, or service rendered. 

 
• The Company reserves the right, in cases where certain fabric colors have been 

discontinued, to offer the Purchaser or Owner a choice of available alternative colors 
to replace the warranted fabric. The Company does not guarantee that any particular 
color will be available for any period of time, and reserves the right to discontinue any 



 
 

www.usa-shade.com 800-966-5005 
AZ: 289388 CA: 989458 LA: 61718 NV: 78724 NV:78724 NM: 383826 TN: 68712 DIR: 1000003533 

color for any reason, without recourse by the Purchaser or Owner of the discontinued 
fabric color. 

 
• Should the Purchaser or Owner sell the structures to another party, the warranty 

cannot be transferred to the new owner without a complete and thorough on-site 
inspection performed by a Company representative. Please contact the Company at 
warranty@usa-shade.com for more details. 

 
• All warranty claims covering Company supplied structures, products, and services 

must be submitted by Purchaser or Owner in writing to the Company within thirty days 
from the date of discovery of the alleged defect and must include a detailed 
description and applicable photographs of the alleged defect or problem. Warranty 
claims should be submitted by email to warranty@usa-shade.com. 

 
• Purchaser or Owner agrees that venue for any court action to enforce these limited 

warranties shall be in the City or County of Dallas in the State of Texas, USA. 
 

• These limited warranties are void if: 
 

o the supplied structures, products, services and/or labor are not paid for 
in full; 

o the structures are not assembled in strict compliance with USA SHADE 
specifications; 

o any changes, modifications, additions, or attachments are made to the 
structures in any way, without prior written approval from the Company. 
Specifically, no signs, objects, fans, light fixtures, etc. may be hung from 
the structures, unless specifically engineered by the Company. 
 

• These limited warranties do not cover defects and/or damages caused by: 
o normal wear and tear; 
o misuse, willful or intentional damage, vandalism, contact with 

chemicals, cuts and Acts of God (i.e. tornado, hurricane, micro/macros 
burst, earthquake, wildfires, etc.); 

o ice, snow or wind loads in excess of the designed load parameters 
engineered for the supplied structures; 

o use, maintenance, neglect, repair, and/or service inconsistent with the 
Company’s written care and maintenance instructions, provided with 
the order. 

 
• The limited warranties explicitly exclude: 

o workmanship related to assembly not provided by the Company or its 
agents; 

o fabric curtains, valances, and flat vertical panels; 
o fabric tops installed on structures that were not engineered and 

originally supplied by the Company. 
 

• THE COMPANY SHALL NOT BE LIABLE FOR ANY INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, 
SPECIAL, LIQUIDATED, EXEMPLARY, OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES, OR ANY LOSS OF 
REVENUE, PROFIT, USE OR GOODWILL, WHETHER BASED UPON CONTRACT, TORT 

mailto:warranty@usa-shade.com


 
 

www.usa-shade.com 800-966-5005 
AZ: 289388 CA: 989458 LA: 61718 NV: 78724 NV:78724 NM: 383826 TN: 68712 DIR: 1000003533 

(INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE), OR ANY OTHER LEGAL THEORY, ARISING OUT OF A 
BREACH OF THIS WARRANTY OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE, INSTALLATION, 
MAINTENANCE, USE, OPERATION OR REPAIR OF ANY PRODUCT OR SERVICE. IN NO 
EVENT WILL THE COMPANY BE LIABLE FOR ANY AMOUNT GREATER THAN THE 
PURCHASE PRICE FOR ANY PRODUCT OR SERVICE PROVIDED BY THE COMPANY. 
 

• THE FOREGOING LIMITED WARRANTY IS THE SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE WARRANTY FOR 
THE COMPANY’S PRODUCTS AND SERVICES, AND IS IN LIEU OF ALL OTHER 
WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, IN LAW OR IN FACT. SELLER SPECIFICALLY 
DISCLAIMS ALL OTHER WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, WITHOUT 
LIMITATION, ALL IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A 
PARTICULAR USE OR PURPOSE, AND ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES ARISING OUT OF 
COURSE OF DEALING OR PERFORMANCE OR TRADE USAGE. PURCHASER, BY 
ACCEPTANCE AND USE OF THIS LIMITED WARRANTY, WAIVES ANY RIGHTS IT WOULD 
OTHERWISE HAVE TO CLAIM OR ASSERT THAT THIS LIMITED WARRANTY FAILS OF ITS 
ESSENTIAL PURPOSE. 

 

Colourshade ® and eXtreme 32™ are registered trademarks of Multiknit Pty. Ltd. 
Commercial 95™ and SaFRshade™ are registered trademarks of Gale Pacific USA Inc 
Monotec 370™ is a registered trademark of PRO-KNIT Industries Pty. Ltd.  
Precontraint 502™ is a registered trademark of Serge Ferrari North America, Inc. 
 
 

16) Assembly/Installation: 
 

• Company will notify Purchaser of the scheduled assembly date. Owner agrees to have an 
owner representative meet the assembly crew at the job site on the scheduled assembly 
date to verify the exact location where the structure(s) is to be placed. 

• Labor for the removal, assembly, and/or freight charges will only be covered by Company in 
instances where the structures supplied and installed by Company are determined by the 
Company to be defective. In all cases where structures are not installed by Company, all 
labor for the removal, assembly, and/or freight of the structures will be the Purchaser’s 
responsibility. 

• Installation prices are based on a single mobilization charge. If additional mobilizations are 
required, there will be additional charges. 

• If the requested services require Company access to Owner’s premises, Company will be 
provided access to the Owner’s premises free and clear of debris, automobiles, or other 
interference Monday ~ Friday during the hours of 8:00am to 6:00pm, and Company will 
have access to water and electrical facilities during installation. Additional charges will 
apply if utilities are not easily accessible. Where applicable, all vehicles will be moved prior 
to Company’s crew beginning any installation. 

• Company will not be responsible for moving or repairing any underground utility lines such 
as electrical, telephone, gas, water, or sprinkler lines that may be encountered during 
installation. 

• Any additional costs incurred as a result of hard rock conditions requiring extra equipment, 
utility removal or repair resulting in delay will result in additional charges unless they are 
detailed on as-built site drawings provided to Company or marked on the ground and 
communicated to Company in writing prior to fabrication and installation. 
 



 
 

www.usa-shade.com 800-966-5005 
AZ: 289388 CA: 989458 LA: 61718 NV: 78724 NV:78724 NM: 383826 TN: 68712 DIR: 1000003533 

17) Installation/Assembly on-site: Where installation/assembly is part of the services, Purchaser 
must provide the Company with a detailed drawing prepared by or for the Owner showing 
exactly where the structures are to be assembled as well as detailing any obstacles or other 
impediments that may cause the assembly process to be more difficult. Any fixture(s), e.g., 
playground, pools, etc., that the structures are to be assembled over must also be detailed, 
along with their peak heights (if applicable). 
 

18) Site/Use Review by Purchaser: Company relies on the Purchaser to determine that the 
structures ordered are appropriate and safe for the Owner’s installation site and/or intended 
use. Company is not responsible for damages or injuries resulting from collisions by moving 
objects or persons with the structure post(s). Company can recommend, or supply at 
additional cost, padding for posts from a third party manufacturer. 
 

19) Preparatory Work: Where installation/assembly is part of the services and in the event that the 
foundation or job site is not suitable or ready for assembly to begin on the scheduled day, a 
Delay of Order notification must be sent to Company at least 4 working days prior, in order to 
allow Company to reschedule the project. In the event that Company is not notified and incurs 
an expense in attempting to execute the assembly, a re-mobilization charge may be charged to 
Purchaser before Company will reschedule the assembly. 
 

20) Delegation: Subcontractors: The services and the manufacturing and assembly of the 
structures may be performed by subcontractors under appropriate agreements with the 
Company. 
 

21) Force Majeure: Impracticability: The Company shall not be charged with any loss or damage 
for failure or delay in delivering or assembling of the structures when such failure or delay is 
due to any cause beyond the control of the Company, due to compliance with governmental 
regulations or orders, or due to any Acts of God, strikes, lockouts, slowdowns, wars, or 
shortages in transportation, materials or labor. 
 

22) Dispute Resolution: Any controversy or claim arising out of or related to this agreement must 
be settled by binding arbitration administered in Dallas, TX by a single arbitrator selected by 
the parties or by the American Arbitration Association, and conducted in accordance with the 
construction industry arbitration rules. Judgment upon the award may be entered in any court 
having jurisdiction thereof. 
 

23) Entire Agreement; No Reliance: This agreement represents and contains the entire 
agreement between the parties. Prior discussion or verbal representations by the parties that 
are not contained in this agreement are not part of this agreement. Purchaser hereby 
acknowledges that it has not received or relied upon any statements or representations by 
Company or its agents which are not expressly stipulated herein, including without limitation 
any statements as to the structures, warranties, or services provided hereunder. 
 

24) No Third-Party Beneficiaries: This agreement creates no third-party rights or obligations 
between Company and any other person, including any Owner who is not also a Purchaser. It is 
understood and agreed that the parties do not intend that any third party should be a 
beneficiary of this agreement. 
 



 
 

www.usa-shade.com 800-966-5005 
AZ: 289388 CA: 989458 LA: 61718 NV: 78724 NV:78724 NM: 383826 TN: 68712 DIR: 1000003533 

25) Governing Law: The agreement will be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of 
the State of Texas. 
 

26) Assignment: Purchaser may not assign this agreement, by operation of law or otherwise, 
without the prior written consent of Company. The agreement shall be binding upon and insure 
to the benefit of the Company and the Purchaser, and their successors and permitted assigns. 
 

27) Electronic Signatures. Each party agrees that the electronic signatures of the parties to this 
Agreement, whether digital or encrypted, including but not limited to the use of a typed name, 
are intended to authenticate this writing and to have the same force and effect as manual 
signatures. Electronic signature means any electronic sound, symbol, or process attached to 
or logically associated with a record and executed and adopted by a party with the intent to 
sign such record, including but not limited to typed or email electronic signatures.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PURCHASER: 

NOTE: All purchase orders and contracts should be drafted in the name of 

Shade Structures, Inc. 

Signature: 

By: 

Title: 

Date: 



CITY OF LAWNDALE
14717 BURIN AVENUE, LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA 90260

PHONE (310) 973-3200 ♦ www.lawndalecity.org

 

DATE:    April 21, 2025

TO:   Honorable Mayor and City Council

FROM: Dr. Sean M. Moore, City Manager

PREPARED BY: Peter Kann, Community Development Director

SUBJECT: Reduction in Site Plan Review Deposits
 

BACKGROUND

The City's Community Development Department ("Department") is responsible for orderly development
activity to ensure all types of project complies with the various local, county, and state regulations. One of
the Department's most common applications is the Site Plan Review (SPR), which aims to ensure a proposed
development complies with the applicable zoning regulations. The SPR application essentially serves as a
detailed blueprint for a project, outlining its location, design, and relationship to surrounding areas, and is
crucial for obtaining the necessary building permits. 

A highlight of the Department's total SPR application since 2021 is provided below:

2021 - 139 applications
2022 - 142 applications
2023 - 116 applications
2024 - 112 applications
2025 - 39 applications as of April 17, 2025

In 2021, the SPR application's fee/deposit was set at $2,500 and Department staff would charge their hourly
rate towards this deposit. Any remaining deposit funds from the initial $2,500 will be refunded back to the
resident/applicant. One of the most common project is the development/construction of an Accessory
Dwelling Unit (ADU) or corrections for their code enforcement cases. In staff's analysis, the average charge
to an ADU or residential project without a code enforcement case was approximately $1,600 resulting in a
refund of $900 back to the applicant. 

In the event the Department's charges towards the deposit exceeds $2,500, staff would request additional
funds needed to finalize the project. One of the common reasons a project could exceed the $2,500 deposit is
due to complex code enforcement cases, incomplete submittals, lack of details on the submitted site plans,
and number of re-submitted plan checks.    

STAFF REVIEW

The Mayor requested that staff look into the possibility of lowering the initial deposit from $2500 to $1,600
(not changing the hourly rate just lowering the deposit only).  This request to lower the initial deposit amount
does not have any fiscal impact because the Department's average total charges does not exceed $1,600
unless unusual circumstances apply as mentioned above. The fee was originally set at $2,500 and was set up
to ensure all Site Plan Reviews activity by staff was covered by the deposit. The lowering of the Site Plan
Review deposit down from $2,500  to  $1,600 may encourage residents and contractors to follow the City's
process and procedures since there are lower upfront cost for the SPR applications.  

LEGAL REVIEW



None. 

FISCAL IMPACT

None.  The Site Plan Review fees/deposit covers staff time to review the project. 

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the City Council:

1. Direct staff to lower the Site Plan Review fee/deposit to $1,600; or 
2. Provide further direction to staff.  

 

Attachments

Attachment 1 - Site Plan Review Deposit.pdf

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67eee4bc6d2a54006c1d1246%2FAttachment%201%20-%20Site%20Plan%20Review%20Deposit.pdf?alt=media&token=6e0145d7-e893-4d06-a646-19de3400586c
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67eee4bc6d2a54006c1d1246%2FAttachment%201%20-%20Site%20Plan%20Review%20Deposit.pdf?alt=media&token=6e0145d7-e893-4d06-a646-19de3400586c
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/lawndaleca%2Factions%2F67eee4bc6d2a54006c1d1246%2FAttachment%201%20-%20Site%20Plan%20Review%20Deposit.pdf?alt=media&token=6e0145d7-e893-4d06-a646-19de3400586c




  
 
 

Site Plan Review Application (07.2021) (04.2025) 
Page 1 of 2 

SPR No: _____________ 

   PL No: _____________ 

       Date: _____________ 

City of Lawndale 
Community Development Department 

14717 Burin Avenue, Lawndale, CA 90260 
(310) 973-3230 (Phone) 

(310) 970-2150 (Fax) 
www.lawndalecity.org 

Site Plan Review Application (Fee: $2,500 $1,600) 
 

Project Address: 

 
Zone: APN No: Legal Description: 

   
Applicant’s Name: Phone: Email: 

   
Applicant’s Address: 
 
Role of Applicant: ☐ Property Owner ☐ Tenant ☐ Contractor ☐ Other: 
Applicant’s Signature: 

x < space> 
 

 

Property Owner’s Name: Phone: Email: 

   
Property Owner’s Address: 

 
Property Owner’s Signature / Owner Authorization: 

I hereby authorize the above-listed individual to act on my behalf in all matters relevant to this application. 

x < space> 
 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 PROJECT PROCESSING: The following documents are required for project processing: 

• Completed application • Photographs of site • Environmental Questionnaire 

• Site/Grading/Drainage plan • Floor plans of all structures • 3-sets of scaled plans (24”x36”) 

• Elevation Plans • Preliminary landscape plan • 1-set of scaled plans (11”x17”) 

• Cross-section plans(s) • Photographs of surrounding area   

 

file:///C:/Users/agutierrez/OneDrive%20-%20lawndalecity.org/Work%20Files/Community%20Development/Templates,%20Forms,%20and%20Notes/Updated%20Forms%20Templates/New%202020%20Planning%20Forms/New%20Forms%20PDF/www.lawndalecity.org


Site Plan Review Application (07.2021) (04.2025) 
Page 2 of 2 

I. PLAN PREPARATION GUIDELINES 

• All plans shall be drawn on uniform size sheets not smaller than 24”x36” 

• All plans shall be clear, legible, and accurately scaled 

• All plans shall be clearly labeled with sheet title, project name, and project address 
II. SITE PLAN: At minimum, the Site Plan shall include the following information: 

• The name and mailing address of the owner of the lot and the name, mailing address, and telephone number of the architect and/or 
applicant 

• Site plan shall be drawn to an engineering scale no smaller than 1”= 40’ 

• North arrow 

• A vicinity map 
• Location and dimensions of all easements located on the subject property 
• Location of the nearest cross street(s) 
• Site Plan summary to include the following information: 
 1. Zone: 5. Assessor Parcel Number (APN) 

 2. Gross & net lot area: 6. Open space square footage 

 3. Gross floor area per building (existing & proposed) 7. Lot coverage, square footage, and percent of site area 

 4. Number of parking spaces (required & proposed)  

• Centerline & dimensions of the street(s) right-of-way or access easement(s) 
• Show all exterior lighting 
• Legal description and address of the site 
• Existing and/or proposed use of all building 
• Building setbacks and required yard areas (Front, Rear, and Sides) 
• Distance between building structures 
• Roof plan 
• Location of outdoor storage and trash areas 

• Location of pool and equipment (if applicable) 

• Maximum building height 

• Open space required 

• Location of all structures within 10 feet of the parcel 

• Location, height, and materials of existing and/or proposed walls and fences 

• Underground utilities 

• Parkway dimensions (if applicable) 

• Property line dimensions and bearings (if applicable) 

• Dimensioned location of all existing and proposed building and structures 

• Number of parking spaces required and provided 

• Location of A/C condenser (not in side yard) 

• Location of private recreational area 

• Location of copper main line water service 

III. FLOOR PLANS: minimum information requirements 
• All floor plans shall be fully dimensioned and drawn to an architectural scale not less than 1/8” = 1’10” 

• Show the location of all walls and partitions (existing and proposed) 

• Show the location of all permanent fixtures & stationary equipment 

IV. ELEVATION PLANS: minimum information requirements 
• All building elevations shall be drawn to an architectural scale no smaller than 1/8” = 1’10” 

• Finished grade, building height, and all special architectural features 

• Provide an exterior finish legend indicating exterior color, textures, and architectural style 

V. CROSS-SECTION PLANS: minimum information requirements 
• Cross-section views as indicated on site/floor plans. Cross-section views must be taken through all proposed construction, extending 

at least 10 feet beyond the limits of construction or property line as required. Care should be taken to assure that all cross-sections and 
their notations conform accurately to the site or floor plan 

• The elevation of the finished grade, the finished floor and the roof ridge beams shall be indicated on the section plan 

• All walls, fences, curbs, etc., cut by the cross-sections(s) 

• Any adjacent streets and the curb line (or edge of pavement) if cut by the cross-section. On all cross-sections viewed from a street, 
include the curb or edge of pavement relative to the structure 

VI. PRELIMINARY LANDSCAPE PLANS: minimum information requirements 
• Amount of landscaping required (common areas and private areas) 

• A planting plan shall be provided indicating the location of all existing and proposed landscaped and hardscaped areas, and the 
location of plant materials accurately to the site or floor plan 

• Provide a plant pallet of all trees, shrubs, and ground cover proposed to be used 

• Note that water conservation techniques shall be utilized 

   

NOTE: 
Return the required redlined plans with the revised set of plans addressing the requested changes or comments in order 
to facilitate and expedite the site plan review. 

 



CITY OF LAWNDALE
14717 BURIN AVENUE, LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA 90260

PHONE (310) 973-3200 ♦ www.lawndalecity.org

 

DATE:    April 21, 2025

TO:   Honorable Mayor and City Council

FROM: Dr. Sean M. Moore, City Manager

PREPARED BY: Vanesa Alvarez, Administrative Assistant

SUBJECT: Report of Attendance at Meetings
 

No supporting documentation was forwarded to the City Clerk Department for this item.

 



CITY OF LAWNDALE
14717 BURIN AVENUE, LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA 90260

PHONE (310) 973-3200 ♦ www.lawndalecity.org

 

DATE:    April 21, 2025

TO:   Honorable Mayor and City Council

FROM: Dr. Sean M. Moore, City Manager

PREPARED BY: Yvette Palomo, Assistant City Clerk

SUBJECT: Conference with Labor Negotiator
 

The City Council will conduct a closed session, pursuant to Government Code section 54957.6, with the City
Manager, the City Attorney, and the City's negotiators, regarding labor negotiations with Local 1895,
Council 36, American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO, representing the
City's mid-management and classified employees.

 

 



CITY OF LAWNDALE
14717 BURIN AVENUE, LAWNDALE, CALIFORNIA 90260

PHONE (310) 973-3200 ♦ www.lawndalecity.org

 

DATE:    April 21, 2025

TO:   Honorable Mayor and City Council

FROM: Dr. Sean M. Moore, City Manager

PREPARED BY: Yvette Palomo, Assistant City Clerk

SUBJECT: Conference with Legal Counsel – Existing Litigation
 

The City Council will conduct a closed session, pursuant to Government Code section 54956.9(d)(1), to
discuss existing litigation: Name of Case: City of Lawndale v. LA Investment, LLC (LA Superior Court Case
No. 20TRCV00065).

 

 

 


	CityCouncilRegularMeeting-2025-04-22
	Item 2. 
	SBCCOG Housing Focused Case Management
	Slides Housing Focused Case Management
	Item 3. 
	Item 4. 
	A. CC-2504-019 - AP Resolution - April 21, 2025
	Item 5. 
	04-07-25 Regular Meeting Minutes
	Item 6. 
	Attachment Claim for Damage and Rejection Notice City of Redondo Beach_Redacted
	Item 7. 
	Resolution No CC-2505-023 with Exhibit A - Records Retention Schedule yp
	Item 8. 
	Item 9. 
	LACDPW Presentation - Sewer Rate Increase Lawndale cc
	Item 10. 
	A. 147th St. Roadway Analysis between Hawthorne Blvd. and Prairie Ave
	Item 11. 
	Metro Landscape License
	Letter to Metro Cancelling ROW Agreement LAW10129
	Item 12. 
	Quarterly Investments Q3 24-25 Attachment
	Item 13. 
	Attachment A_ USA Shade Quote - Hopper Park - Fabric  Hardware Replacement
	Item 14. 
	Attachment 1 - Site Plan Review Deposit
	Item 15. 
	Item 16. 
	Item 17. 

